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NoƟce is hereby given that the  Twenty Third (23rd) 
Annual General MeeƟng(AGM) of the Members 
of KAUSHALYA INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED will be held on Tuesday, 
the 29th day of September 2015 at 11:00 A.M. at 
Agora,  5th Floor Axis Mall, Unit-A( Block-B) Plot No. 
CF9, Major Arterial Rd, AcƟon Area 1C, Newtown, 
Kolkata-700156 to transact the following businesses:
ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. To receive, consider and adopt the financial 

statements (including Consolidated Financial 
Statements) of the Company for the year ended 
31st March, 2015, including the audited Balance 
Sheet as at 31st March, 2015, the Statement 
of Profit and Loss and cash flow statement for 
the year ended on that date together with the 
report of Board of Directors and Auditor’s Report 
thereon.

2. To consider and if thought fit to pass, with or 
without modificaƟon(s), the following resoluƟon 
as an Ordinary ResoluƟon:

 "RESOLVED THAT Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra (DIN-
00086598), a Director liable to reƟre by rotaƟon 
does not seek re-appointment and is therefore 
not re-appointment as Director of the Company.

 "RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the vacancy on the 
Board of Directors of the Company so created be 
not to filled up’’.

3. To raƟfy the appointment of Aditor and to 
authorise the Board of Directors to fix their 
remuneraƟon and in conneciton there with 
to consider and if thought fit, to pass with or 
without modificaƟon(s), the following resoluƟon 
as an Ordinary ResoluƟon :

 "RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provision of 
SecƟon 139, 149 & other applicable provision, if 
any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules 
framed thereunder, as amended from Ɵme to 
Ɵme and resoluƟon passed by the Members 
at the Annual General MeeƟng (AGM) held on 
30.09.2014, the appointment of M/s. Sumanta 
& Co., Chartered Accountants, Kolkata (Firm 
RegistraƟon No. 322554E) as Auditor of the 
Company to hold office unƟll the conclusion 
of the 25th AGM of the Company be and is 
hereby recƟfied on such remuneraƟon as may 
be determined by the Board of Directors' of the 
Company".

SPECIAL BUSINESS
4. Appointment of Mrs. MinoƟ Nath as an 

Independent Director for a term of five years.
 To consider and if thought fit to pass, with or 

without modificaƟon(s), the following resoluƟon 
as an Ordinary ResoluƟon:

 “RESOLVED THAT Mrs MinoƟ Nath, (holding DIN: 
07017530), who was appointed as an AddiƟonal 
Director of the Company by the Board of Directors 
with effect from 13th November, 2014 under 
SecƟon 161(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, read 
with ArƟcle 116 of the ArƟcles of AssociaƟon of 
the Company and who holds office up to the date 
of ensuing Annual General MeeƟng and in respect 
of whom the Company has received a noƟce in 
wriƟng from a member under SecƟon 160 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 proposing his candidature 

for the office of Independent Director, be and is 
hereby appointed as an Independent Director 
of the Company pursuant to the provisions of 
SecƟon 149, 150, 152 and any other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
rules made thereunder (including any statutory 
modificaƟon(s) or re-enactment thereof for the 
Ɵme being in force) read with Schedule IV of 
the Companies Act, 2013,to hold office for five 
consecuƟve years upto 13th November, 2019.”

5. To consider and accord new ArƟcle of AssociaƟon.
 To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or 

without modificaƟon(s), the following resoluƟon 
as a Special ResoluƟon:

 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
SecƟon 14 and all other applicable provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies 
(IncorporaƟon) Rules, 2014 (including any 
statutory modificaƟon(s) or re-enactment 
thereof, for the Ɵme being in force), consent 
of the Company be and is hereby accorded to 
subsƟtute the exisƟng ArƟcles of AssociaƟon 
of the Company by a new set of ArƟcles of 
AssociaƟon". 

 "RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any one of the 
Directors of the Company and/or Mr. Tarkeshwar 
Singh, Company Secretary be and are hereby 
jointly and severally authorized to do all such 
acts, deeds and things as may be necessary to 
give effect to this resoluƟon”.

6. To mortgage undertaking of Company under 
secƟon 180(1)(a) of Companies Act, 2013.

 To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or 
without modificaƟon(s), the following resoluƟon 
as a Special ResoluƟon:

 "RESOLVED THAT consent of the Company be 
and is hereby accorded under SecƟon 180(1)
(a) and other applicable provisions if any, of the 
Companies Act, 2013 to the Board of Directors 
of the Company to mortgage, hypothecate or in 
any other way of charge in favour of the lenders 
all or any of the movable and/or immovable 
properƟes of the Company, both present and/or 
future of the whole or substanƟally the whole of 
the undertaking or undertakings of the Company 
for availment of any loan or guarantee or issue 
of Debenture and to secure the payment of 
interest thereon or any fees charges or expenses 
relaƟng thereto and in the case of borrowing 
against debenture holders the said security in 
the favour of lender and/or trustee for such 
debenture holder where required on such terms 
and condiƟons as may be approved by the Board 
of Directors".

 "RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is 
hereby authorized to do all acts, deeds and things 
in connecƟon therewith and incidental thereto as 
the Board of Directors in its absolute discreƟon 
may deem fit, to give effect to this resoluƟon”.

By Order of the Board
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Ltd

Place : Kolkata Tarkeshwar Singh
Dated : August 13, 2015 Company Secretary
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Notes
1. A member enƟtled to aƩend and vote at the 

meeƟng is enƟtled to appoint a Proxy to aƩend 
and vote instead of himself and the proxy 
need not be a member of the Company. The 
proxy form, in order to be effecƟve, must be 
duly completed, stamped and lodged with the 
Registered Office of the Company not less than 
48 hours before the commencement of the 
meeƟng. 

 A person can act, as a proxy on behalf of members 
not exceeding fiŌy and holding in the aggregate 
not more than ten percent of the total share 
capital of the Company carrying voƟng rights. 
A member holding more than ten percent of 
the total share capital of the Company carrying 
voƟng rights may appoint a single person as 
proxy and such person shall not act as a proxy 
for any other person or member.

2. The Register of Members and Share Transfer 
Books of the Company will remain closed from 
25th September, 2015 to 29th September, 2015 
(both days inclusive).

3. An Explanatory Statement pursuant to SecƟon 
102 of the Companies Act, 2013 in relaƟon to the 
Special Business is annexed hereto and forms part 
of this NoƟce.

4. Members who hold shares in dematerialised form 
are requested to bring their Demat Statement 
menƟoning therein the Client ID and DP ID 
numbers along with a Photo IdenƟty Card for easy 
idenƟficaƟon of aƩendance at the meeƟng.

5. Corporate members are requested to send a duly 
cerƟfied copy of the Board ResoluƟon under 
secƟon 113 of Companies Act, 2013, authorizing 
their representaƟve to aƩend and vote at the 
AGM.

6. Shareholders holding shares in physical form 
are requested to advise the company and the 
members holding shares in dematerialized 
form are requested to advise their Depository 
ParƟcipants immediately about any change in 
their address.

7. Members holding shares in single name and 
physical form are advised to make nominaƟon in 
respect of their shareholding in the Company. The 
nominaƟon form can be downloaded from the 
Company’s website: www.kaushalya.net under 
the secƟon ‘Investor RelaƟonship’.

8. Electronic copy of the NoƟce of the 23rd Annual 
General MeeƟng along with the Annual Report 
2014-15 of the Company inter alia indicaƟng 
the process and manner of e-voƟng along with 
AƩendance Slip and Proxy Form is being sent to 
all the members whose email IDs are registered 
with the Depository ParƟcipants(s)/Company for 
communicaƟon purposes unless any member 
has requested for a hard copy of the same. For 

members who have not registered their email 
address, physical copies of the NoƟce of the 23rd 
Annual General MeeƟng of the Company inter 
alia indicaƟng the process and manner of e-voƟng 
along with AƩendance Slip and Proxy Form is 
being sent in the permiƩed mode.

9. Members may also note that the NoƟce of 23rd 
Annual General MeeƟng and the Annual Report 
2014-15 will also be available on company’s 
website: www.kaushalya.net for download.

10. The members who have not yet registered their 
e-mail address are requested to do so to support 
the green iniƟaƟve in the Corporate Governance.

11. All documents referred to in the accompanying 
NoƟce and the Explanatory Statement shall be 
open for inspecƟon at the Registered Office of 
the Company during normal business hours on all 
working days except Saturdays.

12. Members holding shares in physical mode 
are requested to provide their Email Id, CIN/
Regn. No. (for corporate members), Unique 
IdenƟficaƟon No., PAN, in case member is minor 
than date of birth of minor and name of guardian, 
declaraƟon regarding beneficial ownership (if 
any), nominaƟon details, lien details (if any), 
parƟculars of dividend mandate etc. and such 
other informaƟon as menƟoned under secƟon 88 
(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 3(1) of 
the Companies (Management and AdministraƟon) 
Rules, 2014 for receiving all communicaƟons/
documents electronically.

 Members holding in demat mode are requested to 
provide the above informaƟon to their depository 
parƟcipant.

13. The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) 
has mandated the submission of Permanent 
Account Number (PAN) by every parƟcipant in 
securiƟes market. Members holding shares in 
electronic form are, therefore, requested to 
submit their PAN to their Depository ParƟcipants 
with whom they are maintaining their demat 
accounts. Members holding shares in physical 
form can submit their PAN details to the 
Company/RTA for registraƟon of transmission/ 
transposiƟon, deleƟon of name etc.

14. The Directors seeking appointment have 
furnished the requisite declaraƟons.

15. Members who have not registered their e-mail 
addresses so far are requested to register their 
e-mail address for receiving all communicaƟon 
including Annual Report, NoƟces, Circulars, etc. 
from the Company electronically.

16. In terms of SecƟon 108 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the Companies 
(Management and AdministraƟon) Rules, 2014 
as amended and Clause 35B of the LisƟng 
Agreement, the Company is pleased to provide 
the facility of remote e-voƟng to all members, 
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for which purpose the Company has engaged the 
services of NaƟonal SecuriƟes Depository Limited 
(NSDL).

17. VoƟng rights will be reckoned on the paid-up value 
of shares registered in the name of the Members 
as on 22nd September, 2015 (cut-off date). Only 
those members whose names are recorded in the 
Register of Members of the Company or in the 
Register of Beneficial Owners maintained by the 
Depositories as on the cut-off date will be enƟtled 
to cast their votes by remote e-voƟng or ballot 
voƟng at the AGM.

18. The facility for voƟng through ballot paper will 
also be made available at the AGM and the 
members aƩending the AGM who have not cast 
their vote through remote e-voƟng shall be able 
to exercise their right at the AGM through ballot 
paper. The members who have already cast their 
vote through remote e-voƟng can aƩend AGM 
but shall not be enƟtled to cast their votes again.

19. E-voƟng Process:  
 I. In compliance with provisions of SecƟon 

108 of the Companies Act, 2013, Rule 
20 of the Companies (Management and 
AdministraƟon) Rules, 2014 as amended 
by the Companies (Management and 
AdministraƟon) Amendment Rules, 2015 
and Clause 35B of the LisƟng Agreement, 
the Company is pleased to provide members 
facility to exercise their right to vote on 
resoluƟons proposed to be considered at the 
Annual General MeeƟng (AGM) by electronic 
means and the business may be transacted 
through e-VoƟng Services. The facility of 
casƟng the votes by the members using an 
electronic voƟng system from a place other 
than venue of the AGM (“remote e-voƟng”) 
will be provided by NaƟonal SecuriƟes 
Depository Limited (NSDL).

 II. The facility for voƟng through ballot paper/
Polling paper shall be made available at 
the AGM and the members aƩending the 
meeƟng who have not cast their vote by 
remote e-voƟng shall be able to exercise 
their right at the meeƟng through ballot 
paper.

 III. The members who have cast their vote by 
remote e-voƟng prior to the AGM may also 
aƩend the AGM but shall not be enƟtled to 
cast their vote again.

 IV. The remote e-voƟng period commences on 
26th September, 2015 (9:00 am) and ends 
on 28th September, 2015 (5:00 pm). During 
this period members’ of the Company, 
holding shares either in physical form or in 
dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date of 
22nd September, 2015, may cast their vote 
by remote e-voƟng. The remote e-voƟng 
module shall be disabled by NSDL for voƟng 

thereaŌer. Once the vote on a resoluƟon is 
cast by the member, the member shall not be 
allowed to change it subsequently.

 V. The process and manner for remote e-voƟng 
are as under:

  A. In case a Member receives an email 
from NSDL [for members whose email 
IDs are registered with the Company/
Depository ParƟcipants(s)] :

   (i) Open email and open PDF file 
viz; “Kaushalya Infrastructure 
Development remote e-voƟng.
pdf” with your Client ID or Folio 
No. as password. The said PDF 
file contains your user ID and 
password/PIN for remote e-voƟng. 
Please note that the password is an 
iniƟal password.  

   (ii) Launch internet browser by typing 
the following URL: hƩps://www.
evoƟng.nsdl.com/  

   (iii) Click on Shareholder - Login
   (iv) Put user ID and password as iniƟal 

password/PIN noted in step (i) 
above. Click Login.

   (v) Password change menu appears. 
Change the Password/PIN with 
new password of your choice 
with minimum 8 digits/characters 
or combinaƟon thereof. Note 
new password. It is strongly 
recommended not to share your 
password with any other person 
and take utmost care to keep your 
password confidenƟal.

   (vi) Home page of remote e-voƟng 
opens. Click on remote e-voƟng: 
AcƟve VoƟng Cycles.

   (vii) Select “EVEN” of “Kaushalya 
Infrastructure Development 
CorporaƟon Limited”.

   (viii) Now you are ready for remote 
e-voƟng as Cast Vote page opens.

   (ix) Cast your vote by selecƟng 
appropriate opƟon and click on 
“Submit” and also “Confirm” when 
prompted.

   (x) Upon confirmaƟon, the message 
“Vote cast successfully” will be 
displayed.

   (xi) Once you have voted on the 
resoluƟon, you will not be allowed 
to modify your vote.

   (xii) InsƟtuƟonal shareholders (i.e. 
other than individuals, HUF, 
NRI etc.) are required to send 
scanned copy (PDF/JPG Format) 
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of the relevant Board ResoluƟon/ 
Authority leƩer etc. together with 
aƩested specimen signature of 
the duly authorized signatory(ies) 
who are authorized to vote, to 
the ScruƟnizer through e-mail to 
abhi30390@gmail.com with a copy 
marked to evoƟng@nsdl.co.in and 
info@kaushalya.net.

  B. In case a Member receives physical copy 
of the NoƟce of AGM [for members 
whose email IDs are not registered with 
the Company/Depository ParƟcipants(s) 
or requesƟng physical copy] :

   (i) IniƟal password is provided as 
below/at the boƩom of the 
AƩendance slip for the AGM

    EVEN (Remote e-voƟng Event 
Number_____________________ 
User ID______________________
Password____________________

   (ii) Please follow all steps from Sl. No. 
(ii) to Sl. No. (xii) menƟoned in A 
above, to cast vote.               

Other InstrucƟon
 VI. In case of any queries, you may refer the 

Frequently Asked QuesƟons (FAQs) for 
Members and remote e-voƟng user manual 
for Members available at the downloads 
secƟon of www.evoƟng.nsdl.com or call on 
toll free no.: 1800-222-990.

 VII. If you are already registered with NSDL 
for remote e-voƟng then you can use your 
exisƟng user ID and password/PIN for casƟng 
your vote.

 VIII. You can also update your mobile number 
and e-mail id in the user profile details of the 
folio which may be used for sending future 
communicaƟon(s).

 IX. The voƟng rights of members shall be in 
proporƟon to their shares of the paid up 
equity share capital of the Company as on 
the cut-off date of 22nd September, 2015.

 X. Any person, who acquires shares of the 
Company and become member of the 
Company aŌer dispatch of the noƟce and 
holding shares as of the cut-off date i.e. 
22nd September, 2015, may obtain the login 
ID and password by sending a request at 
evoƟng@nsdl.co.in or Issuer/RTA  at rta@
cbmsl.com menƟoning his/her Folio No. or 
DP ID and Client ID.

   However, if you are already registered with 
NSDL for remote e-voƟng then you can use 
your exisƟng User ID and Password for casƟng 
your vote. If you forgot your password, you 
can reset your password by using “Forgot 

User Details/Password” opƟon available on 
www.evoƟng.nsdl.com or contact NSDL at 
the following toll free no.: 1800-222-990.

 XI. A member may parƟcipate in the AGM even 
aŌer exercising his right to vote through 
remote e-voƟng but shall not be allowed to 
vote again at the AGM.  

 XII. A person, whose name is recorded in the 
register of members or in the register 
of beneficial owners maintained by the 
depositories as on the cut-off date only shall 
be enƟtled to avail the facility of remote 
e-voƟng as well as voƟng at the AGM through 
ballot paper/polling paper.

 XIII. Mr. Abhishek Kumar Pandey, PracƟsing 
Company Secretary (Membership No. 
A33116, C.P No. 12294) who had consented 
to act as the ScruƟniser, was appointed by the 
Company as the ScruƟniser to scruƟnise the 
voƟng process (electronically or otherwise) 
for the 23rd Annual General MeeƟng of the 
Company in a fair and transparent manner 
and submit a Consolidated ScruƟniser’s 
Report of the total votes cast to the Chairman 
or a person authorised by him in wriƟng.

 XIV. The Chairman shall, at the AGM, at the end 
of discussion on the resoluƟons on which 
voƟng is to be held, allow voƟng with the 
assistance of scruƟnizer, by use of “Ballot 
Paper/Polling Paper” for all those members 
who are present at the AGM but have not 
cast their votes by availing the remote 
e-voƟng facility.

 XV. The ScruƟnizer shall aŌer the conclusion of 
voƟng at the annual general meeƟng, will 
first count the votes cast at the meeƟng and 
thereaŌer unblock the votes cast through 
remote e-voƟng in the presence of  at least 
two witnesses not in the employment of 
the Company and shall make, not later than 
three days of the conclusion of the AGM, a 
consolidated scruƟnizer’s report of the total 
votes cast in favour or against, if any, to the 
Chairman or a person authorized by him in 
wriƟng, who shall countersign the same and 
declare the result of the voƟng forthwith.

 XVI. The Results declared along with the report of 
the ScruƟnizer shall be placed on the website 
of Company www.kaushalya.net  and on 
the website of NSDL immediately aŌer the 
declaraƟon of result by the Chairman or a 
person authorized by him in wriƟng. The 
results shall also be immediately forwarded 
to stock exchange where Company’s shares 
are listed.

NoƟce (Contd.)
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT
Pursuant to SecƟon 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013
Item No. 4
Mrs. MinoƟ Nath (holding DIN: 07017530) was 
appointed as AddiƟonal Director in the capacity of 
Woman Non-ExecuƟve Independent Director with 
effect from 13th November, 2014 under SecƟon 
161(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with ArƟcle 
116 of the ArƟcles of AssociaƟon of the Company. 
She holds office up to the date of ensuing Annual 
General MeeƟng of the Company and is eligible for 
re-appointment as Independent Director for five 
consecuƟve years upto 13th November, 2019. The 
Company has received noƟce under SecƟon 160 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 proposing his appointment as 
an Independent Director of the Company. Mrs. MinoƟ 
Nath is a director whose period of office is not liable to 
determinaƟon by reƟrement of directors by rotaƟon 
under secƟon 159 of the Companies Act, 2013.  In 
the opinion of the Board, she fulfills the condiƟons 
specified in the LisƟng Agreement and Companies 
Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder for appointment 
as Independent Director. Copy of the draŌ leƩer of 
appointment seƫng out the terms and condiƟons 
would be available for inspecƟon without any fee at 
the Registered Office of the Company during normal 
business hours on any working day. 
Details regarding Mrs MinoƟ Nath and his brief 
resume are given in the Annexure aƩached to the 
NoƟce. Keeping in view his experience and experƟse, 
the Board of Directors recommends the proposed 
Ordinary ResoluƟon for approval of the members. 
Except Mrs. MinoƟ Nath, none of the Directors and 
Key Managerial Personnel of the Company and their 
relaƟves is concerned or interested, financial or 
otherwise, in the resoluƟon set out in Item No.4.
The Directors recommend the aforesaid ResoluƟon for 
the approval by the Members as Ordinary ResoluƟon.
Item No. 5
The exisƟng ArƟcles of AssociaƟon (“AoA”) of the 
Company, based on the Companies Act, 1956 are no 
longer in conformity with the Companies Act, 2013 
(“2013 Act’’). With the coming into force of 2013 Act, 

several RegulaƟons of AoA require alteraƟon/deleƟon. 
Given this posiƟon, it is considered expedient to adopt 
a new set of ArƟcles of AssociaƟon (primarily based on 
Table F set out under Schedule I to the Companies Act, 
2013) in place of exisƟng AoA, instead of amending 
it by alteraƟon/ incorporaƟon of provisions of 2013 
Act. In terms of SecƟon 14 of 2013 Act, consent of 
Members by way of a Special ResoluƟon is required 
for adopƟon of a new set of ArƟcles of AssociaƟon. 
The enƟre set of proposed new ArƟcles of AssociaƟon 
is available on the website of the Company www.
kaushalya.net. 
The Members of the Company can also obtain a copy 
of the same from the Company’s Registered Office. 
None of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and 
their relaƟves are in any way concerned or interested 
in the said ResoluƟon. 
The Directors recommend the aforesaid ResoluƟon for 
the approval by the Members as Special ResoluƟon.
Item No. 6
The company in its Annual General MeeƟng held on 
19th April, 2006 has passed an ordinary resoluƟon 
under SecƟon 293(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 1956 
authorizing the Board of Directors of the Company to 
mortgage, hypothecate or in any other way charge in 
favour of the lenders all or any of the movable and/
or immovable properƟes of the company for securing 
any loan, guarantee or security availed from lenders. 
Now, a special resoluƟon is required to be passed 
under SecƟon 180(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013 
for the aforesaid purpose. Therefore, the approval of 
shareholders is being sought under SecƟon 180(1)(a) 
of the Companies Act, 2013 to sell, lease, mortgage, 
charge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose off the 
whole or substanƟally the whole of the undertaking 
of the company. The Board of Directors therefore 
recommends the passing of special resoluƟon 
contained in item No. 6 of the noƟce.
None of the directors or KMP or their relaƟves have 
any concern or interest, financial or otherwise, in the 
proposed resoluƟon.
The Directors recommend the aforesaid ResoluƟon for 
the approval by the Members as Special ResoluƟon.

Route Map to the venue of the 23rd AGM of Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited
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Details of Directors seeking appointment / reappointment at the Annual General MeeƟng as per clause 49 of 
the LisƟng Agreement with the stock exchanges.

ParƟculars Mrs. MinoƟ Nath

Date of Birth July 28, 1956

Date of Appointment November 13, 2014

EducaƟonal QualificaƟon Bachelor of Arts

ExperƟse  in specific funcƟonal areas ExperƟse in Management and OperaƟon of 
diverse nature of business. She runs her own 
bouƟque business.

Directorship in other Companies as on March 31, 2015 None

Membership/Chairmanship in other Public Companies
(only in Audit and Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee) 
as on March 31,2015

NIL

Number of shares held as on  March 31, 2015 NIL

Inter se relaƟon between Directors' Not related

NoƟce (Contd.)



page

7

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

Dear Shareholders,
The Directors are pleased to present the 23rd Annual Report and the Audited Accounts for the financial year 
ended March 31, 2015.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Financial performance of your Company, for the year ended March 31, 2015 is summarized below:-
 (` In Lacs)

ParƟculars Standalone Consolidated
31.03.15 31.03.14 31.03.15 31.03.14

Contract Revenue & Other 
Income

694.88 1616.29 700.14 1623.85

Profit before DepreciaƟon, 
Interest & Tax

1.35 (731.8) 4.24 (726.13)

Less : DepreciaƟon 88.72 35.77 91.11 749.98 37.20
           Interest 657.50 746.22 634.01 669.78 658.87 635.95 673.15
Profit before Tax (744.87) (1401.58) (745.74) (1399.29)
Less : Provision for Tax
           Current Tax - - - -
           Deferred Tax (17.01) (2.68) (17.01) (2.68)
           Fringe Benefit Tax   - - - -
Income Tax for Earlier Year (17.01) (2.68) (17.01) (2.34)
Net Profit/(Loss) AŌer Tax (727.86) (1398.90) (728.73) (1396.60)
Less : Minority Interest - - 0.07 0.66
Add: Share of Profit of 
Associate

- - 0.03

Net Profit AŌer Minority 
Interest

- - (728.78) (1397.27)

Balance b/f from previous 
year

493.52 1892.41 475.27 1872.54

Balance available for 
appropriaƟons

493.52 1892.41 475.27 1872.54

APPROPRIATIONS
Transfer to General Reserve - - - -
Balance Carried to Balance 
Sheet

(234.34) 493.52 (253.50) 475.27

STATE OF AFFAIR & OPERATIONS REVIEW
During the year under review on a Standalone basis your Company has registered total income from operaƟon of 
` 694.88 Lacs as against ` 1616.29 Lacs in the previous year. ReducƟon in top line was due to delay in decisions 
from various clients for tenders submiƩed by Company and lower success rates in bids for infrastructure projects 
made in a significantly reducƟon in overall realizaƟon of Company. The profit before DepreciaƟon, interest and 
tax for the year stood to ` 1.35 Lacs as compared to ` (731.80) Lacs in previous year. The PAT was ` (727.86) Lacs 
against the financial year PAT ` (1398.90). The loss figure occurred during current period is mainly due to write 
off various debtors and depreciaƟon figure as the company has reassessed the useful life of all the tangible fixed 
assets based on useful life as provided in the schedule II of Companies Act, 2013. DepreciaƟon has been provided 
considering the remaining useful life of the assets and necessary effect has been given in the accounts. 
On Consolidated basis, during the year under review the Total Income of your company stood to ` 700.14 Lacs 
as against ` 1623.85 Lacs in the previous year. The EBIDT is ` 4.24 Lacs from ` (726.13) Lacs in the previous year.
DIVIDEND
Your Directors do not recommend payment of dividend for the year under review on equity shares in view of the 
loss incurred.
CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS, IF ANY 
During the year under review, there has been no change in the nature of business of the Company. 
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MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There have been no material changes and commitments, affecƟng the financial posiƟon of the Company which 
have occurred between the end of the financial year of the Company to which the financial statements relate and 
the date of the report.
SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES & ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
As on 31st March 2015, the Company's subsidiaries, step down subsidiaries, associates and joint venture are as 
follows: 
Its subsidiaries/step-subsidiaries
1. Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd
2. Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd
3. Kaushalya Township Pvt Ltd (Step down Subsidiary)
4. Kaushalya Energy Pvt Ltd
5. Azur Solar KDC Pvt Ltd (Step down Subsidiary)
Its associate
1. Orion Abasaan Pvt Ltd
2. Kaushalya Nirman Pvt Ltd
Its joint venture
1. Kidco-Nacc
During the year KaushalyaNirman Private Ltd, Orion Abasaan Private Ltd and Kaushalya Township Private Ltd had 
approached to your Company for consent to raise Equity Capital from investor to further their projects which 
may result in your Company shareholding to become less than 50%. AŌer due consideraƟon and to unlock value 
in the projects of the Subsidiaries (not following within the definiƟon of material subsidiary as per clause 49(III)
(V) of LisƟng Agreement) and enable them to raise funds the Board of Directors of your Company gave their due 
consent. Your Company shareholdings as on 31st March, 2015 in above said Companies (previous year subsidiary 
Companies) aŌer their private placement and preferenƟal issue are as follows :-

Sl. No Name of Company Total No. of Share Held % Age of Shareholding
1 Kaushalya Nirman Private Ltd 46,000 46.00
2 Orion Abasaan Private Ltd 29,000 48.33
3 Kaushalya Township Private Ltd 3,17,357 48.69

However Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd holds 34,000(5.22%) in Kaushalya Township Private Ltd, hence 
Kaushalya Township Private Ltd is step down subsidiary of your Company.
A Policy has been formulated for determining the Material Subsidiaries of the Company pursuant to Clause 49 of 
the LisƟng Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. The said Policy has been posted on the Company's website at 
theweblink: hƩp://www.kaushalya.net/KIDCOMATERIAL.pdf
A statement containing the salient features of the financial statements of each of the subsidiaries & associates in 
the prescribed format AOC-1 is appended as “Annexure - 1” to this Report. The statement also provides details of 
performance and financial posiƟons of the subsidiaries, associates and joint venture
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In accordance with SecƟon 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has prepared Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Company and of all its subsidiary and associate companies, which is forming part of the Annual 
Report. As per the provisions of SecƟon 136 of the Companies Act, 2013, separate audited financial statements 
of its subsidiaries are being placed on its website www.kaushalya.net  and copy of separate audited financial 
statements of its subsidiaries will be provided to the shareholders on request.
LISTING OF EQUITY SHARES
Your Company’s Equity Shares are listed on the BSE Ltd and NaƟonal Stock Exchange of India Ltd. The Company 
paid the annual lisƟng fees to each of these stock exchanges.
CHANGE IN SHARE CAPITAL
During the year under review, your Company’s Authorised Share Capital has remain unchanged at ` 35,00,00,000 
(Rupees Thirty Five Crore) comprising 3,50,00,000 Equity Shares of ` 10/- each.
During the year under review, your Company’s paid up equity share capital remain unchanged changed 
` 34,63,06,300 (Rupees Thirty Four Crores Sixty Three Lacs Six Thousand) comprising of 3,46,30,630 Equity 
Shares of ` 10/- each.
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TRANSFER TO INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND.
During the year your Company has transferred amount of ` 163,680/- Share ApplicaƟon Money due for refund to 
Investor EducaƟon and ProtecƟon fund as per provision of secƟon 125 of Companies Act, 1956. There has been 
no delay in transferring amounts to Investor EducaƟon and ProtecƟon fund by the Company.
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION SCHEME
Your Company has not come out with Employee Stock OpƟon Scheme during the year.
DIRECTOR 
Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra (DIN: 00086598), Director reƟre by rotaƟon at the forthcoming Annual General 
MeeƟng of the Company and not to fill the vacancy. He does not seek re-appointment and therefore not re-
appoint him as a Director of a Company.
Mrs. MinoƟ Nath (DIN: 07017530) was appointed as AddiƟonal Director of the Company in the category of 
Independent Director by the Board in its meeƟng held on 13th November, 2014. She shall hold office up to the 
date of ensuing Annual General MeeƟng of the Company and will be eligible for reappointment as Independent 
Director. The Company has received a noƟce from a member pursuant to SecƟon 160 of the Companies Act, 2013 
staƟng intent to propose him for the office of Independent Director under SecƟon 149 of the Companies Act, 
2013.
All Independent Directors have given declaraƟons that they meet the criteria of independence as laid down 
under SecƟon 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement. 
During the year Mr. SakƟ Pada Banerjee resigned and ceased to be an Independent Director of the Company 
w.e.f. 25th June, 2014 due to health constraints.
The Board has placed on record its appreciaƟon for the outstanding contribuƟons made by Mr. SakƟ Pada Benrjee 
during his respecƟve tenures as director of the Company.
ResoluƟons seeking approval of the members have been incorporated in the noƟce of the forthcoming Annual 
General MeeƟng. Brief resume/details relaƟng to Directors who are to be appointed/re-appointed are furnished 
in the Explanatory Statement to the NoƟce of the ensuing Annual General MeeƟng as required under the Code 
of Corporate Governance.
The members in the last AGM approved reappointment of Mr. Prashant Mehra as Managing Director. The 
members also approved appointment of Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal and Mr. Parag KesharBhaƩacherjee as 
Independent Directors.
KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL
In compliance of the provisions of SecƟon 203 of the Companies Act, 2013 the following persons were the key 
managerial personnel of the Company: 
(a) Mr. Prashant Mehra, Managing Director & Chief ExecuƟve Officer
(b)  Mr. T.N Mishra, Chief Financial Officer 
(c)  Mr. Tarkeshwar Singh, Company Secretary.
LOAN/ADVANCES
Pursuant to Clause 32 of the LisƟng Agreement, the parƟculars of loans/advances given to subsidiaries have 
been disclosed in the Annual Accounts of your company.
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The Board of Directors of your Company acknowledges the responsibility for ensuring compliance with the 
provisions of SecƟon 134(3) (c) read with SecƟon 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49(III)(D)(4)(a) 
of the LisƟng Agreement with the Stock Exchanges in the preparaƟon of the annual accounts for the year ended 
31st March, 2015 and state that :
I. In the preparaƟon of the annual accounts, the applicable accounƟng standards had been followed along with 

proper explanaƟon relaƟng to material departures; if any
II. The Directors have selected such accounƟng policies and applied them consistently and made judgments 

and esƟmates that are reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company at the end of the financial year and of the profits of the Company for that period;

III. The Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounƟng records in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and 
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for prevenƟng and detecƟng fraud and other irregulariƟes; 
IV. The Directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis;
V. The Directors have laid down internal financial controls for the Company and such internal financial controls 

are adequate and operaƟng effecƟvely; and
VI. There is a proper system to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and such systems 
are adequate and operaƟng effecƟvely. 
PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES
 The parƟculars of employees, as required under SecƟon 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) 
and 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and RemuneraƟon of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, are given in a 
separate annexure aƩached hereto and forms part of this report as 'Annexure II'.
FIXED DEPOSITS
The Company has not accepted any deposit from the public, and as such, there are no outstanding deposits in 
terms of the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014.
NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD
The Board met six Ɵmes during the financial year, the details are given in the Corporate Governance Report that 
forms part of the Annual Report.
AUDIT COMMITTEE 
The Audit CommiƩee was consƟtuted by the Company and the details of terms of reference of the Audit 
CommiƩee, number and dates of meeƟng held, aƩendance, among others are given separately in the aƩached 
Corporate Governance Report. During the year there were no instances of the Board had not accepƟng the 
recommendaƟons of the Audit CommiƩee.
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY 
The Company has in place a whistleblower policy to deal with unethical behavior, vicƟmizaƟon, fraud and other 
grievances or concerns, if any. The aforemenƟoned whistleblower policy can be accessed on the Company’s 
website: hƩp://www.kaushalya.net/KDCVIGIL.pdf.
RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 
The Company has a defined Risk Management framework to idenƟfy, assess, monitor and miƟgate various risks 
to key business objecƟves. Major risks idenƟfied by the businesses and funcƟons are systemaƟcally addressed 
through miƟgaƟng acƟons on a conƟnuing basis. 
The Risk Management Policy provides for idenƟficaƟon of risk, its assessment and procedures to minimize risk. 
The policy is periodically reviewed to ensure that the execuƟve management controls the risk as per decided 
policy.
NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
A NominaƟon & RemuneraƟon CommiƩee was consƟtuted by the Company and the details of terms of reference, 
number and dates of meeƟng held, aƩendance, among others are given separately in the Corporate Governance 
Report forming part of this Annual Report.
STAKEHOLDERS’ RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE 
The composiƟon and terms of reference of the Stakeholders' RelaƟonship CommiƩee has been furnished in the 
Corporate Governance Report forming part of this Annual Report.
POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION
The Policy of the Company on Directors’ appointment and remuneraƟon including criteria for determining 
qualificaƟons, posiƟve aƩributes, independence of a Director and other maƩers provided under sub-SecƟon 
(3) and (4) of SecƟon 178, is aƩached as 'Annexure-III' to this Report. The remuneraƟon policy is stated in the 
Corporate Governance Report of this Annual Report.
BOARD EVALUATION 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement, the Board has 
carried out an annual evaluaƟon of its own performance of the individual directors as well as the working of 
its Audit, NominaƟon & RemuneraƟon and Stakeholders RelaƟonship commiƩees. The manner in which the 
evaluaƟon has been carried out has been explained in the aƩached Corporate Governance Report integral part 
of this Annual Report.
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INTERͳCORPORATE LOANS, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS
The provisions of SecƟon 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in relaƟon to loans or guarantee are not applicable 
to the Company, being an infrastructure company as defined under Schedule VI to the Act. Details of loans, 
guarantees and investments covered under the provisions of secƟon 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 are given 
in the notes to the Financial Statements.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
All related party transacƟons that were entered into during the financial year were on an arm’s length basis and 
were in the ordinary course of business. There were no materially significant related party transacƟons made 
by the Company which may have a potenƟal conflict with the interest of the Company at large. All related party 
transacƟons were placed before the Audit CommiƩee and also for the Board approval, wherever required. Prior 
omnibus approval of the Audit CommiƩee is generally obtained for the transacƟons which are of a foreseen and 
repeƟƟve nature and these transacƟons are reviewed by the Audit CommiƩee on quarterly basis. The policy 
on related party transacƟons as approved by the Board is uploaded on the Company’s website hƩp://www.
kaushalya.net/KIDCORELATED.pdf.
The details of transacƟons entered into with related parƟes are aƩached as 'Annexure IV' in form AOC-2 that form 
an integral part of this Report.
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN 
The details forming part of extract of annual return as per Form MGT- 9 is annexed herewith as 'Annexure – V’.
INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL 
The Company has in place adequate internal financial control with reference to the financial statements. During 
the year, such control was reviewed and no reportable material weakness was observed.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is commiƩed to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance and adhere to the 
corporate governance requirements as set out in Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement. The Report on Corporate 
Governance as sƟpulated under Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement forms an integral part of this Annual Report. 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
Management Discussion and Analysis for the year under review, as sƟpulated under Clause 49 of the LisƟng 
Agreement with the Stock Exchanges, is presented in a separate secƟon forming part of this Annual Report. 
CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION 
As required by Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement, the CEO/ CFO cerƟficaƟon has been submiƩed to the Board 
and a copy thereof is contained elsewhere in this Annual Report.
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT 
Pursuant to the provisions of SecƟon 204 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has appointed M/S. Rinku 
Gupta & Associates, Company Secretaries in PracƟce, to undertake the secretarial audit of the Company for the 
financial year 2014-15. The Secretarial Audit Report for the financial year ended 31st March, 2015 is aƩached as 
Annexure ‘VI’ and forms a part of the reports of the Directors. The observaƟon made by the secretarial auditors 
in their report are self-explanatory and therefore do not call for any further explanaƟons/comments.
AUDITORS & AUDITOR’S REPORT
At the Annual General MeeƟng held in the year 2014, M/s Sumanta & Co., Chartered Accountants, (ICAI Firm 
RegistraƟon No. 322554E) Statutory Auditors of the Company were re-appointed by the shareholders to hold 
office as Statutory Auditors from the conclusion of Annual General MeeƟng held in the year 2014 Ɵll the 
conclusion of Twenty FiŌh Annual General MeeƟng of the Company to be held in the year 2017, subject to 
raƟficaƟon of their appointment at every Annual General MeeƟng. 
Under SecƟon 139 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company is required to place the maƩer relaƟng to Statutory 
Auditor’s appointment for raƟficaƟon by members at every Annual General MeeƟng. 
The Company has received a leƩer from the Statutory Auditors confirming that they are eligible for appointment 
as Auditors of the Company under SecƟon 139 of the Companies Act, 2013 and meet the criteria for appointment 
specified in SecƟon 141 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
Based on the recommendaƟons by the Audit CommiƩee, the Board of Directors of the Company recommends the 
raƟficaƟon of appointment of M/s Sumanta& Co., Chartered Accountants, (ICAI Firm RegistraƟon No. 322554E) 
as Statutory Auditors of the Company by the shareholders at the ensuing Annual General MeeƟng. 
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The observaƟons of the Auditors in their report, read together with the notes on Accounts, are self-explanatory 
and therefore, in the opinion of the Directors, do not call for any further explanaƟon.
COST AUDITORS 
The cost audit u/s 148 of Companies Act, 2013 read with its rule is not applicable for your Company for the 
financial year ended 31st March, 2015.
CSR COMMITTEE
Pursuant to provisions of secƟon 135(1) of Companies Act, 2013 formaƟon of such commiƩee is not applicable 
to your Company.
RESTRUCTURING OF DEBTS
The bankers of the company have inƟmated that the second restructuring process for the loan accounts, 
meanwhile classified as non-performing, has taken considerable Ɵme. The same is under process at their end 
and the company is following up with the Bankers to expedite the process of second restructuring of its accounts.
OTHER INFORMATION
The Audit CommiƩee of your company has reviewed the audited financial statements for the year under review 
at its meeƟng held on May 30, 2015 and recommended the same for the approval of the Board of Directors.
SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY
 The Company has a Policy on ProhibiƟon, PrevenƟon and Redressal of Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
and maƩers connected therewith or incidental thereto covering all the aspects as contained under the “The 
Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (ProhibiƟon, PrevenƟon and Redressal) Act, 2013”.
Up Ɵll date, the Company has not received any complaint under the Policy.
SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS / COURTS / TRIBUNALS 
There are no significant material orders passed by the Regulators / Courts / Tribunals which would impact the 
going concern status of the Company and its future operaƟons
ANNEXURES FORMING A PART OF THIS REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS 
The Annexures referred to in this report and other informaƟon which are required to be disclosed are annexed 
herewith and forms a part of this report of the Directors :

Annexure ParƟculars
I Details of Subsidiary, Associate and Joint Venture AOC-1.
II ParƟculars of Employees.
III Policy on selecƟon of directors.
IV Details of RTP in AOC-2.
V Extracts of the Annual Return as per Form MGT-9.
VI Secretarial Audit Report.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND 
OUTGO
Presently, your company is not engaged in any acƟvity relaƟng to conservaƟon of energy or technology absorpƟon. 
During the year under review, your company has no foreign exchange earnings and outgoes.
APPRECIATION
Your Board of Directors wish to thank the Central Government, the Government of West Bengal, the financial 
insƟtuƟons, its Bankers, shareholders, customers, dealers and other business associates for the support received 
from them during the year. Your Directors place on record their sincere appreciaƟon for all employees of the 
Company and for their unsƟnted commitment and conƟnued contribuƟon to the Company.

 For and on behalf of the Board
Kolkata   Ramesh Kumar Mehra
13th August, 2015 DIN: 00086598
Registered office: Chairman
HB-170, Sector-III
Salt Lake-Kolkata-700106
CIN-L51216WB1992PLC055629
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Annexure I to the

Directors’ report 
FORM- AOC 1

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-secƟon (3) of secƟon 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)
Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of 

subsidiaries/associate companies/joint ventures
Part “A”: Subsidiaries

     (Amt in `)

Sl. No 1 2 3 4 5

Name of the subsidiary Bengal KDC
Housing Dev Ltd 

(BKHDL)

Bengal 
Kaushalya
Nirman Ltd 

(BKNL)

Kaushlaya
 Township Pvt Ltd 

(KTPL)

Kaushlya
Energy Pvt Ltd 

(KEPL)

Azur Solar
KDC Pvt Ltd 

(Subsidiary of 
KEPL)

ReporƟng period 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015

ReporƟng currency and 
Exchange rate

INR INR INR INR INR

Share capital 20,00,000 20,00,000 65,18,570 10,00,000 1,00,000

Reserves & surplus (9,88,948) (3,23,691) 3,04,94,054 (8,19,917) (34,735)

Total assets 11,92,88,832 17,30,983 34,27,38,566 2,31,074 15,63,286

Total LiabiliƟes 11,92,88,832 17,30,983 34,27,38,566 2,31,074 15,63,286

Investments 17,26,000 - 1,37,400 99,000 -

Turnover 2,64,000 25,767 1,94,100 20,000 22,500

Profit before taxaƟon 2,280 6,775 4,941 1,448 3,805

Provision for taxaƟon - - - - -

Profit aŌer taxaƟon 2,280 6,775 4,941 1,448 3,805

Proposed Dividend NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

% of shareholding 51.00 51.00 53.90 (48.69 by holding 
Co. & 5.22 by subsidiary 

BKHDL)

95.50 99.00 
(holding by KEPL)

Notes: The following informaƟon shall be furnished at the end of the statement:
1.  Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operaƟons  
 a.  Azur Solar KDC Private Ltd, 
 b.  Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd, 
 c. Kaushalya Energy Private Ltd.
2.  Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year. NONE
3.  The ReporƟng date of all subsidiaries is same as that of the Company, that is, 31st March 2015.
4.  The Company does not have any foreign subsidiary.
      
In terms of  our report aƩached For and on behalf of Board of Directors 

For Sumananta & Co Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra 
Firm Regn. No. 322554E Managing Director Whole-Ɵme Director
Chartered Accountants  
Pradeep KumarAgarwal TarakNath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Partner  CFO Company  Secretary  
Membership No.056521
May 30, 2015
Place : Kolkata
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Part “B”: Associates and Joint Ventures
Statement pursuant to SecƟon 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to Associate Companies and Joint 
Ventures

(Amt in `)

Name of Associates /Joint Ventures Orion Abasan Pvt Ltd Kaushalya Nirman Pvt Ltd Kidco Nacc

1. Latest audited Balance Sheet Date 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015

2. Shares of Associate/Joint Ventures held by 
the company on the year end

-No. 29,000 46,000 NA

-Amount of Investment in Associates/Joint 
Venture (Amount in `)

10,90,000 19,40,000 (94,03,503)

-Extend of Holding % 48.33% 46% 90%

3. DescripƟon of how there is significant 
     influence Based on the percentage of holding over these investees

4. Reason why the associate/joint venture is 
not consolidated

NA NA NA

5. Networth aƩributable to Shareholding as 
per latest audited Balance Sheet

15,94,117 26,94,094 N.A.

6. Profit / Loss for the year

i. Considered in ConsolidaƟon 609  2,065  (1,24,822)

ii. Not considered in ConsolidaƟon 651 2,424 (13,869)

1.  Names of associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operaƟons.

 None   

2.  Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the year. 

 None   

      
In terms of  our report aƩached For and on behalf of Board of Directors 

For Sumananta & Co Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra 
Firm Regn. No. 322554E Managing Director Whole-Ɵme Director
Chartered Accountants  
Pradeep KumarAgarwal TarakNath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Partner  CFO Company  Secretary  
Membership No.056521
Date : May 30, 2015
Place : Kolkata
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Annexure II to the

Directors’ report
Details pertaining to remuneraƟon

As required under SecƟon 197 (12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies
(Appointment and RemuneraƟon of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014

(i) The Percentage increase in remuneraƟon of each Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 
during the Financial year 2014-15, raƟo of the remuneraƟon of each Director to the median remuneraƟon of 
the employees of the Company for the financial year 2014-15 and the comparison of remuneraƟon of each 
Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

Sl. 
No.

Name of the Director/
KMP and DesignaƟon

RemuneraƟon of 
Director/ KMP for 
financial year 
2014-15 (`)

% Increase in 
remuneraƟon 

in the 
financial year 

2014-15

RaƟo of 
remuneraƟon of each 
Director/ to median 

remuneraƟon of 
employees

Comparison of the 
remuneraƟon of 

the KMP against the 
performance of the 

Company
1 Prashant Mehra 

Managing Director/CEO
15,90,000 15.22% 5.54 Not comparable 

since Company was 
in Loss

2  Mahesh Mehra
Whole-Ɵme Director

11,40,000 Nil 3.97 Not comparable 
since Company was 
in Loss

3  TarakNathMisha
Chief Financial Officer

4,26,480 17.26% N.A. Not comparable 
since Company was 
in Loss 

4  Tarkeshwar Singh
Company Secretary

3,10,683 27.82% N.A. Not comparable 
since Company was 
in Loss

Note :  for this purpose, Non-ExecuƟve Directors are excluded as they received only siƫng fees.
(ii) The median remuneraƟon of employees of the Company during the financial year was ` 23,926/-
(iii) In the financial year, there was no increase in the median remuneraƟon of employees;
(iv) There were 21 permanent employees on the rolls of the Company as on March31,2015;
(v) RelaƟonship between average increase in remuneraƟon and Company performance : Not applicable 
(vi) Comparison of the remuneraƟon of the key Managerial Personnel(s) against the performance of the Company:- For 

the financial year 2014-15 Company was in loss and hence not comparable;
(vii) (a)  VariaƟon in market capitalizaƟon of the Company: The market capitalizaƟon as on March 31, 2015 was ̀  24.59 

crore (` 18.35 crore as on March 31, 2014);
 (b)  Price Earnings raƟo of the Company was (3.70) as at March 31, 2015 and was (1.31) as at March 31, 2014;
 (c)  Percentage increase or decrease in the market quotaƟons of the shares of the Company as compared to the 

rate at which the Company came out with the last public offer in the year (88.17)%. 
(viii) Average percenƟle increase made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the 

last financial year i.e. 2014-15 was nil whereas the percenƟle increase in the managerial remuneraƟon for the 
same financial year was 10.89%; Average percenƟle increase in the salaries of employees other than managerial 
personnel was nil since some of the high paid non managerial employees leŌ the company early during the current 
year.

(ix) Comparison of the each remuneraƟon of the key managerial person against the performance of the company: Not 
comparable since the company was in loss during the current year.

(x) The key parameter for any variable components of remuneraƟon availed by directors:  Not Applicable
(xi) The raƟo of the remuneraƟon of the highest paid directors to that of the employees who are not directors but 

received remuneraƟon in excess of highest paid directors during the year: Not Applicable
(xii) It is hereby affirmed that the remuneraƟon paid is as per the RemuneraƟon Policy for Directors, Key Managerial 

Personnel and other Employees.

NOTE:  SecƟon 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 5 of sub rule 2 of the (Companies Re-appointment & 
RemuneraƟon of Managerial Personnel), 2014 not applicable hence no disclosure made here.
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Annexure III to the

Directors’ report
Criteria for selecƟon of Directors and persons in Senior Management

A. IntroducƟon 

 This Policy sets out general guiding principles defining criteria for selecƟon of directors in the Board and 
persons in senior management to assist the Board of Directors in performing its duƟes. However, the Board 
should act according to its obligaƟons under the specific facts and circumstances it faces. It will ensure 
consƟtuƟon of the Board with opƟmum combinaƟon of ExecuƟve and Non-execuƟve Directors including 
Independent Directors which possess diverse experience and experƟse in strategic management, governance 
and provide long term vision and direcƟon to the Company. 

B. SelecƟon and ComposiƟon of the Board Board Membership Criteria & Diversity 

 The Board of Directors should be composed of individuals who have demonstrated significant achievements 
in business, educaƟon, the professions and/or public service. They should have requisite intelligence, 
educaƟon and experience to make a significant contribuƟon to the deliberaƟons of the Board of Directors in 
light of the Company’s business. In addiƟon, the membership of the Board of Directors should bring a broad 
range of experiences to the Board. The NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee will review, annually, the 
appropriate skills and characterisƟcs of Board members in the context of the current structure of the Board. 
This assessment should include issues of diversity, age, business, qualificaƟons, ethics & integrity, willingness 
to parƟcipate in Board maƩers and other criteria that the CommiƩee and Board find to be relevant at that 
point of Ɵme. A variety and balance of skills, background and experience is desirable. The composiƟon of 
the Board shall meet the condiƟons prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the LisƟng 
Agreement. The proposed appointee shall possess the director idenƟficaƟon number and meet the criteria 
as laid down in the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement.

AƩributes 

The overall ability and experience of individual Board candidates should determine their suitability. The following 
aƩributes may be considered as desirable in any candidate for the Board of Directors: 

 • Experience - A Board candidate should have extensive experience in business, administraƟon, 
profession, governance and/or public service. An ideal Board candidate may have had experience in 
more than one of these areas. 

 • EducaƟon - Ideally, it is desirable that a Board candidate should hold degree from a respected college 
or university. In some cases, it is further desirable for the candidate also to have earned a masters or 
acumen in governance & administraƟon. However, these educaƟonal criteria are not meant to exclude 
an excepƟonal candidate who does not meet these educaƟonal criteria. 

 • Personal - The Board candidate should be of the highest moral and ethical character. The candidate 
should exhibit independence, objecƟvity and be capable of serving as a representaƟve of the stakeholder.

 • Individual CharacterisƟcs - The Board candidate should have the personal qualiƟes to be able to 
make a substanƟal acƟve contribuƟon to Board deliberaƟons. These qualiƟes include intelligence, 
self-assuredness, high ethical standard, inter-personal skills, independence, judgmental, courage, a 
willingness to ask the difficult quesƟon, communicaƟon skills and commitment.

 • Availability - The Board candidate must be willing to commit, as well as have, sufficient Ɵme available 
to discharge the duƟes of Board membership. The Board candidate should not have any prohibited 
interlocking relaƟonships. 

 • CompaƟbility - The Board candidate should be able to develop a good working relaƟonship with other 
Board members and contribute to the Board’s working relaƟonship with the senior management of the 
Company. 

 • Compliance - The Candidate should meet the compliance requirements prescribed under the 
Companies Act, 2013, LisƟng Agreement and other Rules & RegulaƟons or standards set out by the 
Company. Predominance of Independent Directors Independence promotes integrity, accountability 
and governance. The Board of Directors shall comprise of requisite number of independent directors 
as prescribed under the law. Not less than requisite number of directors shall consist of independent 
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directors who meet the criteria for independence as required under the Companies Act, 2013, LisƟng 
Agreement and other prescribed Rules & RegulaƟons applicable to the Company. Besides, the Board will 
consider all relevant facts and circumstances in making a determinaƟon of independence. 

 • SelecƟon and OrientaƟon of New Directors 

  The NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee shall idenƟfy candidates for the Board and recommend 
them for appointment by Board and subsequently for approval by the shareholders as prescribed under 
the law. The Board delegates the screening process to the NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee 
with direct input from the Chairman of the Board or Managing Director or any other CommiƩee as 
may deem appropriate. Management, working in conjuncƟon with the CommiƩee, shall develop an 
appropriate familiarisaƟon program for new directors that include background briefings, meeƟngs with 
senior management and visits to Company faciliƟes etc.

 • Assessing Performance of Board and CommiƩees

  The NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee shall evaluate performance of each director and 
report annually to the Board on the results of the assessment process. The performance evaluaƟon of 
Independent directors shall be done by the enƟre Board of Directors. The Independent directors in their 
meeƟng shall review the performance of non-independent directors and the Board as a whole. While 
assessing the performance, the Board or the NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee shall take into 
account aƩendance of directors in the Board & CommiƩee meeƟngs, performance of the business, 
accomplishment of long-term strategic objecƟves & their parƟcipaƟon, role & funcƟoning of various 
commiƩees, compliance and other maƩer as they may think fit. The purpose of the assessment is to 
increase the effecƟveness of the Board.

C. SelecƟon of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) 

 Above criteria shall also apply for selecƟon of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) excepƟng those which are 
not applicable for persons in senior management. Where appointment or performance of any KMP requires 
specific qualificaƟon or degree, the person should also possess that specific qualificaƟon or degree. Keeping 
self-up-to-date for performing duƟes, on issues and emerging trends is an important part of responsibiliƟes. 
KMP must take reasonable steps to remain current in professional development, corporate governance and 
discharging duƟes & responsibiliƟes. The KMP shall meet the condiƟons prescribed under the Companies 
Act, 2013 and other Rules & RegulaƟons as may be applicable. 

D. Review 

 The NominaƟon & RemuneraƟon CommiƩee may review this Policy periodically and suggest revisions to 
the Board to ensure the policy serves its purpose and accurately reflects the sense of the Board and the 
Company.
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Annexure IV to the

Directors’ report
Form No. AOC-2

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-secƟon (3) of secƟon 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) 
of the Companies(Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of parƟculars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related 
parƟes referred to in sub-secƟon (1) of secƟon 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm’s length 
transacƟons under third proviso thereto :
1.  Details of contracts or arrangements or transacƟons not at arm’s length basis:
There were no contracts or arrangements or transacƟons entered into during the year ended 31st March 2015, 
which were not at arm’s length basis.
2. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transacƟons at arm’s length basis:
There were no material contracts or arrangements or transacƟons entered into during the year ended 31st March 
2015, which were not at arm’s length basis.

Note: The definiƟon of material is as per explanaƟon given in Clause 49(VII) of LisƟng Agreement.

   Ramesh Kumar Mehra
Kolkata (DIN: 00086598)
13th August, 2015  Chairman
Registered office:
HB-170, Sector-III
Salt Lake-Kolkata-700106
CIN-L51216WB1992PLC055629
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Annexure V to the

Directors’ report
Extract of Annual Return

As on the financial year ended on March 31, 2015
[Pursuant to secƟon 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 12(1) of the Companies 

(Management and AdministraƟon) Rules, 2014]

FORM No. MGT 9
I REGISTRATION & OTHER DETAILS:

1   CIN                     L51216WB1992PLC055629

2   RegistraƟon Date 04.06.1992

3  Name of the Company KAUSHALYA INFRASTRCUTURE DEVELOPMENT CORP.  
LIMITED

4   Category/Sub-category Public Company/Company Limited by shares

5  Address of the Registered office & contact details HB-170, Sector-III, Salt Lake, Kolkata-  700106,
Email- info@kaushalya.net, Ph : 033-23344148
Fax : 033-23344148, Website:-www.kaushalya.net  

6  Whether listed company Yes

7  Name, Address & contact details of the Registrar  & 
Transfer Agent, if any

CB Management Servives Private Limited. 
B-22 Bondel Road, Kolkata- 700019
E-mail : rta@cbmsl.com, Website : www.cbmsl.com

II.  PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY
 All the business acƟviƟes contribuƟng 10% or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated

Sl. 
No.

Name & DescripƟon of  main products/services NIC Code of the 
Product/Services

% to total turnover 
of the company

1 ConstrucƟon 9953 99.98

2 Hotel 9963 0.02

III.  PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY & ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

Sl 
No

Name & Address of the 
Company

CIN/GLN HOLDING/ 
SUBSIDIARY/ 
ASSOCIATE

% OF SHARES 
HELD

APPLICABLE 
SECTION

1 KAUSHALYA TOWNSHIP 
PRIVATE LIMITED,
171/1A Rash Behari Avenue, 
Kolkata- 700019

U70109WB2006PTC111320 SUBSIDIARY 53.90 2(87)(II)

2 KAUSHALYA  ENERGY  PRIVATE 
LIMITED
69, Girish Park, North, 
Kolkata- 700006

U40104WB2008PTC129344 SUBSIDIARY 98.50 2(87)(II)

3 KAUSHALYA NIRMAN PRIVATE 
LIMITED
69, Girish Park, North, 
Kolkata- 700006

U70101WB2006PTC111321 ASSOCIATE 46 2(6)
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Sl 
No

Name & Address of the 
Company

CIN/GLN HOLDING/ 
SUBSIDIARY/ 
ASSOCIATE

% OF SHARES 
HELD

APPLICABLE 
SECTION

4 BENGAL KAUSHALYA NIRMAN  
LIMITED
69, Girish Park, North, 
Kolkata- 700006

U70100WB2006PLC123501 SUBSIDIARY 51 2(87)(II)

5 BENGAL KDC HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED
171/1A Rash Behari Avenue, 
Kolkata- 700019

U70100WB2006PLC110153 SUBSIDIARY 51 2(87)(II)

6 AZUR SOLAR KDC PRIVATE 
LIMITED
69, Girish Park, North, 
Kolkata- 700006

U31908WB2010PTC148514 SUBSIDIARY 99 2(87)(II)

7 ORION ABASAAN  PRIVATE 
LIMITED
160, Jamunalal Bajaj Street, 
Kolkata- 700007

U70101WB2006PTC111322 ASSOCIATE 48.33 2(6)

IV.  SHAREHOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share capital Break up as % to total Equity)
 (i) Category-wise Share Holding
Category of Shareholders No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year No. of Shares held at the end of the year

De-mat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

De-mat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

A. Promoters
(1) Indian
a) Individual/HUF 3138780 0 3138780 9.06 3138780 0 3138780 9.06
b) Central Govt.or State Govt.
c) Bodies Corporates 14666850 0 14666850 42.35 14666850 0 14666850 42.35
d) Bank/FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
e) Any other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
SUB TOTAL:(A) (1) 17805630 0 17805630 51.42 17805630 0 17805630 51.42
(2) Foreign
a) NRI- Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
b) Other Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
c) Bodies Corp. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
d) Banks/FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
e) Any other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
SUB TOTAL (A) (2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Shareholding of 
Promoter (A)= (A)(1)+(A)(2)

17805630 0 17805630 51.42 17805630 0 17805630 51.42

B. PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING
(1) InsƟtuƟons
a) Mutual Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
b) Banks/FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
C) Cenntralgovt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
d) State Govt. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
e) Venture Capital Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
f) Insurance Companies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
g) FIIS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
h) Foreign Venture Capital 
Funds

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Category of Shareholders No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year No. of Shares held at the end of the year
De-mat Physical Total % of Total 

Shares
De-mat Physical Total % of Total 

Shares
i) Others (specify) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
SUB TOTAL (B)(1): 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
(2) Non InsƟtuƟons
a) Bodies corporates
i) Indian 7944742 0 7944742 22.94 6791378 0 6791378 19.61
ii) Overseas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
b) Individuals
i) Individual shareholders 
holding  nominal share capital 
upto Rs.1 lakhs

6895787 414 6895373 19.91 7795729 639 7795090 22.51

ii) Individuals shareholders 
holding nominal share capital 
in excess of Rs. 1 lakhs

1723575 0 1723575 4.98 1885234 0 1885234 5.44

c) Others (specify)
i) NRI 142736 0 142736 0.41 145568 0 145568 0.42
II) CLEARING MEMBER 118160 0 118160 0.34 207091 0 207091 0.6
SUB TOTAL (B)(2): 16825000 414 16824586 48.58 16825000 639 16824361 48.58
Total Public Shareholding 
(B)= (B)(1)+(B)(2)

16825000 414 16824586 48.58 16825000 639 16824361 48.58

C. Shares held by Custodian 
for GDRs & ADRs

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total (A+B+C) 34630216 414 34630630 100 34629991 639 34630630 100

 (ii) Shareholdings of Promoters
Sl. 

No.
Category of 

Shareholders
Shareholding at the begginning of the year Shareholding at the end of the year % Change 

during the 
year

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares
 of the 

company

% of shares 
pledged

 encumbered to 
total shares

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares
 of the 

company

% of shares 
pledged 

encumbered 
to total shares

1 MahanƟ Engineers Pvt. 
Ltd

5307600 15.33 3.18 5307600 15.33 3.18 0

2 Keleenworth MarkeƟng 
Pvt.Ltd

4336350 12.52 0 4336350 12.52 0 0

3 Sunkissed Merchandise 
Pvt. Ltd. 

5022900 14.5 0 5022900 14.50 0 0

4 SidhaNath Mehra 373510 1.08 0 373510 1.08 0 0
5 Mahesh Mehra HUF 35000 0.1 0 35000 0.1 0 0
6 Ramesh Kumar Mehra 

HUF
838000 2.42 0 838000 2.42 0 0

7 Purnima Mehra 31320 0.09 0 31320 0.09 0 0
8 Anuradha Mehra 97140 0.28 0 97140 0.28 0 0
9 Neeru Mehra 89100 0.26 0 89100 0.26 0 0

10 Ramesh Kumar Mehra 30010 0.09 0.09 30010 0.09 0.09 0
11 Rahul Mehra 18080 0.05 0 18080 0.05 0 0
12 Sidhnath Mehra HUF 44000 0.13 0 44000 0.13 0 0
13 Mohni Mehra 154600 0.45 0 154600 0.45 0 0
14 Karan Mehra 60740 0.18 0 60740 0.18 0 0
15 Prashant Mehra 917760 2.65 0.28 917760 2.65 0.28 0
16 KarƟk Mehra 112000 0.32 0 112000 0.32 0 0
17 Pranav Mehra 134410 0.39 0 134410 0.39 0 0
18 Ramesh Kumar Mehra-

Karta of Baijnath Mehra 
(HUF)

72500 0.21 0 72500 0.21 0 0
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Sl. 
No.

Category of 
Shareholders

Shareholding at the begginning of the year Shareholding at the end of the year % Change 
during the 

year
No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares
 of the 

company

% of shares 
pledged

 encumbered to 
total shares

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares
 of the 

company

% of shares 
pledged 

encumbered 
to total shares

19 Pooja Mehra 10000 0.03 0 10000 0.03 0 0
20 Mehesh Mehra 48110 0.14 0.14 48110 0.14 0.14 0
21 Raghav Mehra 72500 0.21 0 72500 0.21 0 0

Total 17805630 51.42 3.68 17805630 51.42 3.68 0
 (iii)  Change in Promoters' shareholding (Please specify, if there is no change)

Sl. 
No.

Category of Shareholders Shareholding at the beginning of the year CumulaƟve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

At the beginning of the year No Change during the year
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment/transfer/bonus/
sweat equity etc)

No Change during the year

At the end of the year No Change during the year

 (iv)  Shareholding PaƩern of top ten Shareholders (other than Directors, Promoters & Holders of GDRs & ADRs)
Sl. 

No.
Name of the Shareholders Shareholding at the begginning of the year CumulaƟve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

1 Tribhuwan Advisory Private Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

1500000 4.33 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 -250000 -0.72 1250000 3.61
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -200000 -0.58 1050000 3.03
Transfer on 25/07/2014 -150000 -0.43 900000 2.60
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 900000 2.60

2 Shivgagan Consultancy Private Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

1500000 4.33 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 -48116 -1.39 1018833 2.94
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 1018833 2.94

3. Indian Infotech and SoŌware Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

1500000 4.33 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 
(Seprated from top 10)

-150000 -4.33 0 0

At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 0 0

4. Shiv Om Investment and Consultancy Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

150000 4.33 - -

Transfer on 30/06/2014 
(Seprated from top 10)

-150000 -4.33 0 0
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Sl. 
No.

Name of the Shareholders Shareholding at the begginning of the year CumulaƟve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 0 0

5. Trilok Advisory Private Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

1325000 3.83 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 -168833 -0.49 1156167 3.34
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -200000 -0.58 956167 2.76
Transfer on 25/07/2014 -150000 -0.43 806167 2.33
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 806167 2.33

6. Dhiren Mahendra Shah
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

254393 0.73 - -

Transfer on 04/04/2014 65214 0.19 319607 0.92
Transfer on 11/04/2014 53920 0.16 373527 1.08
Transfer on 18/04/2014 37778 0.11 411305 1.19
Transfer on 25/04/2014 43780 0.13 455085 1.31
Transfer on 02/05/2014 40172 0.12 495257 1.43
Transfer on 16/05/2014 52277 0.15 547534 1.58
Transfer on 23/05/2014 119014 0.34 666548 1.92
Transfer on 30/05/2014 3050 0.01 669598 1.93
Transfer on 06/06/2014 7700 0.02 677298 1.96
Transfer on 13/06/2014 18705 0.05 696003 2.01
Transfer on 20/06/2014 14618 0.04 710621 2.05
Transfer on 30/06/2014 1370 0 711991 2.06
Transfer on 04/07/2014 -125000 -0.36 586991 1.7
Transfer on 11/07/2014 -411887 -1.19 175104 0.51
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -17325 -0.05 157779 0.46
Transfer on 25/07/2014 -81226 -0.23 76553 0.22
Transfer on 01/08/2014 -70000 -0.20 6553 0.02
Transfer on 15/08/2014 -6000 -0.02 553 0
Transfer on 21/11/2014 10000 0.03 10553 0.03
Transfer on 05/12/2014 17239 0.05 27792 0.08
Transfer on 12/12/2014 27589 0.08 55381 0.16
Transfer on 19/12/2014 5198 0.02 60579 0.17
Transfer on 09/01/2015 30026 0.09 90605 0.26
Transfer on 16/01/2015 63287 0.18 153892 0.44
Transfer on 23/01/2015 45000 0.13 198892 0.57
Transfer on 30/01/2015 117419 0.34 316311 0.91
Transfer on 06/02/2015 -34252 -0.10 282059 0.81
Transfer on 13/02/2015 -38113 -0.11 243946 0.70
Transfer on 06/03/2015 70588 0.20 314534 0.91
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 314534 0.91

7. Madhukar Satuppa PaƟl
At the beginning of the year 
(01/04/2014)

221595 0.64 - -

Transfer on 04/04/2014 -15000 -0.04 206595 0.60
Transfer on 23/05/2014 -181335 -0.52 25260 0.07
Transfer on 30/05/2014 -24943 -0.07 317 0
Transfer on 30/05/2014 317 0 0 0
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 0 0

Annexure to Directors' Report (Contd.)



page

24

Statutory Reports Standalone Financials Consolidated Financials

Sl. 
No.

Name of the Shareholders Shareholding at the begginning of the year CumulaƟve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

8. Jayesh Manharlal Ajmera
At the beginning of the year 
(01/04/2014)

219533 0.63 - -

Transfer on 02/05/2014 -33 0 219500 0.63
Transfer on 09/05/2014 -39400 -0.11 180100 0.52
Transfer on 30/05/2014 -34160 -0.10 145940 0.42
Transfer on 13/06/2014 -58690 -0.17 87250 0.25
Transfer on 20/06/2014 -4 0 87246 0.25
Transfer on 04/07/2014 -1249 0 85997 0.25
Transfer on 11/07/2014 35997 0.10 50000 0.14
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -3000 -0.01 47000 0.14
Transfer on 13/03/2015 5137 0.01 52137 0.15
Transfer on 20/03/2015 4863 0.01 57000 0.16
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 57000 0.16

9. Sejal Dhiren Shah
At the beginning of the year 
(01/04/2014)

116081 0.34 - -

Transfer on 18/04/2014 2000 0.01 118081 0.34
Transfer on 25/04/2014 2000 0.01 120081 0.35
Transfer on 02/05/2014 100 0 120181 0.35
Transfer on 09/05/2014 600 0 120781 0.35
Transfer on 23/05/2014 3581 0.01 124362 0.36
Transfer on 13/06/2014 -87236 -0.25 37126 0.11
Transfer on 20/06/2014 -17618 -0.05 19508 0.06
Transfer on 30/06/2014 -5508 -0.02 14000 0.04
Transfer on 18/07/2014 -9000 -0.03 5000 0.01
Transfer on 23/01/2015 -4500 -0.01 500 0
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 500 0

10. Janba Krishna Chougule
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

114096 0.33 - -

Transfer on 04/04/2014 -92500 -0.27 21596 0.06
Transfer on 04/04/2014 -21596 -0.06 0 0
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 0 0

11. JyoƟ Porƞolio Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

0 0 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 3919 0.01 3919 0.01
Transfer on 25/07/2014 300 0 4219 0.01
Transfer on 05/09/2014 -300 0 3919 0.01
Transfer on 27/09/2014 100 0 4019 0.01
Transfer on 10/10/2014 19538 0.06 23557 0.07
Transfer on 17/10/2014 -100 0 23457 0.07
Transfer on 24/10/2014 -499 0 22958 0.07
Transfer on 31/10/2014 618 0 23576 0.07
Transfer on 07/11/2014 -419 0 23157 0.07
Transfer on 28/11/2014 1271 0 24428 0.07
Transfer on 19/12/2014 200 0 24628 0.07
Transfer on 31/12/2014 -47 0 24581 0.07
Transfer on 02/01/2015 -43 0 24538 0.07
Transfer on 09/01/2015 20138 0.06 44676 0.13
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Sl. 
No.

Name of the Shareholders Shareholding at the begginning of the year CumulaƟve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

Transfer on 16/01/2015 -5110 -0.01 39566 0.11
Transfer on 23/01/2015 1000 0 40566 0.12
Transfer on 30/01/2015 11425 0.03 51991 0.15
Transfer on 06/02/2015 116283 0.34 168274 0.49
Transfer on 13/02/2015 3960 0.01 172234 0.5
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 172234 0.5

12. Yajnanarayana  Kammaje
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

0 0 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 60558 0.17 60558 0.17
Transfer on 18/07/2014 25137 0.07 85695 0.25
Transfer on 15/08/2014 54000 0.16 139695 0.4
Transfer on 22/08/2014 2000 0.01 141695 0.41
Transfer on 05/09/2014 5000 0.01 146695 0.42
Transfer on 12/09/2014 5000 0.01 151695 0.44
Transfer on 20/02/2015 10000 0.03 141695 0.41
Transfer on 13/03/2015 10000 0.03 131695 0.38
Transfer on 27/03/2015 20000 0.06 111695 0.32
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 111695 0.32

13. Ajmera Associates Ltd.
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

77797 0.22 - -

Transfer on 11/07/2014 451 0 78248 0.23
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 78248 0.23

14. JyoƟ Porƞolio Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

2706 0.01 - -

Transfer on 21/11/2014 1855 0.01 4561 0.01
Transfer on 12/12/2014 10000 0.03 14561 0.04
Transfer on 09/01/2015 500 0 15061 0.04
Transfer on 16/01/2015 -5000 -0.01 10061 0.03
Transfer on 23/01/2015 -1000 0 9061 0.03
Transfer on 30/01/2015 26302 0.08 35363 0.1
Transfer on 06/02/2015 42189 0.12 77552 0.22
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 77552 0.22

15. Indian Infotech And SoŌware Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

0 0 - -

Transfer on 21/11/2014 1500000 4.33 1500000 4.33
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

- - 1500000 4.33

16. Shivom Investment And Consultancy Limited
At the beginning of the year  
(01/04/2014)

0 0 - -

Transfer on 14/11/2014 1500000 4.33 1500000 4.33
At the end of the year 
(31/03/2015)

1500000 4.33
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 (v) Shareholding of Directors  & Key Managerial Personnel
Sl. 

No.
Name of Director and KMP Shareholding at the end of the year CumulaƟve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

1 Mr. Prashant Mehra
At the beginning of the year 917760 2.65 917760 2.65
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer/
bonus / sweat equity etc)

No change during the year

At the end of the year 917760 2.65 917760 2.65
2 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra

At the beginning of the year 30010 0.09 30010 0.09
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer/
bonus / sweat equity etc)

No change during the year

At the end of the year 30010 0.09 30010 0.09
3 Mr. Mahesh  Mehra

At the beginning of the year 48110 0.14 48110 0.14
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer/
bonus / sweat equity etc)

No change during the year

At the end of the year 48110 0.14 48110 0.14
4 Mr. Parag Keshar BhaƩacharjee

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer/
bonus / sweat equity etc)

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
5 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer/
bonus / sweat equity etc)

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
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Sl. 
No.

Name of Director and KMP Shareholding at the end of the year CumulaƟve Shareholding during the year

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

No. of shares % of total shares of 
the company

6 Mrs. MinoƟ Nath
At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer/
bonus / sweat equity etc)

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
7 Mr. Tarkeshwar Singh

At the beginning of the year 0 0 0 0
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer/
bonus / sweat equity etc)

0 0 0 0

At the end of the year 0 0 0 0
8 Mr. Tarak Nath Mishra

At the beginning of the year 1500 0 1500 0
Date wise increase/decrease 
in Promoters Shareholding 
during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase/decrease 
(e.g. allotment / transfer/
bonus / sweat equity etc)

No change during the year

At the end of the year 1500 0 1500 0

V.  INDEBTEDNESS
 Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment                (Amount in `)

Secured Loans 
excluding deposits Unsecured Loans Deposits Total

Indebtness at the beginning of 
the financial year
i) Principal Amount  522,439,345  -  -  522,439,345
ii) Interest due but not paid  31,144,730  -  -  31,144,730
iii) Interest accrued but not due  -  -
Total (i+ii+iii)  553,584,075  -  -  553,584,075
Change in Indebtedness during 
the financial year
AddiƟons  61,125,580  -  -  61,125,580
ReducƟon  -  -  -  -
Net Change  61,125,580  -  -  61,125,580
Indebtedness at the end of the 
financial year
i) Principal Amount  591,084,075  -  -  591,084,075
ii) Interest due but not paid  23,625,580  -  -  23,625,580
iii) Interest accrued but not due  -  -  -  -
Total (i+ii+iii)  614,709,655  -  -  614,709,655
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VI.  REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL
 A. RemuneraƟon to Managing Director, Whole Ɵme director and/or Manager:                        (Amount in `)

Sl. 
No.

ParƟculars of RemuneraƟon Managing Director & 
Chief ExecuƟve Officer

Whole-Ɵme Director
Total Amount

Mr. Prashant Mehra Mr. Mahesh Mehra
1 Gross salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained 
in secƟon 17(1) of the Income Tax. 
1961.

15,90,000 11,40,000 27,30,000

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) of 
the Income tax Act, 1961 -- -- --

(c ) Profits in lieu of salary under 
secƟon 17(3) of the Income Tax Act, 
1961

-- -- --

2 Stock opƟon 0 0 0
3 Sweat Equity 0 0 0
4 Commission

as % of profit 0 0 0
others (specify) 0 0 0

5 Others, please specify 0 0 0
Total (A) 15,90,000 11,40,000 27,30,000

Ceiling as per the Act :-      ` 42 Lakhs as per secƟon II of schedule V of Companies Act, 2013 read with  secƟon 197(3) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Schedule V.

 B. RemuneraƟon to other directors:                                                                                                     (Amount in `)
Sl. 

No.
ParƟculars of 
RemuneraƟon

Name of the Directors Total 
AmountChairman/

Non-ExecuƟve 
and Non 

Independent 
Director

Independent Directors

Mr. Ramesh 
Kumar Mehra

Mr. ParagKeshar 
BhaƩacahjee

Mr. Rajesh 
Kumar Agarwal

Mrs. MinoƟNath Mr. SakƟPada 
Banerjee

 1 (a) Fee for aƩending 
board/commiƩee 
meeƟngs

40,500 49,500 52,500 15,000 0
1,57,500

(b) Commission -- -- -- -- -- --
(c ) Others, please 
specify

-- -- -- -- -- --

Total (B) 40500 44500 47500 15,000 0 1,57,500
Total Managerial 
RemuneraƟon 
(A+B)

2,887,500

Ceiling as per the Act: - ` 37 Lakhs as per secƟon 197(5) of Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 4 of The Companies (Appointment 
and RemuneraƟon of managerial Personnel) rules 2014.
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 C. RemuneraƟon To Key Managerial Personnel Other Than MD/Manager/WTD.                     (Amount in `)
Sl. 

No.
ParƟculars of RemuneraƟon Key Managerial Personnel Total Amount

Company Secretary CFO
Mr. Tarkeshwar Singh Mr. TarakNath Mishra

1 Gross Salary
(a) Salary as per provisions contained 
in secƟon 17(1) of the Income Tax Act, 
1961.

310,683 426,480 737,168

 (b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) of 
the Income Tax Act, 1961

-- -- --

 (c ) Profits in lieu of salary under 
secƟon 17(3) of the Income Tax Act, 
1961

-- --
--

2 Stock OpƟon -- -- --
3 Sweat Equity -- -- --
4 Commission -- -- --
 as % of profit -- -- --
 others, specify -- -- --
5 Others, please specify -- -- --
 Total 310,683 426,480 737,168

VII.  PenalƟes/Punishment/Compounding of Offences
Type SecƟon of the 

companies Act
Brief 
descripƟon

Details of 
Penalty/

Punishment/ 
Compounding 
fees imposed

Authority[RD
/NCLT/Court]

Appeal made. If 
any(give details)

A.  Company
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding
B. Directors
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding
C. Other Officers In Default
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding

NIL
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Annexure VI to the

Directors’ report
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

Form No. MR-3
For The Financial Year Ended on 31st March, 2015

(Pursuant to secƟon 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule No.9 of the Companies
(Appointment and RemuneraƟon Personnel)  Rules, 2014)

To,
The Members,
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Ltd.

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of all applicable statutory provisions and adherence 
to good corporate pracƟces by M/s. Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Ltd (hereinaŌer called 
the “Company”). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluaƟng 
the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my opinion thereon.

The Company’s Management is responsible for preparaƟon and maintenance of secretarial records and for 
devising proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of applicable laws and RegulaƟons.

Based on our verificaƟon of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other 
records maintained by the Company and also the informaƟon provided by the Company, its officers, agents and 
authorized representaƟves during the conduct of secretarial audit. We hereby report that in our opinion, the 
Company has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended on 31st March, 2015, complied with the 
statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-
mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporƟng made hereinaŌer

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the 
Company for the financial year ended on 31st March, 2015, to the extent applicable, according to the provisions 
of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder ;

(ii) The SecuriƟes Contracts (RegulaƟon) Act, 1956 (SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder;

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the RegulaƟons and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulaƟons made thereunder to the extent of 
Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings: The Provisions 
of FEMA Act, 1999 and the rules and regulaƟons made thereunder were not applicable to the Company for 
the financial year ended 31st March, 2015;

(v) The RegulaƟons and Guidelines prescribed under the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 
('SEBI Act') viz.:- 

 a) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (SubstanƟal AcquisiƟon of Shares and Takeovers) RegulaƟons, 
2011;

 b) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (ProhibiƟon of Insider Trading) RegulaƟons, 1992;

 c) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 
2009;

 d) The SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents)     
RegulaƟons, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

 e) The SecuriƟes & Exchange Board of India (Issue and lisƟng of Debt securiƟes) RegulaƟons, 2008;

 f) The SecuriƟes & Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) RegulaƟons, 
1993;

 g) The SecuriƟes & Exchange Board of India (DelisƟng of Equity Shares) RegulaƟons, 2009;

 h) The SecuriƟes & Exchange Board of India (Buy back of SecuriƟes) RegulaƟons, 1998;
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vi) As idenƟfied by the Management, no specific laws/ acts are applicable to the Company since there is no 
direct real estate project in the Company.  

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following, to the extent applicable:

a) Secretarial Standards issued by The InsƟtute of Company Secretaries of India. (Not noƟfied hence not 
applicable to the Company during the audit period)

b) The LisƟng Agreements entered into by the Company with NaƟonal Stock Exchange of India Ltd (NSE) & with 
Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd (BSE).

c)  The Company has complied with the provisions of the SecuriƟes and Exchange Board of India  (ProhibiƟon 
of Insider Trading) RegulaƟons, 1992 including the provisions with regard to disclosures and maintenance of 
records required under the RegulaƟons;

d) The Company has complied with the provisions of the SEBI (Depositories and ParƟcipant) RegulaƟons,1996 
including submiƫng of ReconciliaƟon of Share Capital Audit Reports;

e) There were no issues during the year which required specific compliance of the provisions of the SecuriƟes 
and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) RegulaƟons, 2009;

f) There were no issues during the year which required specific compliance of the provisions of the SecuriƟes 
Contracts (RegulaƟon) Act, 1956 (SCRA) and the Rules made under that Act.

 During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, RegulaƟons, 
Guidelines, Standards, etc. menƟoned above.

We further report that,

a) The Board of Directors of the Company is duly consƟtuted with proper balance of ExecuƟve Directors, Non-
ExecuƟve Directors and Independent Directors. The changes in the composiƟon of the Board of Directors 
that took place during the period under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.

b) Adequate noƟce is given to all directors to schedule the Board MeeƟngs, agenda and detailed notes on 
agenda were sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further 
informaƟon and clarificaƟons on the agenda items before the meeƟng and for meaningful parƟcipaƟon at 
the meeƟng.

c) None of the directors in any meeƟng dissented on any resoluƟon and hence there was no instance of 
recording any dissenƟng member’s view in the minutes

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size 
and operaƟons of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulaƟons and 
guidelines.

We further report that during the audit period the Company has passed a special resoluƟon for approval to to 
borrow money, where money to be borrowed together with the amount already borrowed by the Company 
exceeds aggregate of its paid share capital and free reserves under secƟon 180(1) (c) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
which authorizes the Board to exercise powers in relaƟon thereto, but presently does not have a major bearing 
on the Company’s affairs.

For Rinku Gupta & Associates
CS Rinku Gupta

PracƟcing Company Secretary
 Partner 
Place: Kolkata  ACS No. 25068
Date: 13th day of August, 2015  COP No. 9248
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ECONOMIC OVERVIEW

Over the last four years, the Infrastructure Sector in India has been sluggish with several players facing a sharp 
downturn in their businesses. While the government has made an effort to boost the economy with a push coming 
to infrastructure, the effects of the same are yet to be seen. Projects are fraught with land issues. Financing of 
infrastructure projects has become extremely Ɵght as several infrastructure players being unable to service and 
repay their debt obligaƟons.

Companies have had to abruptly realign their business models with a focus shiŌing from top line growth to 
operaƟonal efficiencies and cash generaƟon for short-term obligaƟons. Such effects has a spiraling effects down 
from larger companies to smaller ones who have in turn not been able to realize cash flows as projected and have 
entered into turbulent unforeseen waters. 

INDIA’S INFRASTRUCTURE SECTOR

India, to conƟnue to grow, needs to invest heavily in creaƟng physical infrastructure of the kind that can support 
its growth aspiraƟons. Infrastructure growth is a precursor for industrial growth and the demand for the provision 
of power, transportaƟon and logisƟcs go hand in hand with growth of the economy. The InternaƟonal Monetary 
Fund (IMF) esƟmates that overall infrastructure investment in the country would need to be increased to around 
8% of the GPD from the current 5% - 6% levels by the 2020 and beyond to sustain the needs of the Indian 
economy. 

Keeping in line with their focus on infrastructure growth, the Government of India has significantly increased 
allocaƟon of funds by ` 70,000 crore for investments in infrastructure in the Union Budget 2015-16. However, 
infrastructure projects have a longer gestaƟon and newly announced projects would take Ɵme to materialize as 
they may face land acquisiƟon, environmental hurdles and other problems similar to several stalled projects in 
the country. A concerted effort needs to also be placed on long pending disputes and their resoluƟons.  According 
to the Government of India’s Economic Survey 2014-15, the rate of stalled projects has increased alarmingly in 
the last five years. By December 2014, the total value of stalled projects across sectors was about US$139 billion 
with the top 100 projects accounƟng for 83% of the total value of stalled works. 

To further delve into the major factors influencing stalled projects, while electricity and power projects have 
been stalled largely due to non-availability of fuel/coal, the road sector has faced land acquisiƟon delays along. 
Environmental clearances have brought several real estate, infrastructure and road sector projects to a grinding 
halt. 

The significant increase in stalled projects and their conƟnued hindrances have created an environment of 
uncertainty. Several projects have been stalled mid-way causing the investment in them in turn becoming 
difficult to recuperate and loans taken turning bad. The Government needs to place larger stress on resolving 
older disputes and hindrances to bring the stalled projects out of liƟgaƟon and restart progress on the same to 
create an environment conducive for infrastructure growth. NegoƟaƟon commiƩees have been put in place in 
organizaƟons like NHAI and more efforts of the sort needs to be in place with other government bodies to bring 
disputes to a closure as early as possible. 

BUSINESS STRATEGY

Like several other companies in the infrastructure space, your Company has also been a vicƟm of very challenging 
unforeseen circumstances. In order to execute the projects at hand in the prior years, your company had to 
borrow from banks similar to others in the industry. However with cash flows and payments becoming hard to 
come by the debt burden had become very difficult to service. With profits declining and converƟng to losses 
resulƟng from payment delays and several large projects being stuck in liƟgaƟon and disputes with clients, in 
order to bridge the cash flow mismatch your company had opted from restructuring its debt obligaƟons with its 
bankers in 2013 to obtain interest servicing moratorium and deferment of debt obligaƟons. 

However, the downturn has conƟnued for longer than anƟcipated and realizaƟon of debts becoming harder to 
come by with several debts turning unrecoverable and hence wriƩen off. To Ɵde with these difficult Ɵmes, your 
Company has approached its bankers for a second debt restructuring which is in consideraƟon by the bankers. 
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Simultaneously your company has heavily increasingly focused on cash flows and growing order book to revive 
the business and have a parallel income stream while the old debtors realizaƟon and their related liƟgaƟons take 
Ɵme. Your company is focusing increasingly on operaƟonal efficiencies and pressing its legiƟmate claims on the 
clients while keeping a balance between recoverable amounts, ability of clients to pay along with the cost of 
such liƟgaƟon and arbitraƟons. Efforts are also being given to moneƟze non core assets and exploring alternaƟve 
businesses that can generate sustainable cash flows meanwhile. 

Your Company has taken several steps on all these fronts during 2014-15 and conƟnues to do so. However, the 
efforts and opportuniƟes for their success, as those by others in this business, have been largely determined 
by the prevailing business environment and market condiƟons which, remains both problemaƟc and uncertain.

OPPORTUNITY & THREATS

Government iniƟaƟves for development of infrastructure projects to boost Indian economy offers further 
prospects of increase in Company’s order book.Business in partnership with internaƟonal collaborators seeking 
to enter the country remains a large opportunity. Infrastructure Technology innovaƟon, parƟcularly in the 
affordable housing sector which is expected to see a large boom has the potenƟal of increasing the speed of 
execuƟon while simultaneously reducing the cost of construcƟon and thus increasing margins. 

Having said that, “Realty & Infrastructure” on the ground is not moving with the same pace as the talks. The 
sector has been demanding a single window clearance to improve ease of doing business, which sƟll remains to 
be implemented by the Government. Everyone is awaiƟng the full policy announcement on small ciƟes concept 
so that this wonderful iniƟaƟve can be put in place in full. It will not be out of place to menƟon that unƟl and 
unless industry status is granted to the real estate sector, this sector will face severe difficulƟes in raising cheaper 
funds.

RISK AND INTERNAL ADEQUACY

Your Company has an elaborate Risk Management procedure addressing management of business related risks, 
operaƟon risks and efficiencies as well as policy and statutory compliances. Risks idenƟfied by in these key areas 
as well as others are systemaƟcally taken up and acƟons for their miƟgaƟon are discussed and implemented as 
an ongoing process of conƟnuous improvement. Some of the idenƟfied risks also relate to compeƟƟon and price 
variaƟons and fluctuaƟons over the tenure of the contracts undertaken.

The Company’s internal control systems are commensurate with the nature of its business and the size and 
complexity of operaƟons. They are rouƟnely evaluated by your Company and audits are conducted. Significant 
audit observaƟons and resultant steps are taken up and reported to the Audit CommiƩee which in turn assesses 
the adequacy and effecƟveness of the controls in place and makes recommendaƟon for alteraƟons and changes 
as may be required to strengthen the internal controls and risk management policies/systems.

HUMAN RESOURCE

With a focus on increasing operaƟonal efficiencies and keeping costs in control the hiring policy of the company 
was methodically thought out and focus was given on increasing output and efficiencies of exisƟng human 
resources either by reallocaƟon of work load or cross leveraging team efforts to deliver such efficiencies. Only 
extremely criƟcal manpower was inducted while focus on manpower retenƟon was increased. With the new 
projects in place, addiƟonal human resource may be required in the future and the same shall be inducted 
commensurate with the augmenƟng business and work pressures. 

Disclosures with respect to the remuneraƟon of Directors and employees as required under SecƟon 197 of 
Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 5 Companies (Appointment and RemuneraƟon of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014 is annexed with Board Report.
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DISCUSSION ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

For the financial year ended 31st March, 2015, your Company has earned Income from operaƟons stood at 
`608.48 Lacs as against ` 1580.98 Lacs in the previous year.

Expenditure

Your company’s total expenditure comprising of administraƟve cost, employee benefit cost, depreciaƟon, 
material consumed including other expenses was ` 742.08 Lacs for year ended 31st March, 2015 as comparing 
to ` 2324.56 Lacs in the previous year.

Interest

Interest expenses stood at ` 657.50 Lacs (previous year figure was ` 634.00 Lacs)

Profit before tax (PBT)

PBT is ` (744.87)Lacs for the current year from ` (1401.58) Lacs in the previous year.

Profit aŌer tax

Your company’s profit aŌer tax is ` (727.86)Lacs for the year ended March 31, 2015 from ` (1398.89) Lacs as 
compared to the previous year.

EPS

The earnings per share for the current year stood at ` (2.10) as compared to ` (4.04) per equity share in the 
previous year.

Consolidated Financials

The current year results include the results of the companies including subsidiaries, step down subsidiaries and 
associates & JV. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been drawn as per the AccounƟng Standards 21, 
23 and 27 issued by the InsƟtute of Chartered Accountants of India. These companies operate broadly in a) 
ConstrucƟon of roads, bridges and infrastructure development b) Housing Development c) Renewable Energy 
Power Projects and d) Other sectors.

COMPANY’S KEY DEVELOPMENT

The Company is primarily in the business of Engineering Procurement and ConstrucƟon and the financial results 
are largely related to this. An increased focus has been given to strategically increase order book and change the 
nature of business from being purely a contracƟng business to preparaƟon for more developer role projects in 
the long term. 

Focus on increasing efficiencies and reducƟon of overhead costs is a conƟnuous process. A renewed focus on 
handling disputes and liƟgaƟon has also been put in place and is monitored directly by the senior management 
to put fort legiƟmate claims on disputed projects. As a first step effort conciliaƟon and amicable seƩlement 
processes are explored to reduce the Ɵme of such dispute seƩlements and reducƟon related costs failing with 
necessary legal recourses are taken up via arbitraƟon/approaching the courts of law for realizaƟon of dues and 
claims. 

The company’s efforts on the power sector are conƟnued to be its focus. While the solar business is yet to 
materially take off, a well thought out strategy keeping cash flows in mind is orchestrated to ensure that such 
businesses, when implemented are shielded from cash flow crisis stemming from the regular infrastructure EPC 
business. Accordingly business development in these areas are being taken up.

The Company has always had a strong contracts management department. Considerable effort is put into 
analyzing and understanding contracts in terms of commitments, responsibiliƟes, risks and returns. 

Management Discussion and Analysis Report (Contd.)



page

35

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

SEGMENT WISE PERFORMANCE

The infrastructure business has remained the largest business, although the road sector business has significantly 
diminished with projects in the building construcƟon business increasing in the mix. Overall income from contracts 
stood at ̀  608.34 Lakh, being 99.97% of total revenue as compared to 9.77% of total revenue in the previous year. 

The hotel business revenue stood at ` 0.15 Lakh, being 0.03% of total revenue as compared to 0.23% of total 
revenue in the previous year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND THEIR ADEQUACY

The Company as an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the resources of the Company are 
used efficiently and effecƟvely, all assets are safeguarded and protected against loss from unauthorized use 
or disposiƟon and the transacƟons are authorized, recorded and reported correctly, financial and other data 
are reliable for preparing financial informaƟon and other data and for maintaining accountability of assets. The 
internal control is supplemented by extensive programme of internal audits, review by management, documented 
policies, guidelines and procedures. 

SEXUAL HARASSMENT AT WORKPLACE

For protecƟon against sexual harassment, the Company has formed an internal compliance commiƩee to which 
employees can write their complaints. However, so far, no complaint has been received by the said internal 
compliance commiƩee.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT 

Statements in this Management Discussion and Analysis describing the Company’s objecƟves, projecƟons, 
esƟmates and expectaƟons may be ‘Forward Looking Statements’ within the meaning of applicable laws and 
regulaƟons. Actual results might differ substanƟally or materially from those expressed or implied. Important 
developments that could affect the Company’s operaƟons include a downtrend in the infrastructure sector, 
significant changes in poliƟcal and economic environment in India, exchange rate fluctuaƟons, tax laws, liƟgaƟon, 
labour relaƟons and interest costs.
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Report on Corporate Governance
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Your Company’s corporate governance structure plays a pivotal role in realizing this long term goal. It provides 
the fundamental systems, processes and principles that promote objecƟve decision making, performance 
based management and a corporate culture that is characterized by integrity and fairness in all dealings. 
CriƟcal to this, is the high degree of transparency in disclosures across all levels of stakeholder engagement, 
which are periodically done while maintaining the importance of reserving compeƟƟve informaƟon from being 
disseminated.

1.  PHILOSPHY OF  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Your Company prides itself on being a responsible corporate ciƟzen which is commiƩed to running its business 
in the best possible manner while being completely transparent, complying with all relevant rules & regulaƟons 
and contribuƟng to society at large. The Company adheres to the highest ethical standard which is combined with 
an unwavering commitment to certain core values – transparency, fairness in all dealings, honesty of purpose, 
quality consciousness and customer saƟsfacƟon. . 
2. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Your Company is managed by a Board of Directors consist of an opƟmum combinaƟon of ExecuƟve and Non-
ExecuƟve Directors a judicious mix of professionalism, knowledge and experience. The Non-ExecuƟve Directors 
consƟtuƟng more than fiŌy percent of the total strength of the Board. 
In compliance with the Corporate Governance norms, your Company’s Board of Directors headed by its Non- 
ExecuƟve and Non-Independent Chairman Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra, comprises of five other Directors (out of 
which two are ExecuƟve Director and three are Non-ExecuƟve Independent Directors).
None of the Directors on the Board is a member of more than 10 commiƩees or Chairman of more than 5 
commiƩees across all companies in which he is a Director. Necessary disclosures with regard to membership of 
commiƩees have been made by the Directors.
The composiƟon of the Board as on 31st March, 2015 was as under:

Name of Director Business 
relaƟonship

DIN Category of 
Directorship

No. of Directorships 
in other public limited 

companies#

No. of CommiƩee posiƟons held in 
other Public Companies as ##
Chairman Member

Mr. Ramesh Kumar 
Mehra*

Non-ExecuƟve 
Chairman

00086598 Promoter,
Non-Independent, 

Non-ExecuƟve
2 – –

Mr. Prashant Mehra* Managing 
Director

00086725 Promoter, 
Non-Independent, 

ExecuƟve
2 – –

Mr. Mahesh Mehra* Whole-Ɵme 
Director

00086683 Promoter, 
Non-Independent, 

ExecuƟve
0 – –

Mr. Rajesh Kumar 
Agarwal

Director 00431195 Independent, 
Non-ExecuƟve 0 – –

Mr. Parag Keshar 
BhaƩacharjee

Director 00081899 Independent, 
Non-ExecuƟve 4 – 5

Mrs. MinoƟ Nath% Director 07017530 Independent, 
Non- ExecuƟve 0 – –

Mr. SakƟ Pada 
Banerjee@

Director 01629690 Independent, 
Non- ExecuƟve 0 – –

NOTES:       
# Other Directorship other than Kaushalya Infrastructure Dev Corp Limited and does not include alternate 
directorship, directorship of private companies, SecƟon 8 companies and of other companies incorporated 
outside India.
## Includes the Membership/Chairmanship of only Audit CommiƩee and Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee.
@ Mr. SakƟ Pada Banerjee has resigned from the Directorship of Company w.e.f. 25th June, 2014.
% appointed as Woman Independent Director w.e.f. 13th November, 2014.
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* In terms of clause 49(VIII)(E)(2), it is hereby disclosed that Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra is the father of Mr. Prashant 
Mehra and brother Mr. Mahesh Mehra. Other than this, none of the other Directors are in any way related to any 
other Director as per secƟon 2(77) of Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 2014.
The composiƟon of the Board and other provisions as to Board and CommiƩees are in compliance with the 
clause 49. All the independent directors qualify the condiƟons for being independent director as prescribed 
under Clause 49 and SecƟon 149 of the Companies Act, 2013. No Director is related to any other director, 
except Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra, Mr. Prashant Mehra and Mr. Mahesh, who are related to each other, as 
Mr.  Ramesh Kumar Mehra is the father of Mr. Prashant Mehra and brother of Mr. Mahesh Mehra. The Company 
has conducted familiarisaƟon programme for the Independent Directors of the Company. The details of 
familiarisaƟon programme are disclosed in the website of the Company at web-link- hƩp://www.kaushalya.net/
INDEPENDENTDIRECTORS.pdf. The Director is also explained in detail the compliances required from him under 
the Companies Act, Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement and other relevant RegulaƟons. The Board has devised 
proper system to ensure compliance with the provisions of applicable laws and periodically reviews compliance 
reports of all laws applicable to the Company and necessary steps are being taken to ensure the compliance in 
law and spirit.
During the year 2014-15, 6(Six) Board MeeƟngs were held. The Company held at least one meeƟng in every 
quarter and the Ɵme gap between two board meeƟngs did not exceed 120 days as prescribed under Clause 49 
and Companies Act, 2013. The details are follows:- 
The previous Annual General MeeƟng was held on September 30, 2014.
No. of Board MeeƟngs, aƩendance at Board MeeƟngs & previous Annual General MeeƟng:

Name of Director AƩendance at the Board MeeƟngs held on AƩendance at 
the AGM held 
on 30.09.2014

30.05.2014 25.06.2014 13.08.2014 29.08.2014 13.11.2014 14.02.2015

Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr. Prashant Mehra Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr. Mahesh Mehra Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr. Parag Keshar 
BhaƩacharjee

Yes No Yes No Yes Yes Yes

Mrs. MinoƟ Nath# NA NA NA NA Yes Yes NA
Mr. SakƟ Pada Banerjee@ No No NA NA NA NA NA

# appointed as woman independent Director w.e.f. 13th November, 2014.
@ resigned from directorship w.e.f. from 25th June, 2014.
3. BOARD COMMITTEES
 In compliance with both the mandatory and non- mandatory requirements under Clause 49 of the 

LisƟng Agreement and the applicable laws, your Company’s Board of Directors consƟtuted the following 
CommiƩees:

 i)  Audit CommiƩee
  ii)  NominaƟon & RemuneraƟon CommiƩee
  iii)  Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee
  vi)  ExecuƟve CommiƩee
 The Chairman of the Board, in consultaƟon with the Company Secretary and the respecƟve Chairman of 

these CommiƩees, determines the frequency of the meeƟngs of these CommiƩees. The recommendaƟons 
of the CommiƩees are submiƩed to the Board for approval.
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 i. Audit CommiƩee
  The composiƟon of the Audit CommiƩee is in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 

and Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement. The Audit CommiƩee acts as the link between the Statutory and 
the Internal Auditors and the Board of Directors. The present terms of reference of the Audit CommiƩee 
includes the powers as laid out in Clause 49(III)(C) and role as sƟpulated in Clause 49(III)(D) of the 
LisƟng Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. The Audit CommiƩee also reviews informaƟon as per the 
requirement of Clause 49(III)(E) of the LisƟng Agreement. 

  The Audit CommiƩee also complies with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and act in 
accordance with the terms of reference specified by the Board which shall inter alia include:

  (i) RecommendaƟon for appointment, remuneraƟon and terms of appointment of Auditors of the 
Company;

  (ii)  Review and monitor the Auditor’s independence and performance, and effecƟveness of Audit 
process;

  (iii) ExaminaƟon of the financial statement and the auditors’ report thereon; 
  (iv) Approval or any subsequent modificaƟons of transacƟons of the Company with related parƟes;
  (v) ScruƟny of inter-corporate loans and investments;
  (vi)  ValuaƟon of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it is necessary; 
  (vii) EvaluaƟon of internal financial controls and risk management systems; 
  (viii) Monitoring the end use of funds raised through public offers and related maƩers; 
  (ix) To establish a vigil mechanism that will provide for adequate safeguards against the vicƟmizaƟon of 

persons who use such mechanism and make provision for direct access to the chairperson of Audit 
CommiƩee in appropriate or excepƟonal cases; 

  (x) To perform such other funcƟons as prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013.
  The brief descripƟons of the terms of reference of the Audit CommiƩee in line with the Clause 49 of 

the LisƟng Agreement are: 
  1.  Oversight of the Company’s financial reporƟng process and the disclosure of its financial informaƟon 

to ensure that the financial statements are correct, sufficient and credible; 
  2.  RecommendaƟon for appointment, remuneraƟon and terms of appointment of auditors of the 

Company;
   3.  Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory auditors;
   4.  Reviewing, with the management, the annual financial statements and auditor’s report thereon 

before submission to the board for approval, with parƟcular reference to: 
   a.  MaƩers required to be included in the Director’s Responsibility Statement to be included in 

the Board’s report in terms of clause (c) of sub-secƟon 3 of secƟon 134 of the Companies Act, 
2013; 

   b.  Changes, if any, in accounƟng policies and pracƟces and reasons for the same;
    c.  Major accounƟng entries involving esƟmates based on the exercise of judgment by 

management; 
   d.  Significant adjustments made in the financial statements arising out of audit findings;
    e.  Compliance with lisƟng and other legal requirements relaƟng to financial statements; 
   f.  Disclosure of any related party transacƟons; 
   g.  QualificaƟons in the draŌ audit report; 
  5.  Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly financial statements before submission to the 

board for approval;
  6.  Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses/ applicaƟon of funds raised through an 

issue (public issue, rights issue, preferenƟal issue, etc.), the statement of funds uƟlised for purposes 
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other than those stated in the offer document/ prospectus/ noƟce and the report submiƩed by the 
monitoring agency monitoring the uƟlisaƟon of proceeds of a public or rights issue, and making 
appropriate recommendaƟons to the Board to take up steps in this maƩer; 

  7.  Review and monitor the auditor’s independence and performance, and effecƟveness of audit 
process; 

  8.  Approval or any subsequent modificaƟon of transacƟons of the Company with related parƟes; 
  9. ValuaƟon of undertaking or assets of the Company, wherever necessary
  10.  ScruƟny of inter-corporate loans and investments; 
  11.  ValuaƟon of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it is necessary; 
  12.  EvaluaƟon of internal financial controls and risk management systems;
  13.  Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, adequacy of the 

internal control systems; 
  14.  Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit funcƟon, if any, including the structure of the internal 

audit department, staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, reporƟng structure 
coverage and frequency of internal audit; 

  15.  Discussion with internal auditors of any significant findings and follow up there on; 
  16.  Reviewing the findings of any internal invesƟgaƟons by the internal auditors into maƩers where 

there is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature 
and reporƟng the maƩer to the board; 

  17.  Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope of 
audit as well as post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern;

  18.  To look into the reasons for substanƟal defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture 
holders, shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors; 

  19.  To review the funcƟoning of the Whistle Blower mechanism; 
  20.  Approval of appointment of CFO (i.e., the whole-Ɵme Finance Director or any other person heading 

the finance funcƟon or discharging that funcƟon) aŌer assessing the qualificaƟons, experience and 
background, etc. of the candidate; 

  21.  Carrying out any other funcƟon as is menƟoned in the terms of reference of the Audit CommiƩee. 
  The Audit CommiƩee may also review such maƩers as considered appropriate by it or referred to it by 

the Board.
ComposiƟon, MeeƟng and AƩendance
The Audit CommiƩee of the Company comprises three directors – two of whom are Independent, Non-ExecuƟve 
and one is Promoter, ExecuƟve. All of them are experts in corporate finance, accounts and corporate law. The 
Chairman of the CommiƩee is an Independent Non-ExecuƟve Director, nominated by the Board. The Company 
Secretary acts as the secretary to the CommiƩee. The Chief Financial Officer, the Statutory Auditor, and the Internal 
Auditor of the Company are invitees at the meeƟngs of the CommiƩee. The internal auditor directly report to 
the audit commiƩee. The composiƟon of the Audit CommiƩee meets the requirement of the Clause 49 and the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. During the year ended 31st March, 2015, four Audit CommiƩee meeƟngs 
were held on May 30, 2014, August 13, 2014, November 13, 2014 and February 14, 2015. The composiƟon and 
aƩendance of the members of the Audit CommiƩee are as follows:

Name of the Member PosiƟon No. of MeeƟngs
Held AƩended

Mr. Parag Keshar BhaƩacharjee# Chairman, Independent, Non-ExecuƟve 4 4
Mr. Prashant Mehra Member,  Promoter, ExecuƟve 4 4
Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal Member, Independent, Non-ExecuƟve 4 4

# Appointment of Chairman on 13th August, 2015
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 ii. RemuneraƟon CommiƩees/NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee
  The NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee idenƟfy persons who are qualified to become Directors 

and who may be appointed in senior management in accordance with the criteria laid down, recommend 
to the board their appointment and removal and carry out evaluaƟon of every director’s performance. 
The NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee formulated the criteria for determining qualificaƟons, 
posiƟve aƩributes and independence of a director and recommended to the Board a policy, relaƟng to 
remuneraƟon for the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and other employees. It shall also carry out 
such other funcƟons as may be required under the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the lisƟng 
agreement.

  As on 31st March, 2015, the NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee comprises of three directors, 
all of whom are Non-ExecuƟve Directors and more than half are Independent Directors. The members 
of the commiƩee are Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal, Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra and Mr. Parag Keshar 
BhaƩacharje is the Chairman of the CommiƩee.

  During the year ended 31st March, 2015, one meeƟng of the NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee 
were held on 29th August, 2014. 

  The composiƟon and aƩendance of the members of the NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee 
are as follows:

Sl. 
No.

Name of Director PosiƟon No. of MeeƟngs
Held AƩended

1 Mr. Parag Keshar BhaƩacharjee Chairman, Independent, Non-ExecuƟve 1 1
2 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal Member,  Independent, Non-ExecuƟve 1 1
3 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra Member, Promoter, Non-ExecuƟve 1 1

The Company Secretary acts as a Secretary to the NominaƟon & RemuneraƟon CommiƩee. 
Terms of Reference of the CommiƩee, inter alia, includes the following:  

 To idenƟfy persons who are qualified to become Directors and who may be appointed in senior management 
in accordance with the criteria laid down and to recommend to the Board their appointment and/ or removal;

 To formulate criteria for and carry out evaluaƟon of Independent Directors and the Board;
 To formulate the criteria for determining qualificaƟons, posiƟve aƩributes and independence of a Director 

and recommend to the Board a policy, relaƟng to the remuneraƟon for the Directors, key managerial 
personnel and other employees;

 To devise a policy on Board diversity; 
 To carry out any other funcƟon as is mandated by the Board from Ɵme to Ɵme and / or enforced by any 

statutory noƟficaƟon, amendment or modificaƟon, as may be applicable.
RemuneraƟon policy
RemuneraƟon Policy IntroducƟon – The RemuneraƟon Policy is designed to aƩract, moƟvate and retain talented 
employees in a compeƟƟve market. The purpose of the remuneraƟon policy are to moƟvate employees to excel 
in their performance, recognise their contribuƟon, retain talent in the organisaƟon, reward merits and protect 
organisaƟonal stability & flexibility and create sustainable long term value for the shareholders. 
Therefore, the Company formulated the RemuneraƟon Policy with the following objecƟves: 
(i) Ensuring that the level and composiƟon of remuneraƟon is reasonable and sufficient to aƩract, retain and 

moƟvate directors of the quality required to run the Company successfully; 
(ii) Ensuring that the relaƟonship of remuneraƟon to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance 

benchmarks; and 
(iii) Ensuring that the remuneraƟon involves a balance between fixed and incenƟve pay reflecƟng short and 

long-term performance objecƟves appropriate to the working of the Company and its goals. 
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However, occasions may arise where it is appropriate to act differently than set out in this Policy in excepƟonal 
cases due to some extra-ordinary talent of the candidate and for outstanding performance. The RemuneraƟon 
Policy applies to the Company’s directors, key managerial personnel and other employees.
Criteria for remuneraƟon – The RemuneraƟon Policy reflects balance between the interests of Kaushalya main 
stakeholders as well as a balance between the Company’s short-term and long-term strategy. As a result, the 
structure of the remuneraƟon package for the Managing Board and senior execuƟves are designed to balance 
short-term operaƟonal performance with the medium and long-term objecƟve of creaƟng sustainable value 
within the Company. The Company strives for a high performance in the field of sustainability and aims to 
maintain a good balance between economic gain, respect for people and concern for the environment in line 
with the Kaushalya values and business principles to ensure that highly skilled and qualified senior execuƟves can 
be aƩracted and retained. The Company aims for a total remuneraƟon level that is comparable to levels provided 
by other companies that are similar to Kaushalya in terms of size and complexity.
The following elements shall be considered for payment of remuneraƟon to ExecuƟve Directors, KMP and other 
employees: 
Industry Average, RemuneraƟon drawn by peers considering nature and volume of responsibiliƟes, QualificaƟon, 
Experience, Immediate previous posiƟon held in earlier organisaƟon & responsibiliƟes occupied, responsibiliƟes 
shouldered in the Company, contribuƟon made in the Company, any achievements, rewards or recogniƟons, 
behavioral paƩerns and work ethics, evaluaƟon of performance, etc.
RemuneraƟon to ExecuƟve Directors & Non-ExecuƟve Directors – The remuneraƟon of the ExecuƟve Directors 
consists of salary and perquisites. The Managing Director and Whole-Ɵme Director. The salary and perquisites 
shall be recommended by the NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee for approval by the Board of Directors. 
AŌer approval from the Board of Directors shareholder’s approval will be sought. The Non-execuƟve Directors 
are enƟtled for siƫng fees for aƩending each Board of Directors meeƟng and commiƩee meeƟng. The siƫng 
fees shall be recommended by the NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee for approval by the Board of 
Directors. ThereaŌer, shareholder’s approval shall be sought for payment of commission to the NonexecuƟve 
Directors. Any review of the remuneraƟon to ExecuƟve Directors and Non-execuƟve Directors shall be on the 
basis of performance evaluaƟon of directors and as per recommendaƟon of the NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon 
CommiƩee. The salary, perquisites and commission to ExecuƟve Directors and commission & siƫng fees to 
Non-execuƟve Directors shall be subject to provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 including prescribed Rules & 
Schedules thereunder and the LisƟng agreement.
RemuneraƟon to KMP, Senior ExecuƟves and other employees – In order to aƩract and retain managerial 
experƟse, the elements of the remuneraƟon of the KMP & senior execuƟves are determined on the basis of the 
work they do and the value they create as well as of the condiƟons in other similar companies. Each element of 
the remuneraƟon has been weighted in order to ensure a conƟnuous posiƟve development of the Company both 
in the short and long-term as well as of the employees to enhance producƟvity.
RemuneraƟon of employees largely consists of base remuneraƟon, perquisites, bonus, exgraƟa, etc. The 
components of the total remuneraƟon vary for different cadres/ grades are governed by industry paƩern, 
qualificaƟon and experience of the employee, responsibiliƟes handled by him, individual performance, among 
others. Employees/workers may be granted advance/loan with or without interest in case of genuine needs 
like- Medical, educaƟon, housing, marriage or for any other genuine purpose, subject to in conformity with the 
applicable laws and regulaƟons as amended from Ɵme to Ɵme. The remuneraƟon to employees/workers shall 
also comply with the applicable regulaƟons and policies of the respecƟve governments. 
However, the Company may give compensaƟon in the form of reward or incenƟve to any employee for any 
outstanding or extraordinary performance by him which is over and above the benchmark set for him during any 
year. 
Annual appraisal of performance of KMP, senior execuƟves and other employees shall be done by the respecƟve 
reporƟng authority/ head of the department in associaƟon with Managing Director. Based on such performance 
evaluaƟon any increase in remuneraƟon shall be done.
Review – The NominaƟon & RemuneraƟon CommiƩee shall review the RemuneraƟon Policy and shall 
recommend to the Board amendments to these guidelines as it deems appropriate. The Non-execuƟve Directors 
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are remunerated by way of siƫng fees of ` 5000/- for aƩending each Board of Directors meeƟng and ` 3500/- for 
aƩending each commiƩee meeƟng. The Company pays remuneraƟon by way of salary to its Managing and Whole 
Time Director. The remuneraƟon paid is within the limit specified under the Companies Act, 2013 real with its 
rule & Schedule V and approved by the Board as well as by the shareholders of the Company.
Criteria for payment to Non-ExecuƟve Directors     
As per the present policy, the Company does not pay any remuneraƟon to any Independent Director except 
siƫng fees for aƩending the meeƟngs of the Board / CommiƩees. 
During the year, there were no pecuniary relaƟonships or transacƟons between the Company and any of its Non-
execuƟve Directors except payment of siƫng fees. The Company has not granted any stock opƟon to any of its 
Non-execuƟve Directors.
The details of siƫng fees for the Financial Year 2014-15 paid to the Non-ExecuƟve Directors & their shareholding 
in the Company are as under;                                                                                                           (Amount in `)

Sl.No Name of Directors Category Siƫng fees (`) No. of shares 
held as on

31st March, 
2015

Board 
MeeƟng

CommiƩee MeeƟng/
Seprate MeeƟng 
of Independent 

Directors
1 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal Non-ExecuƟve Independent 30,000/- 22,500/- NIL
2 Mr. Parag Keshar BhaƩacharjee Non-ExecuƟve Independent 20,000/- 29,500/- NIL
3 Mr. SakƟ Pada Banerjee@ Non-ExecuƟve Independent – – NIL
4 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra Non-ExecuƟve 

Non-Independent 30,000/- 10,500/- 30,010

5. Mrs. MinoƟ Nath# Non-ExecuƟve Independent 10,000/- 5,000/- NIL
@ resigned from the directorship w.e.f. 25th June, 2014.
# appointed as director w.e.f. 13th November, 2014.
RemuneraƟon/Siƫng Fees paid to ExecuƟve and Non-ExecuƟve Directors of the Company during the Financial 
Year ended March 31, 2015 are detailed as under:
ExecuƟve Directors:                                                                                                                                                  (Amount in `)

Name of Director Salary  & 
Perquisites 

Commission Siƫng Fees Total Period of Contract NoƟce 
Period

No. of Shares 
held as on 
31.03.2015

From To

Mr. Prashant Mehra  @ 15,90,000/- – – 15,90,000/- 01.10.2014 30.09.2017 2 Months 917760
Mr. Mahesh Mehra 11,40,000/- – – 11,40,000/- 04.09.2012 03.09.2017 2 Months 48110
@ Mr. Prashant Mehra re-appointed as Managing Director for further term of 3(three) years w.e.f. 01.10.2014 
to 30.09.2017 on meeƟng of Board of Directors held on 29th August, 2014 with NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon 
CommiƩee recommendaƟon and shareholders’ approval in Annual General MeeƟng held on 30/09/2014. 
iii. Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee
 The Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee considers and resolves the grievances of security holders of 

the Company. The Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee shall also oversee the redressal of shareholders’ 
and investors’ grievances in relaƟon to the transfer of shares, non-receipt of annual report, non-receipt of 
declared dividend, all such complaints directly concerning the shareholders/investors as stakeholders of the 
Company, any such maƩers that may be considered necessary in relaƟon to shareholders and investors of the 
Company and to appoint compliance officer for redressal of investor grievances and fix his responsibiliƟes. 
During the year ended 31st March, 2015, two Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee meeƟngs were held 
on 18th October, 2014 and 13th November, 2014. The composiƟon and aƩendance of the members of the 
Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee are as follows:
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The Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee consists of the following Members:

Sl. 
No.

Name of Director Category  No. of MeeƟng 
AƩended

1 Mr. Parag Keshar BhaƩacharjee Chairman, Non-ExecuƟve Independent 2
2 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra Member, Non-ExecuƟve Non Independent 2
3 Mr. Mahesh Mehra Member, ExecuƟve 2

The Company Secretary, acts as the Secretary of the CommiƩee and Compliance Officer.
The terms of reference of the Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee are as follows:
To look into and redress shareholders/investors grievances relaƟng to transfer of shares, non-receipt of declared 
dividends, non-receipt of Annual Reports, all such complaints directly concerning the shareholders/investors as 
stakeholders of the Company, any such maƩers that may be considered necessary in relaƟon to shareholders 
and investors of the Company and to appoint compliance officer for redressal of investor grievances and fix his 
responsibiliƟes.
The CommiƩee has delegated the authority to approve the requests for transfers/transmission, split and remat/
demat of shares to the Company Secretary. The CommiƩee reviews the transfer/demat/remat approved by the 
Company Secretary and take note thereof in their subsequent meeƟng.
As per clause 47(f) of the LisƟng Agreement with the Stock Exchanges, the Company has designated a separate 
e-mail-id (info@kaushalya.net) exclusively for redressal of investors’ complaints.
The details of the complaints during the year 2014-2015, excluding correspondences which are not in the nature 
of complaints are given below:

Number of complaints received from the shareholders 6
Number of complaints redressed 6
Number of complaints not solved/pending Nil 
The Company Secretary acts as a Secretary to the Stakeholders RelaƟonship CommiƩee.
SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES)
The investor complaints are processed in a centralised web based complaints redress system. The salient features 
of this system are Centralised database of all complaints, online upload of AcƟon Taken Reports (ATRs) by the 
concerned companies and online viewing by investors of acƟons taken on the complaint and its current status.
Your Company has been registered on SCORES and makes every effort to resolve all investor complaints received 
through SCORES or otherwise within the statutory Ɵme limit from the receipt of the complaint.
iv. ExecuƟve CommiƩee
The ExecuƟve CommiƩee as at March 31, 2015 comprised is given hereunder:

Name of Director DesignaƟon Category
Mr. Prashant Mehra Member ExecuƟve Director
Mr. Mahesh Mehra Member ExecuƟve Director

The Company Secretary acts as the Secretary to this commiƩee. 
The CommiƩee was consƟtuted to decide maƩers pertaining to day to day business operaƟons including opening 
of current accounts with various banks and changing the signatories when required, borrow funds and make 
investments up to a specified limit, to give necessary authorizaƟons for various business requirements and to 
do all incidental acts, deeds and things. The ExecuƟve CommiƩee meets as and when necessary to aƩend to 
important businesses. The minutes of the ExecuƟve CommiƩee meeƟngs are reviewed and noted by the Board.
4.  PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement, the Board 
has carried out the performance evaluaƟon of its own performance and of the Board CommiƩees, viz. Audit 
CommiƩee, NominaƟon and RemuneraƟon CommiƩee, and Stakeholders’ RelaƟonship CommiƩee as well as 
evaluaƟon of performance of Directors individually.
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A structured quesƟonnaire was prepared aŌer taking into consideraƟon inputs received from the Directors, 
covering various aspects of the Board’s funcƟoning such as adequacy of the composiƟon of the Board and its 
CommiƩees, Board culture, execuƟon and performance of specific duƟes, obligaƟons, corporate governance 
pracƟces and stakeholders’ interests, etc. A separate exercise was carried out to evaluate the performance of 
individual Directors including the Chairman of the Board, who were evaluated on parameters such as level of 
engagement and contribuƟon, independence of judgment meeƟng risk management & compeƟƟon challenges, 
compliance & due diligence, financial control, safeguarding the interest of the Company and its minority 
shareholders etc. The performance evaluaƟon of the Independent Directors was carried out by the enƟre Board. 
The performance evaluaƟon of the Chairman and the Non-Independent Directors was carried out by the 
Independent Directors. The NominaƟon & RemuneraƟon CommiƩee also carried out evaluaƟon of every 
director’s performance. The Directors expressed their saƟsfacƟon with the evaluaƟon process.
5. SEPARATE MEETING OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS’ 
During the year ended 31st March, 2015, the Independent Directors met on 27th March, 2015, inter alia, 
i.   to review performance of non-independent Directors & the Board as a whole, 
ii. to review performance of the Chairman of the Company and 
iii. to assess the quality, quanƟty and Ɵmeliness of flow of informaƟon between the Company management and 

the Board.
6. GENERAL BODY MEETING
LocaƟon and Ɵme, where last three Annual General MeeƟngs were held are given below:

Financial Year Date Time Venue Special ResoluƟon 
Passed, if any

2013-2014 30th September, 2014 11.00 A.M "Aikatan", EZCC, IA-290, Sector-
III, Saltlake, Kolkata - 700097

YES*

2012-2013 27st September, 2013 11.30 A.M “Rabindra Okakura Bhavan”,  
DD 27/A/1, Salt Lake, 

Kolkata -700 064

NO

2011-2012 21st  December, 2012 11.30 A.M “Rabindra Okakura Bhavan”,  DD 
27/A/1, Salt Lake, 
Kolkata -700 064

NO

No special resoluƟon was passed through ballot at the last AGM and no special resoluƟon is proposed to be 
conducted through postal ballot at the forthcoming AGM to be held on 29th September, 2015.
*ResoluƟons pertaining to the following maƩers were passed as Special ResoluƟon:
a.  Re-appointment of Mr. Prashant Mehra as Managing Director.
b.  Authority to the Board to borrow money under secƟon 180(1)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013.
c.  Approval of related party transacƟon u/s 188 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
D.1  Extraordinary General MeeƟng: During the Financial Year 2014-2015 no Extraordinary General MeeƟng of 

the members of the company was held.
D.2  Postal Ballot: No Special /Ordinary ResoluƟon requiring a postal ballot was proposed last year. No Special /

Ordinary ResoluƟon requiring a postal ballot is being proposed in the forthcoming Annual General MeeƟng 
of the Company.  

7.  DISCLOSURES
 i.  The required statement/disclosure with respect to the related party transacƟon are placed before the 

Audit CommiƩee.
  Your Company does not have any related party transacƟons, which may have potenƟal conflict with 

the interests of the Company at large. However, disclosure of transacƟons with related parƟes is set 
out in the Notes to Accounts, forming part of the Annual Report. The Company has disclosed the policy 
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on dealing with the related party transacƟons on its website at web-link, hƩp://www.kaushalya.net/
KIDCORELATED.pdf.

  Details of such transacƟons as per requirement of AccounƟng Standard 18 are disclosed in to the 
Audited Financial Statements.

 ii.  Your Company has followed the prescribed guidelines of AccounƟng Standards in preparaƟon of its 
financial statements. 

 iii.  Your Company laid down Risk Assessment and MinimisaƟon procedures and the same is periodically 
reviewed by the Board. Further, the Company has adequate internal control systems to idenƟfy the risk 
at appropriate Ɵme and to ensure that the execuƟve management controls the risk through properly 
defined framework. 

 iv.  The Company has complied with the requirements of regulatory authoriƟes on capital markets and no 
penalƟes/ strictures were imposed against it during the last three years.

 iv.  Your Company has complied with all the mandatory requirements of Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement 
of stock Exchanges. Company has submiƩed the quarterly compliance report to the stock exchange 
within the prescribed Ɵme limit.

 v. Subsidiary InformaƟon
  The Company does not have any material non-listed Indian subsidiary company and hence, it is not 

required to have an independent director of the Company on the Board of such subsidiary company. 
The minutes of the proceedings of meeƟngs of the Board of Directors of subsidiary companies are 
periodically placed before the Board of Directors of the Company and the aƩenƟon of the directors is 
drawn to significant transacƟons and arrangements entered into by the subsidiary companies.

  No of Subsidiary Companies:-
  As at March 31, 2015 the Company had following Subsidiaries:
  • Bengal KDC Housing Development Limited
  • Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Limited 
  • Kaushalya Energy Private Limited
  Step Down Subsidiary
  • Kaushalya Township Private Limited
  • Azur Solar KDC Private Limited (Kaushalya Solar Power Private Limited)
  The Audit CommiƩee reviews the financial statements of all the subsidiary companies including the 

investment made by the Company. The Minutes/ResoluƟons of the Board MeeƟngs of all the subsidiary 
companies (including the step down Subsidiary Companies) are placed before the Board periodically. 
The management periodically reviews a statement of all significant transacƟons, if any, entered into by 
all the subsidiary companies.

  During the year two Companies viz Kaushalya Nirman Private Ltd and Orion Absaan Private Ltd 
desubsidiarized. Details given in Board Report forms part of this Annual Report.

 vi. The Management Discussion and Analysis Report forms a part of the Annual Report and includes various 
maƩers specified under Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement.

         vii. The CEO/CFO CerƟficate has been placed before the board at their meeƟng held on August 13, 2015, 
in compliance with Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement with the stock exchanges duly signed by the 
Managing Director/CEO and CFO.       

 viii. The statutory auditor cerƟficate, with respect to compliance with Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement 
relaƟng to Corporate Governance, has been annexed to the Directors’ Report and will be sent to the 
Stock Exchanges at the Ɵme of filing the Company’s Annual Report.

 ix. The Company has laid down procedures to inform Board Members about the Risk Assessment and 
minimizaƟon procedure, which are periodically reviewed by the Board.
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 x. Details of Directors seeking Appointment/Re-appointment at the ensuing Annual General MeeƟng as 
required under Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement is annexed to the NoƟce convening the Annual 
General MeeƟng.  

 xi. As sƟpulated by SEBI, a ReconciliaƟon of Share Capital Audit is carried out by an independent PracƟcing 
Company Secretary on quarterly basis to confirm reconciliaƟon of the issued and listed capital, shares 
held in dematerialised and physical mode and the status of the register of members.

 xii.  The Company has transferred ` 1,63,680/- from unclaimed dividend account (the applicaƟon money 
received by companies for allotment of any securiƟes and due for refund) to Investor EducaƟon and 
ProtecƟon Fund as per secƟon 125 of the Companies Act, 1956.There has been no delay in transferring 
amount, required to be transferred to the Investor EducaƟon and ProtecƟon Fund.

8. CODE OF CONDUCT
 The Company has adopted a code of conduct for its Board of Directors and Senior Management Personnel 

and the same has been posted on the Company’s website.
 All Borad Members and the Senior Management Personnel of the Company Have affirmed compliance with 

the Code of Conduct as on March 31, 2015.
 A declaraƟon to this effect, duly signed by Managing Director & CEO is annexed below:-

DeclaraƟon

Pursuant to Clause 49 of the LisƟng Agreement with stock exchanges, I, Prashant Mehra, Managing Director & 
CEO of Kaushalya Infrastructure Dev Corp Limited, declare that all the Board Members and Senior ExecuƟves 
of the Company have affirmed their compliance with the Code of Conduct during the year ended 31st March, 
2015.
     For Kaushalya Infrastructure Dev Corp Ltd
 Sd/-

                                                                                                            Prashant Mehra                                                  
Place: Kolkata  Managing Director & CEO
Date: 13th August, 2015  DIN-00086725 

9.   MEANS OF COMMUNICATION
 i)  A half-yearly report was not sent to each household of shareholders. Shareholders were inƟmated 

through the press and the Company’s website www.kaushalya.net about the quarterly performance 
and financial results of the Company.

  ii)  The quarterly, half yearly and annual results of the Company were widely published in the leading 
English and Bengali regional newspapers such as the Business Standard/Financial Express and Arthik 
Lipi.

 iv) The NEAPS is a web based applicaƟon designed by NSE for corporates. All periodical compliance filings 
like financial results, shareholding paƩern, corporate governance report etc. are filed electronically on 
NEAPS. 

 v)  BSE’s LisƟng Centre is a web-based applicaƟon designed for corporates. All periodical compliance filings 
like financial results, shareholding paƩern, corporate governance report, etc. are filed electronically on 
the LisƟng Centre. 

 vi)  SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES): The investor complaints are processed in a centralised web 
based complaints redress system. The salient features of this system are: Centralised database of all 
complaints, online upload of AcƟon Taken Reports (ATRs) by the concerned companies and online 
viewing by investors of acƟons taken on the complaint and its current status.

 vii)  The Company has designated email-id: info@kaushalya.net exclusively for redressal of the investor 
grievances and the necessary disclosure to this effect has also been made in the Company’s website 
www.kaushalya.net.

 viii)  The Management Discussion and Analysis forms part of the Annual Report, which is posted to the 
shareholders of the Company.    
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10.  GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION
 Annual General MeeƟng 
 Date and Time: 29th September, 2015 at 11.00 a.m. 
 Venue: Agora, 5th Floor Axis Mall, Unit-A( Block-B) Plot No. CF9, Major Arterial Rd, AcƟon Area 1C, Newtown, 

Kolkata, 700156
 Financial Year 
 The financial year of the Company is from 1st April to 31st March every year.
 Financial year calendar for 2015-16 (TentaƟve)*

ParƟculars TentaƟve Schedule

Results for the quarter ending 30th June, 2015 Disclosed on 13th August, 2015

Results for the quarter ending 30th September, 2015 On or before November 14, 2015 (Subject to Limited Review)

Results for the quarter ending 31st December, 2015 On or before February 14, 2016 (Subject to Limited Review)

Results for the quarter ending/Annual 31st March, 2016 On or before May 30, 2016 (Audited)

 * TentaƟve and subject to change.
 Book Closure Date 
 25th September, 2015 to 29th September, 2015 (both days inclusive) on account of AGM. 
 LisƟng of Equity Shares on Stock Exchanges at 
 i) NaƟonal Stock Exchange of India Ltd. Exchange Plaza, 5th Floor Plot No. C/1, G Block Bandra – Kurla 

Complex, Bandra (E) Mumbai 400 051
 ii) BSE Ltd. The Corporate RelaƟonship Department Rotunda Building, PJ. Towers, Dalal Street Fort, Mumbai 

400 001. 
 LisƟng Fees
 LisƟng fee for the year 2015–16 has been paid to the NSE, BSE where the Company’s equity shares are listed.
 Depositories 
 i) NaƟonal SecuriƟes Depository Ltd. 
  Trade World, 4th Floor, Kamala Mills Compound 
  SenapaƟ Bapat Marg, Lower Parel Mumbai 400 003
 ii) Central Depository Services (India) Ltd. 
  Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, 17th Floor,
  Dalal Street Mumbai 400 023
Corporate IdenƟty Number (CIN)
CIN of the Company, alloƩed by Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India is L51216WB1992PLC055629 
and our Company is registered within the jurisdicƟon of the Registrar of Companies, West Bengal, Kolkata. 
ISIN No. for the Company
ISIN No. for the Company’s Equity Share in De mat Form:  INE234I01010.
Stock Code
NSE  KAUSHALYA
BSE   532925
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Market price data
Monthly high, low quotaƟons and trading volumes of the Company's equity shares (Face Value of ` 10/- each) 
during the financial year 2014-15 at NSE and BSE are noted below:

Months Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd NaƟonal Stock Exchange of India Ltd.
High (`) Low (`) Volume High (`) Low (`) Volume

April, 2014 8.49 5.05 2,22,269 8.60 5.15 10,474
May, 2014 9.05 6.69 2,60,194 9.00 6.60 1,18,718
June, 2014 9.16 7.00 2,59,790 9.15 7.05 43,066
July, 2014 12.88 8.50 56,70,933 12.85 8.50 9,04,675
August, 2014 8.50 6.25 25,13,866 8.50 6.20 1,81,222
September, 2014 6.91 5.06 6,35,646 6.95 5.00 1,16,060
October, 2014 6.29 5.10 1,27,714 6.25 5.00 24,414
November, 2014 7.62 5.54 5,13,902 7.50 5.50 65,224
December, 2014 6.35 5.25 1,92,218 6.65 5.00 62,181
January, 2015 7.78 5.31 3,61,598 7.75 5.40 1,04,926
February, 2015 8.62 6.20 3,94,092 8.75 6.15 95,924
March, 2015 7.82 5.00 3,16,888 7.85 4.50 35,742

[Source : This informaƟon is compiled from the date available from the websites of BSE and NSE.]

Performance of the Company in comparison with broad based indices
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Registrar and Share Transfer Agent
CB Management Services Private Limited
P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata-700019
Ph: 033 22806692/93/94/2486; Fax: 033 22870263
Email:rta@cbmsl.com 
Website: www.cbmsl.com

Share Transfer System
The shares received in physical mode by the Company / RTA are transferred expediƟously provided the 
documents are complete and shares under transfer are not under dispute. ConfirmaƟon in respect of the request 
for dematerializaƟon of shares is sent to respecƟve depositories - NaƟonal SecuriƟes Depository Limited (NSDL) 
/ Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) within sƟpulated period. The Company Secretary addresses 
the enƟre requests fort nightly.
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Shareholding paƩern as on March 31, 2015

Category No of Shares Held % of shareholding
Promoters & Promoter Group 1,78,05,630 51.42
InsƟtuƟonal Investors Nil Nil
Bodies Corporate 67,91,378 19.61
Indian Public 96,80,324 27.95
NRIs /OCB/Others  1,45,568 0.42
Clearing Members 2,07,091 0.60
Total 3,46,30,630  100.00

DistribuƟon of Shareholding
The distribuƟon of shareholding of the Company as on March 31, 2015 is noted below:

Range of Holding No. of Shareholders % on total no. of 
Shareholders

No. of Shares % on issued shares

Upto -   500 17,339 84.05 27,24,039 7.87
501 -     1000 1,640 7.95 13,78,798 3.98
1001 -   2000 827 4.01 12,87,762 3.72
2001 -   3000 287 1.39 7,31,652 2.11
3001 -   4000 123 0.60 4,45,844 1.29
4001 -   5000 135 0.65 6,42,505 1.86
5001 -   10000 157 0.76 11,57,408 3.34
10001-  50000 92 0.45 18,12,113 5.23
50001 - 100000 13 0.06 9,29,916 2.68
100001 and above 17 0.08 2,35,20,593 67.92
Total 20,630 100.00 3,46,30,630 100.00

DematerializaƟon of shares and liquidity as on March 31, 2015
The Companies Equity Shares are compulsory demat segment and are available for trading under dematerialized 
form with both NaƟonal SecuriƟes Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) 
Limited(CDSL).
99.99% equity shares of the Company have been dematerialized as on March 31, 2015.

Outstanding converƟble instruments, conversion date and likely impact on equity
The Company has not issued any GDRs/ ADRs/Warrants or any ConverƟble instruments. 
Plant LocaƟons
Not Applicable
Address for Correspondence
For any assistance, queries regarding transfer or transmission of shares, dematerializaƟon, non-receipt of 
dividend, non-credit of shares in demat account and any other query relaƟng to the shares of the Company and 
Annual Report, the shareholders may write to the following:
Company Secretary:
Mr. Tarkeshwar Singh
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Ltd.
CIN-L51216WB1992PLC055629
HB- 170, Sector – III, Salt Lake, Kolkata - 700 106
Tel: + 91 33 2334 4148, Fax: + 91 33 2334 4148
E –mail: info@kaushalya.net
Website-www.kaushalya.net

Report on Corporate Governance (Contd.)
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Registrar and Share Transfer Agent
CB Management Services Private Limited
P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata-700019
Ph: 033 22806692/93/94/2486; Fax: 033 22870263
Email:rta@cbmsl.com
Website: www.cbmsl.com

 For and on behalf of the Board 
 Ramesh Kumar Mehra
Place: Kolkata  (DIN: 00086598)
Date: August 13, 2015 Chairman                                                                                                  

CEO AND CFO CerƟficaƟon

To 
The Board of Directors of 
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited
Kolkata

We Prashant Mehra, Managing Director & CEO and Mr. Tarak Nath Mishra, Chief Financial Officer, of the 
Company, on the basis of the review of the financial statements and the cash flow statement for the year 
ended 31st March, 2015 and to the best of our knowledge and belief, hereby cerƟfy that :- 

1.  These statements do not contain any materially untrue statements or omit any material fact or contain 
statements that might be misleading.

2.  These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance 
with exisƟng accounƟng standards, applicable laws and regulaƟons. 

3.  There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transacƟons entered into by the Company 
during the year ended 31st March, 2015 which, are fraudulent, illegal or violaƟve of the Company’s 
Code of Conduct. 

4.  We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporƟng. We 
have evaluated the effecƟveness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial 
reporƟng and we have disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit CommiƩee, deficiencies in the design 
or operaƟon of such internal controls, if any, of which, we are aware and the steps we have taken or 
propose to take to recƟfy these deficiencies.

 5.  We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit CommiƩee that: 

 (a)  there has been no significant changes in internal control over financial reporƟng during this year.

  (b)  there has been no significant changes in accounƟng policies during this year. 

 (c)  there has been no instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware and the 
involvement therein, of management or an employee having significant role in the Company’s 
internal control systems over financial reporƟng.

Place: Kolkata Prashant Mehra  Tarak Nath Mishra
Date: 13th August, 2015  Managing Director and  Chief Financial Officer
   Chief ExecuƟve Officer

Report on Corporate Governance (Contd.)
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Auditors' CerƟficate Regarding Compliance of CondiƟons of Corporate Governance

To 
The members of 
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited
We have examined the compliance of the condiƟons of Corporate Governance by Kaushalya Infrastructure 
Development CorporaƟon Limited for the year ended 31st March, 2015, as sƟpulated in Clause 49 of the 
LisƟng Agreement of the said company with the Stock Exchanges.

The compliance of condiƟons of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. Our 
examinaƟon has been limited to a review of the procedures and implementaƟon thereof, adopted by the 
Company for ensuring the compliance with the condiƟons of Corporate Governance as sƟpulated in the said 
Clause. It is neither an audit nor an expression of the opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our informaƟon and according to the explanaƟons given to us and based on 
the representaƟons made by the Directors and the Management, we cerƟfy that the Company has complied 
with the condiƟons of corporate governance as sƟpulated in Clause 49 of the above-menƟoned LisƟng 
Agreement.

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor 
the efficiency or effecƟveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Place: Kolkata.
Date:  The 13th day of August 2015

                                                                                                For SUMANTA & CO.
                                                                                               Chartered Accountants

                                                                                         Firm RegistraƟon No. 322554E
                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                                       Sd/-
                                                                                                     Pradeep Kumar Agarwal 

                                                                                                        Partner
                                                                                                     Membership No. 056521

Report on Corporate Governance (Contd.)
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Independent Auditor's Report 
To the Members of 
KAUSHALYA INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED 
Report on the Standalone Financial Statements
1.   We have audited the accompanying 

standalone financial statements of KAUSHALYA 
INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED (“the Company”), which 
comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 
2015, the Statement of Profit and Loss, the Cash 
Flow Statement for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounƟng policies and 
other explanatory informaƟon, which we have 
signed under reference to this report.

Management’s Responsibility for the Standalone 
Financial Statements
2.   The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 

for the maƩers stated in SecƟon 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect 
to the preparaƟon of these standalone financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of the 
financial posiƟon, financial performance and 
cash flows of the Company in accordance with 
the accounƟng principles generally accepted 
in India, including the AccounƟng Standards 
specified under SecƟon 133 of the Act, read with 
Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. 
This responsibility also includes maintenance 
of adequate accounƟng records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding 
of the assets of the Company and for prevenƟng 
and detecƟng frauds and other irregulariƟes; 
selecƟon and applicaƟon of appropriate 
accounƟng policies; making judgments and 
esƟmates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementaƟon and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls, that were 
operaƟng effecƟvely for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounƟng records, 
relevant to the preparaƟon and presentaƟon of 
the financial statements that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
3.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

these standalone financial statements based on 
our audit.

4.  While conducƟng the audit,we have taken into 
account the provisions of the Act, the accounƟng 
and audiƟng standards and maƩers which are 
required to be included in the audit report under 
the provisions of the Act and the Rules made 
thereunder.

5.  We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Standards on AudiƟng specified under SecƟon 
143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatements.

6.  An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
the disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal financial control relevant 
to the Company’s preparaƟon of the financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on whether the Company 
has in place an adequate internal financial controls 
system over financial reporƟng and the operaƟng 
effecƟveness of such controls. An audit also 
includes evaluaƟng the appropriateness of the 
accounƟng policies used and the reasonableness 
of the accounƟng esƟmates made by the 
Company’s Directors, as well as evaluaƟng the 
overall presentaƟon of the financial statements.

7.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone 
financial statements.

Opinion
8.  In our opinion, and to the best of our informaƟon 

and according to the explanaƟons given to us, 
the aforesaid standalone financial statements 
give the informaƟon required by the Act in the 
manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounƟng principles 
generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs 
of the Company as at 31st March, 2015, and its 
loss and its cash flows for the year ended on that 
date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
9. As required by the ‘Companies (Auditor’s Report) 

Order, 2015’, issued by the Central Government 
of India in terms of sub-secƟon (11) of secƟon 143 
of the Act(hereinaŌer referred to as the “Order”)
based on the comments in the auditors’ reports, 
we give in the  Annexure a statement on the 
maƩers specified in the paragraph 3 and 4 of the 
Order, to the extent applicable.

10. As required by SecƟon 143 (3) of the Act, we 
report, to the extent applicable, that:

 a) We have sought and obtained all the 
informaƟon and explanaƟons which to the 
best of our knowledge and belief, were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit;

 b) In our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law relaƟng to preparaƟon of the 
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financial statements have been kept so far 
as it appears from our examinaƟon of those 
books and the reports of the others;

 c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit 
and Loss, and the Cash Flow Statement dealt 
with by this Report are in agreement with 
the relevant books of account maintained 
for the purpose of preparaƟon of financial 
statements;

 d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone 
financial statements comply with the 
AccounƟng Standards specified under 
SecƟon 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014;

 e) On the basis of wriƩen representaƟons 
received from the directors as on 31st 
March, 2015 taken on record by the Board of 
Directors, none of the directors is disqualified 
as on 31st March, 2015 from being appointed 
as a director in terms of SecƟon 164 (2) of 
the Act.

Referred to in paragraph [9] of the Independent 
Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of 
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon 
Limited on the standalone financial statements for 
the year ended 31st March 2015
 (i) (a) The company is maintaining proper records 

in soŌ copy format showing full parƟculars, 
including quanƟtaƟve details and situaƟons 
of fixed assets except for the period before 
Financial year 2004-05.

 (b) The fixed assets are physically verified by 
the management according to a phased 
programme designed to cover all the items 
over a period of three years, which in our 
opinion, is reasonable having regard to the 
size of the company and nature of its assets. 
Pursuant to the programme, a porƟon of 
the fixed assets has been physically verified 
by the management during the year and no 
material discrepancies between the book 
records and the physical inventory have been 
noƟced on such verificaƟon. In our opinion, 
the frequency of verificaƟon is reasonable. 

(ii) (a) The inventory has been physically verified 
during the year by the management. In our 

 f) With respect to the other maƩers to 
be included in the Auditor’s Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our informaƟon 
and according to the explanaƟons given to 
us:

  i) The company disclose the impact of 
pending liƟgaƟons on its financial 
posiƟon in its financial statements – 
Refer Note 25.1 (2) & 25.9(a) to the 
financial statements;

  ii) The Company did not have any long-
term contracts including derivaƟve 
contracts for which there were any 
material forseeable losses;

  iii) There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to 
the Investor EducaƟon and ProtecƟon 
Fund by the Company.

 For Sumanta & Co. 
Firm RegistraƟon No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants
 Pradeep Kumar Agarwal
Place : Kolkata Partner 
Date : The 30th day of May, 2015 ICAI Membership No. 056521

Annexure to Independent Auditors’ Report
opinion, the frequency of such verificaƟon is 
reasonable.

 (b) In our opinion, the procedures of physical 
verificaƟon of inventory followed by the 
Management are reasonable and adequate 
in relaƟon to the size of the company and its 
nature of its business.

 (c) On the basis of our examinaƟon of the 
inventory records, in our opinion, the 
company is maintaining proper records of 
inventory. The discrepancies noƟced on 
physical verificaƟon of inventory as compared 
to book records were not material.

(iii) (a) As informed to us, the company have not 
granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to 
companies, firms or other parƟes covered in 
the register maintained under secƟon 189 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and accordingly 
the provisions of Clause 3(iii)[(b) and (c)]
of the said Order are not applicable to the 
company.

(iv) In our opinion, and according to the informaƟon 
and explanaƟons given to us, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the 
size of the company and the nature of its business 
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for the purchase of inventory and fixed assets and 
for the sale of goods and services. Further, on the 
basis of our examinaƟon of the books and records 
of the company and according to the informaƟon 
and explanaƟon given to us, we have neither 
come across, nor have been informed of, any 
conƟnuing failure to correct major weaknesses in 
the aforesaid internal control system.

(v) The Company have not accepted any deposits 
from the public within the meaning of SecƟons 73 
to 76 of the Act and the rules framed there under. 

(vi) The Central Government has not prescribed cost 
records u/s 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 
for any of the acƟviƟes of the company and 
accordingly the provisions of Clause 3 (vi) of the 
order is not applicable to the company.

(vii) (a) Accordingly to the informaƟon and 
explanaƟons given to us and the records 
of the company examined by us, in our 
opinion, the company,on various instances 
has delayed the deposit of the undisputed 

statutory dues including Provident Fund, 
Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, 
Sales-tax, Service Tax, Value Added Tax, cess 
and any other statutory dues applicable to it.

  According to informaƟon and explanaƟons 
given to us, undisputed amounts payable 
in respect of Service Tax ` 1,44,07,638/-, 
Tax deducted at Source ` 25,000/- and ESI 
` 4,419/- were in arrears as at 31st March, 
2015 for a period of more than six months 
from the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the informaƟon and 
explanaƟons given to us and records of the 
Company examined by us, there are no dues 
of  income- tax, sales Tax, service tax, value 
added Tax, cess and other material dues 
which have not been deposited on account 
of dispute. The parƟculars of dues of service 
tax & income tax as at 31st March 2015  
which have not been deposited on account 
of a dispute, are as follows:

Name of the 
Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 
Lacs)

Period to which the  
amount relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

Income Tax Act Income tax 0.91 Asst. Year 2005-06 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 28.47 Asst. Year 2007-08 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 30.27 Asst. Year 2009-10 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 37.61 Asst. Year 2010-11 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 1.91 Asst. Year 2011-12 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 51.43 Asst. Year 2012-13 Commissioner of Income 
Tax (Appeals)

Income Tax Act Interest on TDS
 & Late Fees

2.46 Asst. Year 2015-16 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Short DeducƟon of
 TDS & Late Fees

3.02 Asst. Year 2014-15 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest & Short DeducƟon 
of TDS & Late Fees

3.30 Asst. Year 2013-14 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest on TDS 15.75 Asst. Year 2012-13 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest, Short Payment 
&  DeducƟon of TDS

Prior Assessment 
Years

TDS Circle-II

The Central 
Excise Act,1944

Service Tax 421.84 From 1st april, 
2010- 31st 
December 2012 
under VCES

Service Tax 
Commisionerate, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 87.42 Financial Year 
2006-07

Revision Board, Kolkata

(Amount in `)
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Name of the 
Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 
Lacs)

Period to which the  
amount relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 89.53 Financial Year 
2007-08

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 817.10 Financial Year 
2008-09

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 6.60 Financial Year 
2009-10

Sr. Joint Commissoner 
Appeal, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 0.35 Financial Year 
2010-11

Sr. Joint Commissoner 
Appeal, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 65.35 Financial Year 
2011-12

Sr. Joint Commissoner 
Appeal, Kolkata

 (c) According to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us the company has transferred ` 1,63,680/- to 
the investor educaƟon and protecƟon fund in accordance with the relevant provisions of Companies 
Act,1956 and rules made thereunder, with the appropriate authoriƟes. 

(viii) The company has accumulated losses as at 31st March, 2015 which is less than fiŌy percent of the net worth 
of the Company and it has incurred cash loss of ` 6,56,14,996/- in the current year and of ` 13,65,80,111/- in 
the immediately preceding financial year.

(ix) According to the records of the company examined by us and the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us, 
the company has defaulted in payment of bank interest of  ` 45,42,695/- and the same has been reversed by 
the bank in the month of March. The bankers of the Company are considering a second restructuring which 
is under review by lead banker(The State Bank of India). The Company has not issued any debentures at 
balance sheet date.

(x) In our opinion, and according to the informaƟon and explanaƟons given to us, the company has not given 
any guarantee for loans taken by others from banks or financial insƟtuƟon.

(xi) The company has not taken any term loans and accordingly the provisions of Clause 3(xi) of the order are not 
applicable to the company.

(xii) During the course of our examinaƟon of the books and records of the company, carried out in accordance 
with the generally accepted audiƟng pracƟces in India, and according to the informaƟon and explanaƟons 
given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud on or by the aforesaid company, noƟced or 
reported during the year, nor have we been informed of such case by the management.

 For Sumanta & Co. 
Firm RegistraƟon No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants
 Pradeep Kumar Agarwal
Place : Kolkata Partner 
Date : The 30th day of May, 2015 ICAI Membership No. 056521

Annexure to Independent Auditors’ Report (Contd.)

(Amount in `)
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Balance Sheet  as at 31st March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS Note As at 
31st March, 2015

As at 
31st March, 2014

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(1) Shareholder's Funds
(a) Share Capital 3  34,63,06,300  34,63,06,300 
(b) Reserve & Surplus 4  50,44,38,344  57,72,24,033 

 85,07,44,644  92,35,30,333 
(2) Non-Current LiabiliƟes
(a) Deferred Tax LiabiliƟes (Net) 29  57,17,508  74,18,543 
(b) Other Long Term LiabiliƟes 5  94,03,503  95,19,980 
(c) Long Term Provisions 6  8,46,411  8,41,411 

 1,59,67,422  1,77,79,934 
(3) Current LiabiliƟes
(a) Short Term Borrowings 7  61,47,09,655  55,35,84,075 
(b) Trade Payables 8  13,08,43,498  19,47,10,159 
(c) Other Current LiabiliƟes 9  11,18,93,192  8,85,15,002 
(d) Short Term Provisions 10  6,40,49,355  6,40,49,355 

 92,14,95,700  90,08,58,591 
TOTAL  1,78,82,07,766  1,84,21,68,858 

ASSETS
(1) Non-Current Assets
(a) Fixed Assets

(i) Tangible Assets 11  3,98,09,680  4,86,08,302 
(b) Non-Current Investments 12  17,20,55,115  17,20,09,115 
(c) Long-Term Loans and Advances 13  63,82,05,655  65,84,90,440 

 85,00,70,450  87,91,07,857 
(2) Current Assets
(a) Inventories 14  99,44,765  1,07,45,745 
(b) Trade Receivables 15  77,96,39,664  76,36,80,548 
(c) Cash & Cash Equivalents 16  1,60,40,540  2,16,08,067 
(d) Short Term Loans and Advances 17  13,24,30,654  16,65,02,275 
(e) Other Current Assets 18  81,692  5,24,366 

 93,81,37,315  96,30,61,001 
TOTAL  1,78,82,07,765  1,84,21,68,858 
See accompanying notes forming part of the 
financial statements

1-33

In terms of our report aƩached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole-Ɵme Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS Note
No.

For the year ended 
31st March, 2015

For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

1 Revenue from operaƟons (gross) 19  6,08,48,398  15,80,98,342 
Less: Service Tax  40,17,000  59,30,597 
Revenue from operaƟons (net)  5,68,31,398  15,21,67,745 

2 Other income 20  86,39,702  35,31,293 
3 Total revenue (1+2)  6,54,71,100  15,56,99,038 
4 Expenses

Cost of Material Consumed 21.a  1,80,64,580  8,05,47,082 
Changes in Inventories of finished goods, work-
in-progress and stock-in-trade

21.b  -    -   

Employee benefits expense 22  73,41,445  71,01,711 
Finance costs 23  6,57,50,012  6,34,00,569 
DepreciaƟon and amorƟsaƟon expense 11  88,71,729  35,77,470 
Other expenses 24  3,99,30,058  14,12,29,788 
Total expenses  13,99,57,824  29,58,56,619 

5 Profit / (Loss) before tax  (3 - 4)  (7,44,86,726)  (14,01,57,581)
6 Tax expense:

Current tax expense for current year  -    -   
Current tax expense relaƟng to prior years  -    -   
Deferred tax 29  (17,01,035)  (2,68,347)

 (17,01,035)  (2,68,347)
7 Profit / (Loss) for the year (5 - 6)  (7,27,85,689)  (13,98,89,234)
8 Earnings per share (of ` 10/- each): 28

(a) Basic  (2.10)  (4.04)
(b) Diluted  (2.10)  (3.91)
See accompanying notes forming part of the 
financial statements

1-33

In terms of our report aƩached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole-Ɵme Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS For the year ended 
31st March, 2015

For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

A. Cash flow from operaƟng acƟviƟes
Net Profit / (Loss) before extraordinary items and tax  (7,44,86,726)  (14,01,57,581)
Adjustments for:
DepreciaƟon and amorƟsaƟon  88,71,729  35,77,470 
Finance costs  6,57,50,012  6,34,00,569 
Interest income  (15,60,646)  7,30,61,096  (21,52,408)  6,48,25,631 
OperaƟng profit / (loss) before working capital 
changes

 (14,25,630)  (7,53,31,950)

Changes in working capital:
Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in operaƟng 
assets:
Inventories  8,00,980  30,73,686 
Trade receivables  (1,59,59,116)  18,65,65,003 
Short-term loans and advances  4,14,32,473  1,59,37,160 
Long-term loans and advances  (1,50,85,510)  37,15,430 
Other current assets  4,42,674  1,16,31,501  22,27,890  21,15,19,169 
Adjustments for increase / (decrease) in operaƟng 
liabiliƟes:
Other long term liabiliƟes  –    –   
Long term provisions  5,000  5,000 
Trade payables  (6,38,66,662)  (19,12,80,399)
Other current liabiliƟes  2,33,78,190  2,67,24,413 
Short-term provisions  –    (4,04,83,472)  –    (16,45,50,986)
Cash flow from extraordinary items  –    –   
Cash generated from operaƟons  (3,02,77,601)  (2,83,63,767)
Net income tax (paid) / refunds  (73,60,851)  (4,66,436)
Net cash flow from / (used in) invesƟng acƟviƟes (A)  (3,76,38,452)  (2,88,30,203)

B. Cash flow from invesƟng acƟviƟes
Capital expenditure on fixed assets, including capital 
advances 

 (73,107)  –   

Proceeds from sale of Fixed Assets  –    –   
Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash 
equivalents
- Placed  –    –   
- Matured  50,76,047  (42,13,247)
Purchase of long-term investments
- Others  (46,000)  (26,000)
Loans & Advances given 
- Subsidiaries & Step down subsidiaries  3,53,70,295  (88,16,931)
- Joint Ventures  (1,16,477)  (1,42,616)
Interest received
- Others  15,60,646  21,52,408 
Cash flow from extraordinary items  –    –   
Net cash flow from / (used in) invesƟng acƟviƟes (B)  4,17,71,404  (1,10,46,386)
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Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March, 2015 (Contd.)

(Amount in `)
PARTICULARS For the year ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

C. Cash flow from financing acƟviƟes
Proceeds from issue of share warrants  –    (12,34,95,000)
IPO Share ApplicaƟon Money transferred  1,63,680  –   
Proceeds from conversion of share warrants into 
shares

 –    16,52,75,000 

Net increase / (decrease) in working capital 
borrowings

 6,11,25,580  5,88,27,247 

Finance cost  (6,57,50,012)  (6,34,00,569)
Cash flow from extraordinary items  –    –   
Net cash flow from / (used in) financing acƟviƟes (C)  (44,60,752)  3,72,06,678 

Net increase / (decrease) in Cash and cash 
equivalents (A+B+C)

 (3,27,800)  (26,69,911)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year

 28,61,748  55,31,659 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  25,33,948  28,61,748 
ReconciliaƟon of Cash and cash equivalents with 
the Balance Sheet:
Cash and cash equivalents as per Balance Sheet 
(Refer Note 16)

 1,60,40,538  2,16,08,065 

Less: Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash 
equivalents as defined in AS 3 Cash Flow Statements 
Deposit pledged with bank as security against 
borrowings 

 1,35,06,590  1,85,82,637 

IPO refund account  –    1,35,06,590  1,63,680  1,87,46,317 
Net Cash and cash equivalents (as defined in AS 3 
Cash Flow Statements) included in Note 16

 25,33,948  28,61,748 

Add: Current investments considered as part of Cash 
and cash equivalents (as defined in AS 3 Cash Flow 
Statements)

 –    –   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year *  25,33,948  28,61,748 
* Comprises:
(a) Cash on hand  24,74,869  25,69,556 
(c) Balances with banks
(i) In current accounts  59,079  2,92,192 
(ii) In deposit accounts with original maturity of less 
than 3 months

 –    –   

 25,33,948  28,61,748 
Notes: 
(i) The Cash Flow Statement reflects the combined cash flows pertaining to conƟnuing and discounƟng 
     operaƟons.
(ii) These earmarked account balances with banks can be uƟlised only for the specific idenƟfied purposes.

See accompanying notes forming part of the financial statements
In terms of our report aƩached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole-Ɵme Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Note 1: CORPORATE INFORMATION 
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon 
Limited (the company) is a public limited company 
domiciled in India and incorporated under the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. Its shares are 
listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange and NaƟonal 
Stock Exchange. The company is primarily engaged 
in execuƟng construcƟon contracts relaƟng to 
infrastructure and real estate developments.
Moreover, it carries on the business in hotel segment, 
hotel industry and is also engaged in acquiring and 
purchasing of land. The company’s services are limited 
to domesƟc markets only. 
Note 2: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
2.1 Basis of accounƟng and preparaƟon of financial 

statements
 The financial statements of the Company have 

been prepared in accordance with the Generally 
Accepted AccounƟng Principles in India 
(Indian GAAP) to comply with the AccounƟng 
Standards as prescribed under SecƟon 133 of 
the Companies Act, 2013(‘the Act’) read with 
Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, 
the provisions of the Act(to the extent noƟfied) 
and guidelines issued by the SecuriƟes and 
Exchange Board of India (SEBI).  The financial 
statements have been prepared on accrual basis 
under historical cost convenƟon. The accounƟng 
policies adopted in the preparaƟon of the 
financial statements are consistent with those 
followed in the previous year.

2.2 Use of esƟmates
 The preparaƟon of the financial statements 

in conformity with Indian GAAP requires the 
management to make esƟmates and assumpƟons 
considered in the reported amounts of assets 
and liabiliƟes (including conƟngent liabiliƟes) 
and the reported income and expenses during 
the year.  The management believes that the 
esƟmates used in preparaƟon of the financial 
statements are prudent and reasonable.  Future 
results could differ due to these esƟmates and 
the differences between the actual results and 
the esƟmates are recognized in the periods in 
which the results are known / materialize.

2.3 Inventories 
 The stock of raw materials, stores and spares, 

other construcƟon materials and fuel are valued 
at cost under FIFO method or net realizable value 
whichever is lower.

 Work-in-progress is valued at cost. 

2.4 Cash and cash equivalents (for purposes of Cash 
Flow Statement)

 Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 
deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-
term balances (with an original maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisiƟon), 
highly liquid investments that are readily 
converƟble into known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes 
in value. 

2.5 Cash flow statement
 Cash flows are reported using the indirect 

method, whereby profit / (loss) before extraor-
dinary items and tax is adjusted for the effects 
of transacƟons of non-cash nature and any 
deferrals or accruals of past or future cash 
receipts or payments. The cash flows from 
operaƟng, invesƟng and financing acƟviƟes 
of the Company are segregated based on the 
available informaƟon.

2.6 DepreciaƟon
 i) Tangible Fixed Assets
  a)  DepreciaƟon is provided from the date 

the assets are ready to be put to use, on 
straight line method as per the useful life 
of the assets as prescribed under Part 
C of Schedule II of the Companies Act, 
2013 except for the Plant & Machinery 
and Cycles purchased before FY 2004-05 
where the management has esƟmated 
that there were no useful life of the 
aforemenƟoned assets and thus differs 
from the useful life prescribed under the 
Act.

   For the aforemenƟoned assets, the 
company has charged amount of
` 40,43,060/- as depreciaƟon in 
statement of profit & loss instead of 
deducƟng it from retained earnings for 
fair & beƩer presentaƟon of financial 
statements.

2.7 Revenue recogniƟon
 Income from services 
 Revenues from contracts priced on a Ɵme and 

material basis are recognized when services 
are rendered and related costs are incurred. 
Revenues from turnkey contracts, which are 
generally Ɵme bound fixed price contracts, are 
recognized over the life of the contract using the 
proporƟonate compleƟon method, with contract 
costs determining the degree of compleƟon. 
Foreseeable losses on such contracts are 
recognized when probable.

Notes forming part of the financial statements
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 Revenues from maintenance contracts are 
recognized pro-rata over the period of the 
contract.

 Contract Income
 a. The company follows the policy of 

recognizing the revenue as soon as the work 
is completed, irrespecƟve of the cerƟficaƟon. 
However, whenever the work gets cerƟfied, 
the company takes the cerƟfied porƟon of 
the previously uncerƟfied revenue in the 
turnover and deducts the same amount from 
the uncerƟfied porƟon of the revenue of the 
respecƟve financial year.

 b. It is to be noted that  out of the total revenue 
of ` 6,08,33,560/- in the financial year 2014-
15, an amount of ` 5,94,17,000/- is pending 
for cerƟficaƟon.

 Income from Hotel
 Income from hotel is recognized on accrual basis. 

Profit before depreciaƟon from hotel business 
is recognized as income in statement of profit 
and loss. DepreciaƟon and Taxes related to Hotel 
Business is shown under respecƟve heads of 
statement of profit and loss.

2.8 Other income  
 Interest : Interest income is generally recognized 

on Ɵme proporƟon basis taking into account the 
amount outstanding and the rate applicable.  

 Maintenance & Hire Charges : Income from 
Maintenance and Hire Charges is recognized on 
accrual basis.

2.9 Tangible Fixed Assets
 Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciaƟon.The cost of fixed assets comprises 
its purchase price, directly aƩributable 
expenditure on making the asset ready for its 
intended use, other incidental expenses and 
interest on borrowings aƩributable to acquisiƟon 
or construcƟon of qualifying fixed assets, up to 
the date the asset is ready for its intended use. 
Subsequent expenditure on fixed assets aŌer its 
purchase/compleƟon is capitalised only if such 
expenditure results in an increase in the future 
benefits from such assets beyond its previously 
assessed standard of performance.

2.10 Investments
 a. Long-term investments (excluding investment 

properƟes), are carried individually at cost 
less provision for diminuƟon, other than 
temporary, in the value of such investments. 
Current investments are carried individually, 
at the lower of cost and fair value. Cost of 
investments includes acquisiƟon charges 

such as brokerage, fees and duƟes.
  Investment in Lands are carried individually 

at cost less accumulated depreciaƟon and 
impairment, if any.  

2.11 Employee Benefits
 Employee benefits include provident fund, ESI 

and gratuity. ContribuƟon to Provident fund, ESI, 
Medical reimbursement etc. is charged to the 
Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.

 The provision for gratuity has been made, 
without any actuarial valuaƟon, and also not 
paid to any gratuity fund.

2.12 Borrowing Costs
 Borrowing cost aƩributable to the acquisiƟon 

of qualifying assets is added to the cost up 
to the date when such assets are ready for 
their intended use. Other borrowing costs are 
recognized as expenses in the period in which 
these are incurred.

2.13 Segment reporƟng
 As per AccounƟng Standard (AS) 17 on "Segment 

ReporƟng", segment informaƟon has been 
provided under the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

2.14 Earnings per share
 Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing 

the profit / (loss) aŌer tax (including the post 
tax effect of extraordinary items, if any) by the 
weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings 
per share is computed by dividing  the profit / 
(loss) aŌer tax (including the post tax effect 
of extraordinary items, if any) as adjusted for 
dividend, interest and other charges to expense 
or income relaƟng to the diluƟve potenƟal 
equity shares, by the weighted average number 
of equity shares considered for deriving basic 
earnings per share and the weighted average 
number of equity shares which could have 
been issued on the conversion of all diluƟve 
potenƟal equity shares. PotenƟal equity shares 
are deemed to be diluƟve only if their conversion 
to equity shares would decrease the net profit 
per share from conƟnuing ordinary operaƟons. 
PotenƟal diluƟve equity shares are deemed 
to be converted as at the beginning of the 
period, unless they have been issued at a later 
date. The diluƟve potenƟal equity shares are 
adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the 
shares been actually issued at fair value (i.e. 
average market value of the outstanding shares). 
DiluƟve potenƟal equity shares are determined 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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independently for each period presented. 
The number of equity shares and potenƟally 
diluƟve equity shares are adjusted for share 
splits / reverse share splits and bonus shares, as 
appropriate.  

2.15 Taxes on income
 "Current tax is the amount of tax payable on 

the taxable income for the year as determined 
in accordance with the provisions of the Income 
Tax Act, 1961".

 Deferred tax is recognized on Ɵming differences, 
being the differences between the taxable 
income and the accounƟng income that originate 
in one period and are capable of reversal in 
one or more subsequent periods.  Deferred 
tax is measured using the tax rates and the 
tax laws enacted or substanƟally enacted as at 
the reporƟng date.  Deferred tax liabiliƟes are 
recognized for all Ɵming differences. Deferred 
tax assets are recognized for Ɵming differences 
of items other than unabsorbed depreciaƟon 
and carry forward losses only to the extent 
that reasonable certainty exists that sufficient 
future taxable income will be available against 
which these can be realized. However, if there 
are unabsorbed depreciaƟon and carry forward 
of losses, deferred tax assets are recognized 
only if there is virtual certainty that there will 
be sufficient future taxable income available to 
realise the assets.

2.16 Joint Venture OperaƟons
 In respect of contracts executed in Integrated 

Joint Ventures under profit sharing arrangement 
(assessed as AOP under Income tax laws), the 
services rendered to the Joint Ventures are 
accounted as income on accrual basis. The 
profit / loss is accounted for, as and when it is 
determined by the Joint Venture and the net 
investment in the Joint Venture is reflected 
as investments, loans & advances or current 
liabiliƟes.   

2.17 Impairment of assets
 The carrying values of assets / cash generaƟng 

units at each Balance Sheet date are reviewed 
for impairment. If any indicaƟon of impairment 
exists, the recoverable amount of such assets 
is esƟmated and impairment is recognised, if 
the carrying amount of these assets exceeds 
their recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the greater of the net selling price and 
their value in use. Value in use is arrived at by 
discounƟng the future cash flows to their present 
value based on an appropriate discount factor. 

When there is indicaƟon that an impairment 
loss recognised for an asset in earlier accounƟng 
periods no longer exists or may have decreased, 
such reversal of impairment loss is recognised in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss, except in case 
of revalued assets.

2.18 Provisions and conƟngencies
 A provision is recognised when the Company has 

a present obligaƟon as a result of past events 
and it is probable that an ouƞlow of resources 
will be required to seƩle the obligaƟon in respect 
of which a reliable esƟmate can be made. 
Provisions (excluding reƟrement benefits) are 
not discounted to their present value and are 
determined based on the best esƟmate required 
to seƩle the obligaƟon at the Balance Sheet 
date. These are reviewed at each Balance Sheet 
date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
esƟmates. ConƟngent liabiliƟes are disclosed in 
the Notes. ConƟngent assets are not recognised 
in the financial statements.

2.19 Service Tax Input Credits
 Service tax input credit is accounted for in the 

books in the period in which the underlying 
service received.

2.20 OperaƟng Cycle:
 Based on the nature of products / acƟviƟes of 

the Company and the normal Ɵme between 
acquisiƟon of assets and their realisaƟon in cash 
or cash equivalents, the Company has determined 
its operaƟng cycle as 36 months for real estate & 
infrastructure projects and 12 months for others 
for the purpose of classificaƟon of its assets and 
liabiliƟes as current and non-current.

2.21 Advances to Subsidiaries :
 The amount of ` 482,462,888/- in aggregate 

is standing as advance to its subsidiaries & 
associates at the balance sheet date out of 
which advances to the tune of ` 480,986,485/- is 
outstanding, which was advanced for purchase 
of land by the subsidiaries & associates made 
under agreement. The Company had entered 
into agreements with Kaushalya Township 
(P) Ltd., Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. and Orion 
Abasaan (P) Ltd. that whenever they will sell 
land or developed land or project on the land the 
Company’s interest shall be safeguarded as per 
the terms of the agreement.

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 3 : SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
ParƟculars  Number of 

shares
`  Number of 

shares
 `

(a)  Authorised

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with voƟng rights  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000 

 3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000 

(b)  Issued

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with voƟng rights  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

 3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 
(c)  Subscribed and fully paid up

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with voƟng rights  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

Total  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

Refer Notes (i) to (iii) below

Notes :

(i) ReconciliaƟon of the number of shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporƟng period:

ParƟculars  Opening 
Balance

Fresh Issue  Other 
Changes

 Closing 
Balance

Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid-up
Equity shares with vo ng rights
Year ended 31 March, 2015
- Number of shares  3,46,30,630  -  -  3,46,30,630 
- Amount (`)  34,63,06,300  -  -  34,63,06,300 
Year ended 31 March, 2014
- Number of shares  1,96,05,630  1,50,25,000  -  3,46,30,630 
- Amount (`)  19,60,56,300  15,02,50,000  -  34,63,06,300 

(ii) Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares :   

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

ParƟculars Number of 
shares held

% holding in 
that class of 

shares 

Number of 
shares held

% holding in 
that class of 

shares 

Class of shares / Name of shareholder 

Equity shares with voƟng rights

MahanƟ Engineers Pvt. Ltd.  50,82,600  14.68  50,82,600  14.68 

Sunkissed Merchandise Pvt. Ltd.  50,22,900  14.50  50,22,900  14.50 

Keleenworth MarkeƟng Pvt. Ltd.  43,36,350  12.52  43,36,350  12.52 

Total  1,44,41,850  41.70  1,44,41,850  41.70 
(iii) Rights, preferences and restricƟons aƩached to equity shares:    
The Company has issued only one class of equity shares having a par value of ` 10/- per share. Each holder of equity shares is enƟtled 
to one vote per share held. The dividend, if any, proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of the shareholders in the 
ensuing Annual General MeeƟng, except in case of interim dividend. In the event of liquidaƟon of the Company, the holders of equity 
shares will be enƟtled to receive remaining assets of the Company aŌer distribuƟon of all preferenƟal amounts. The distribuƟon will 
be in proporƟon to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 4 : RESERVES & SURPLUS 

ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

(a)  SecuriƟes premium account

Opening balance  47,93,84,836  47,93,84,836 

Add : Premium on shares issued during the year  -  - 

Less : UƟlised during the year for:  -  - 

Closing balance  47,93,84,836  47,93,84,836 

(b)  RevaluaƟon Reserve 

Opening balance  2,39,87,021  2,39,87,021 

Add: AddiƟon on revaluaƟons during the year  -  - 

Less: UƟlised for set off against depreciaƟon  -  - 

Closing balance  2,39,87,021  2,39,87,021 

(c)  General Reserve 

Opening balance  2,45,00,000  2,45,00,000 

Add: Transferred from surplus in Statement of Profit and 
Loss

 -  - 

Less: UƟlised / transferred during the year for:  -  - 

Closing balance  2,45,00,000  2,45,00,000 

(d)  Surplus / (Deficit) in Statement of Profit and Loss 

Opening balance  4,93,52,176  18,92,41,410 

Add: Profit / (Loss) for the year  (7,27,85,689)  (13,98,89,234)

Closing balance  (2,34,33,513)  4,93,52,176 

Total  50,44,38,344  57,72,24,033 

Note 5 : OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Advances from Related ParƟes

Joint Venture & Associates  94,03,503  95,19,980 

Total  94,03,503  95,19,980 

Note 6 : LONG TERM PROVISIONS

ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Provision for Employee Benefits - Gratuity  8,46,411  8,41,411 

Total  8,46,411  8,41,411 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 7 : SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 

ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Loan Repayable on Demand
(a)   Cash Credit From Banks 

Secured

(i)    State Bank of India*  29,64,03,282  25,69,03,947 

(Secured by way of hypothecaƟon of stock of raw material, 
work-in-progress, book debts and personal guarantee of 
directors and their relaƟves, collateral security of property 
of the company and group companies.)

(ii)   Indian Overseas Bank  31,83,06,373  29,66,80,128 

(Secured by way of hypothecaƟon of stock of raw material, 
work-in-progress, book debts and personal guarantee of 
directors and their relaƟves, collateral security of property 
of the company and group companies.)
Total  61,47,09,655  55,35,84,075 

* Also refer Note 32(e)

Note 8 : TRADE PAYABLES
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Acceptances  -    -   
Other than Acceptances  13,08,43,498  19,47,10,159 
Total  13,08,43,498  19,47,10,159 

Note 9 : OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Statutory RemiƩances  2,00,87,258  1,15,30,993 
Advances from customers/ contractors  9,18,05,934  7,68,20,329 
Share ApplicaƟon Money Due for refund  -    1,63,680 

 11,18,93,192  8,85,15,002 

Note 10 : SHORT TERM PROVISIONS
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Provision for Income-tax  6,36,14,019  6,36,14,019 
Provision for FBT  4,35,336  4,35,336 

 6,40,49,355  6,40,49,355 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Note 11 : FIXED ASSETS
ParƟculars Gross Block DepreciaƟon Net Block

As at 
01.04.2014

AddiƟons DeducƟons Total Upto
31.03.2014

For the
Year

Sales/
Adjustments

Total As at
31.03.2015

As at
31.03.2014

TANGIBLE ASSETS
(a) Buildings 

Own use  99,93,919  –    –    99,93,919  18,36,168  1,54,053  –    19,90,221  80,03,698  81,57,751 
ConstrucƟon  1,07,298  –    –    1,07,298  1,07,298  –    –    1,07,298  –    –   
Hotel  98,86,621  –    –    98,86,621  17,28,870  1,54,053  –    18,82,923  80,03,698  81,57,751 

(b) Plant and Equipment             
Owned  6,54,67,460  –    –    6,54,67,460  2,60,80,304  80,80,310  –    3,41,60,614  3,13,06,846 3,93,87,156 
ConstrucƟon  6,46,71,342  –    –    6,46,71,342  2,56,56,067  77,41,701  –    3,33,97,768  3,12,73,574 3,90,15,275 
Hotel  7,96,118  –    –    7,96,118  4,24,237  3,38,609  –    7,62,846  33,272  3,71,881 

(c) Furniture and 
Fixtures
Owned  47,42,753  19,879  –    47,62,632  38,39,319  5,75,750  –    44,15,069  3,47,563  9,03,434 
ConstrucƟon  19,85,707  19,879  –    20,05,586  10,82,273  5,75,750  –    16,58,023  3,47,563  9,03,434 
Hotel  27,57,046  –    –    27,57,046  27,57,046  –    –    27,57,046  –    –   

(d) Vehicles
Owned  76,27,741  –    –    76,27,741  74,67,780  46,684  –    75,14,464  1,13,277  1,59,961 
ConstrucƟon  76,16,183  –    –    76,16,183  74,56,222  46,684  –    75,02,906  1,13,277  1,59,961 
Hotel  11,558  –    –    11,558  11,558  –    –    11,558  –    –   

(e) Office equipment    
Owned  9,81,084  53,228  –    10,34,312  9,81,084  14,932  –    9,96,016  38,296  –   
ConstrucƟon  9,44,534  53,228  –    9,97,762  9,44,534  14,932  –    9,59,466  38,296  –   
Hotel  36,550  –    –    36,550  36,550  –    –    36,550  –    –   

Total (`)  8,88,12,957  73,107  –    8,88,86,064  4,02,04,655  88,71,729  –    4,90,76,384  3,98,09,680 4,86,08,302 
Previous Year (`)  8,88,12,957  –    –    8,88,12,957  3,66,27,185  35,77,470  –    4,02,04,655  4,86,08,302 5,21,85,772 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 12 : NON CURRENT INVESTMENTS 

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

A.  Trade Investments  FV  Nos. `  Nos.  `
(a) Investment in Unquoted, fully paid-up Equity Shares of :

(i)  Subsidiary Companies

Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd.  10  1,02,000  10,20,000  1,02,000  10,20,000 

Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.  10  1,02,000  10,20,000  1,02,000  10,20,000 

Kaushalya Energy Pvt. Ltd.  10  95,500  9,55,000  95,500  9,55,000 

Kaushalya Township Pvt. Ltd.  10  3,17,357  1,55,07,850  3,17,357  1,55,07,850 
Total (A)  6,16,857  1,85,02,850  6,16,857  1,85,02,850 

(ii) Associates

Kaushalya Nirman Pvt. Ltd.  10  46,000  19,40,000  46,000  19,40,000 
Orion Abasaan Pvt. Ltd.  10  29,000  10,90,000  29,000  10,90,000 
Total (B)  75,000  30,30,000  75,000  30,30,000 

(ii) Others

Balaji Turnkey Projects SoluƟon (P) Ltd.  10  2,28,600  5,14,35,000  2,28,600  5,14,35,000 
Enlightened Projects Ltd.  10  1,95,500  2,93,25,000  1,95,500  2,93,25,000 
Orkay Engineering Ltd.  10  8,53,000  4,26,50,000  8,53,000  4,26,50,000 
Flare Realty Engineering (P) Ltd.  10  2,600  26,000  2,600  26,000 
Total (C)  12,79,700  12,34,36,000  12,79,700  12,34,36,000 
Total (A) + (B) + (C )  19,71,557  14,49,68,850  19,71,557  14,49,68,850 

(b) Investment in Land  2,66,07,000  2,65,61,000 

 2,66,07,000  2,65,61,000 

B.  Other than Trade Investments
Gold Coins [50 Gms. Each]  10  4,79,265  10  4,79,265 

 10  4,79,265  10  4,79,265 

Total  17,20,55,115  17,20,09,115 

Aggregate value of unquoted Investments  14,49,68,850  14,49,68,850 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `) 
Note 13 : LONG TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES  
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Unsecured and considered good
Security Deposits & Earnest Money Deposits  14,62,98,195  13,21,76,322 
MobilizaƟon Advances  -    -   
Advance to Body Corporates  94,44,572  84,80,935 
Advances to Related ParƟes
Subisidiary & Associates Companies  48,09,86,485  51,77,36,695 
Step Down Subisidiaries  14,76,403  96,488 
Total  63,82,05,655  65,84,90,440 
Note (i) Long Term Loans and Advances includes due from
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Other officers of the Company  10,89,85,241  11,23,91,707 
Private companies in which any director is a director*  11,97,08,639  12,06,42,224 
Private companies in which any director is a member*  20,44,41,228  22,59,22,822 
Total  43,31,35,108  45,89,56,753 
* The enƟre amount is due from subsidiaries companies.

Note 14 : INVENTORIES  
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Raw Materials  58,26,143  66,08,800 
Work in Progress
- ConstrucƟon Work in Progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 
Stores & Spares  14,537  32,860 
Total  99,44,765  1,07,45,745 

Note 15 : TRADE RECEIVABLES 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Unsecured, considered good
Overdue for a period exceeding six months  73,75,06,104  67,01,25,891 
Other Trade Receivables  4,21,33,560  9,35,54,657 
Total  77,96,39,664  76,36,80,548 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `) 
Note 16 : CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
(a)  Cash on hand (as cerƟfied by the management)  24,74,869  25,69,556 
(b)  Balances with banks

(i)   In current accounts  59,079  2,92,192 

(ii) In earmarked accounts (Refer Note (i) below)

Balances in Deposit Accounts held as margin money 
or security against borrowings, guarantees and other 
commitments (Refer Note (i) below)

 1,35,06,590  1,85,82,637 

Share applicaƟon money received for allotment of 
securiƟes and due for refund 

 -  1,63,680 

 1,60,40,538  2,16,08,065 

Of the above, the balances that meet the definiƟon of cash 
and cash equivalents as per AS 3 Cash Flow Statements is 

 25,33,948  28,61,748 

Notes: 
(i)  Includes deposits amounƟng to ` 1,744,007/- (As at 31 March, 2014 ` 17,941,708/-) which have an original 
      maturity of more than 12 months.
(ii) Includes interest of ` 7,25,511/-  

Note 17 : SHORT TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Unsecured, considered good
Advances to Suppliers & Subcontractors  1,03,16,173  2,65,73,391 
Advances to Employees  4,61,381  4,37,019 
Advance against Expenses  77,778  2,51,57,779 
Balances with government authoriƟes 
Income Tax Payments  12,12,09,173  11,38,48,322 
Secured, considered good
Prepaid Expenses  3,66,149  4,85,764 
Total  13,24,30,654  16,65,02,275 

Note 18 : OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Accruals 
Interest accrued on deposits  81,692  5,24,364 
Total  81,692  5,24,364 
Note 19 : REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS 
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

Sale of Services (Gross) 
Contract Receipts  6,08,33,560  15,77,35,831 
Other OperaƟng Revenues
Profit from Hotel before depreciaƟon & taxes (Refer Note 19A)  14,838  3,62,511 

 6,08,48,398  15,80,98,342 
Less : Service Tax  40,17,000  59,30,597 
Total  5,68,31,398  15,21,67,745 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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Note 19A: PROFIT FROM HOTEL BUSINESS (Amount in `) 
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS
Food Sale  3,48,991  2,62,187 
Room Rent  6,35,745  4,72,194 
Service Income  -    125 
CulƟvaƟon Income  2,49,955  4,02,700 
Agricultural Income  1,70,000 
Total (A)  14,04,691  11,37,206 
EXPENDITURE
Raw Food Purchased  2,09,462  1,49,079 
Fuel (Cooking)  34,134  33,112 
Repairs & Maintenance - Buildings  2,43,783  54,632 
Transport Expenses  3,280  810 
Stores  30,683  12,823 
Employee Benefits
Salary  1,07,400  26,100 
Site Allowance  18,600  5,400 
AdministraƟve & Other Expenses
Bank Charges  1,812  550 
Books & Periodicals  1,880  1,683 
Commission Charges  750  -   
Electricity Charges  1,73,437  88,300 
CulƟvaƟon Expenses  1,27,115  2,03,450 
General Expenses  40,179  18,396 
Gardening Expenses  97,332  27,734 
Interest on Delay Payment of Vat  1,193  -   
Medical Expenses  150  250 
Labour Charges incl. Allowances  1,94,300  76,050 
Laundry Expenses  11,186  5,056 
Legal & Professional Charges  -    9,000 
Postage/Fax/Courier  910  120 
PrinƟng & StaƟonery  2,215  -   
Rates & Taxes  18,150  3,200 
Security Expenses  51,000  49,000 
SubscripƟon  7,552  7,204 
Telephone Expenses  30  -   
Travelling & Conveyance  13,320  2,746 
Total (B)  13,89,853  7,74,695 
Profit/(Loss) before DepreciaƟon and Taxes(A-B)  14,838  3,62,511 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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Note 20 : OTHER INCOME (Amount in `) 
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

Interest Income
Interest from Bank on Deposits  15,60,646  21,52,408 
Income from Maintenance Work  26,50,000  -   
Sundry Credit balance W/off  22,51,496  -   
Hire Charges  20,87,000  13,78,885 
Prior Period Income  7,200  -   
Miscellaneous Income  83,360  -   
(Net of expenses directly aƩributable Rs. Nil Prev. Year Rs. Nil)
Total  86,39,702  35,31,293 

Note 21a : COST OF MATERIAL CONSUMED
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

Opening stock  66,41,660  97,15,346 
Add: Purchases  1,72,63,600  7,74,73,396 

 2,39,05,260  8,71,88,742 
Less: Closing stock  58,40,680  66,41,660 
Cost of material consumed  1,80,64,580  8,05,47,082 

Note 21b : CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, WORKͳINͳPROGRESS AND STOCK IN TRADE
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

Inventories at the beginning of the year:
- Work-in-progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

 41,04,085  41,04,085 

Less: Inventories at the end of the year:
- Work-in-progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

 41,04,085  41,04,085 

Net (increase) / decrease  -   -

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 22 : EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

Salary, Allowances & Bonus  40,78,964  41,43,371 

Directors' RemuneraƟon  27,30,000  25,20,000 
ContribuƟon to PF, ESI & Other Funds  46,872  50,288 

Staff Welfare  4,80,609  3,83,052 

Employee ReƟrement Benefits  5,000  5,000 

 73,41,445  71,01,711 

Note 23 : FINANCE COSTS
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

(a) Interest expense on:
(i) Borrowings  6,22,46,790  5,73,39,291 
(ii) Delayed/Deferred payment of taxes  1,82,524  2,55,457 
(b) Other borrowing costs  33,20,698  58,05,821 

 6,57,50,012  6,34,00,569 

Note 24 : OTHER EXPENSES
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

Contract OperaƟng Expenses
ConsumpƟon of Stores & Spare Parts  20,86,582  19,57,144 
Unrecoverable Works Contract  64,23,305  6,57,13,930 
Hire Charges  73,650  34,26,065 
Labour Charges & Allowances  1,67,32,028  3,54,81,567 
Power & Fuel  4,93,367  3,33,212 
Repairs & Maintenance- Machinery  11,85,275  7,13,377 
Freight Charges  45,450  65,320 
Service Tax  -    65,83,749 
Works Contract Tax  5,20,041  86,86,814 
Survey Charges  -    29,650 

 2,75,59,698  12,29,90,828 
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(Amount in `)
Note 24 : OTHER EXPENSES (Contd.)

ParƟculars For the year Ended 
31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

AdministraƟve Expenses
Rent  12,86,565  12,70,850 
Rates & Taxes  5,54,743  5,41,966 
Insurance  33,254  77,535 
Consultancy & Professional Charges  11,64,301  14,83,718 
Directors' Siƫng Fee  1,57,500  83,000 
Electricity Charges  2,71,203  2,44,871 
Post, Telegraph, Telephone & Internet  5,27,715  4,68,550 
Travelling & Conveyance  7,26,297  8,35,015 
PrinƟng & StaƟonery  3,57,156  3,22,922 
Payment to Auditors
 - As Audit Fees  84,270  84,270 
 - As Tax Audit Fees  28,090  28,090 
 - For CerƟficaƟon  -    9,552 
Prior Period Expenses  62,324  -   
Miscellaneous Expenses  2,42,644  1,59,300 

 54,96,062  56,09,639 
Selling & DistribuƟon Expenses

AdverƟsement  1,42,915  1,35,550 

SubscripƟon  11,790  13,521 
 1,54,705  1,49,071 

Other Expenses
Sundry Debit/ (Credit) Balance W/Off  67,19,593  1,24,80,250 

 67,19,593  1,24,80,250 
Total  3,99,30,058  14,12,29,788 

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)



page

74

Statutory Reports Standalone Financials Consolidated Financials

Note 25 : ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
25.1 : ConƟngent LiabiliƟes and Commitments to the extent not provided for                                      (Amount in `)
Sl. No. ParƟculars As on 31.03.2015 As on 31.03.2014
1. a. Performance guarantees issued by the banks to various Government 

AuthoriƟes, for which the Company has provided counter guarantee 
against which fixed deposit receipts have been pledged by the Company.

50,297,983 47,623,983

b. Performance Guarantee issued on behalf of other company against which 
fixed deposit receipts have been pledged by the Company

8,674,000 8,674,000

c. Bank Interest Reversed     4,542,695 Nil 
2. Claims not acknowledged as debts

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2004-05)          Nil 3,771,602
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2005-06) 90,875 72,381
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2006-07)             Nil 923,573
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2007-08) 2,846,864 4,098,684
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2009-10) 3,026,950     Nil
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2010-11) 3,761,030 3,761,030
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2011-12) 190,580 4,165,834
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2012-13) 5,142,880 259,290

25.2 : Disclosures required under SecƟon 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006
The Company is in the process of idenƟfying the suppliers, who would be covered under the Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006. As confirmed by the management, the company has not yet 
received any informaƟon about such registraƟon from the vendors and such informaƟon will be provided as and 
when confirmaƟon is received from them. However, as regards the same, no documentary evidence has been 
found during the course of audit.
25.3 : Disclosure as per clause 32 of the lisƟng agreement
(Loans and advances in the nature of loans given to subsidiaries, associates and others and investment in 
shares of the Company by such parƟes)
The loans and advances in the nature of advances given by the company to its Subsidiaries and  Associates, 
amounts to ` 482,462,888/-, in aggregate as on 31st March 2015. The details of the same have been provided 
below:

(a)   Loans and advances in the nature of advances given to subsidiaries, associates and others    (Amount in `)

 Sl.
No.

 
Name of the Subsidiary

 Balance 
as at 

 31.03.2015 

 Maximum 
 Balance 
 2014-15 

 Balance 
as at 

 31.03.2014 

 Maximum 
 Balance 
 2013-14

1 Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. Nil 40,600           38,000           38,000 

2 Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.   118,232,236   119,131,586   119,128,986   131,759,986 

3 Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. Nil            2,600 Nil 3,395,100 

4 Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 49,327,780 58,876,430 58,876,430   67,083,317 

5 Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.      1,476,403 1,476,403      1,475,238 1,475,238

6 Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.   204,441,222 225,922,822   225,922,822 261,727,246

7 Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. 108,985,241 112,391,707 112,391,707 113,091,707

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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25.4 : Expenditure in Foreign Currency (Gross before TDS) (on accrual basis)

ParƟculars For the 
year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the 
year Ended 

31st March, 2014
Traveling and Conveyance Nil Nil
Loss in repayment of Term Loan Nil Nil

25.5 : Details of consumpƟon of imported and indigenous items
ParƟculars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

Amount  (`) % Amount  (`) %
Indigenous
Raw Material 18,064,580 100 80,547,082 100
Components Nil Nil Nil Nil
Spare Parts 2,086,522 100 1,957,144 100
Imported
Raw Material Nil Nil Nil Nil
Components Nil Nil Nil Nil
Spare Parts Nil Nil Nil Nil

25.6 : Earning in foreign exchange (net of TDS): Nil

25.7 : Amount remiƩed in foreign currency during the year on account of dividend: Nil

25.8 : Current assets

 In the opinion of the Board, the current assets have value on realizaƟon in the ordinary course of business 
at least equal to the amount at which they are stated in the Balance Sheet. However, the following are the 
areas of concern:

a Outstanding Sundry debtors.

 Out of total Sundry Debtors of ` 779,639,664/-, an amount of ` 737,506,104/- is outstanding since long, and 
out of which several debtors are under dispute.

b. Sundry Debit/(Credit) Balance W/Off :

 The major detail of the Sundry Credit Balance WriƩen Off is as follows:

 i. Sundry Creditors `  20,66,122/-

 ii. Security Deposit ` 1,373/-

 iii. Statutory Dues `  376/-

 iv. Cash & cash equivalents `  10,224/-

 v. Liability for Expenses `   1,08,401/-

 vi. Advance to suppliers & contractors ` 65,000/-

(b)   Investment in shares of the Company by such subsidiaries, associates and others                   (Amount in `)

Name of the subsidiary As at 
31 March, 2015

As at 
31 March, 2014

Nil Nil
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The major detail of the Sundry Debit Balance WriƩen Off is as follows :

i. Advance to suppliers & contractors ` 53,24,213/-

ii. Advance for Expenses `  10,000/-

iii. Security Deposit `  12,91,955/-

iv. Cash & cash equivalents ` 58,425/-

v. Advance for projects ` 35,000/-

c. Short-term Advances:

 The Company had advanced a net amount of ` 34,474,964/- to Flare Realty Engineers Private Limited, for 
meeƟng its working capital requirements. However, the work for execuƟon of part of the work at Sardasahar, 
Rajasthan of Nagar Palika project was awarded to the Company. ThereaŌer, Flare Realty Engineers Private 
Limited asked for security deposit against the said work and requested to transfer the working capital 
advance to Security Deposit. The Company has accepted the condiƟon and agreed to transfer the working 
capital advance to Security Deposit. 

Note 25.9 : Statutory Compliances

The following areas are of concern :

a. Service Tax Payable: Following informaƟon is worth noƟng in this regard-

 i. The company opted for the VCES, 2013 for the service tax payable corresponding to the period 
from April’ 2009 to December, 2012. The total liability of the service tax for the said period stood to 
` 1,59,43,004/-, payable in two equal installments on or before 31st Dec, 2013 and 30th June, 2014 
respecƟvely. The company has paid ` 79,72,657/- i.e 50% of declared liability Ɵll date. In, the mean 
Ɵme, the Company has received a show cause cum demand noƟce from Service Tax Commissionerate, 
Kolkata for ` 4,21,84,307/-  for the said period. However, the hearing of the maƩer is sƟll pending.

 ii. Apart from the afore-menƟoned amount due under VCES, 2013, the balance amount of Service Tax 
which is due to be paid is ` 1,04,51,981/-

 iii. An amount of ` 14,01,229/- has been shown as Service Tax accrued but not due for payment. This 
amount comprises of the tax accrued on or before 1st July, 2011, which is to be paid on receipt 
basis,but not paid Ɵll date as no payment has been recovered from the debtors against the same since 
F.Y. 2010-11.

Note 25.10 : DiluƟon of holding:

A) During the current financial year, the shareholding of the company has diluted in one of its subsidiary : 
Kaushalya Township Private Limited in which shareholding reduced from 73.49% to 48.69%. However, 
Kaushalya Township Private Limited conƟnue to be the step-down subsidiary of the company as the company 
holds more than 50% of the shareholding through its other subsidiary.

B) Details of companies which have cease as subsidiary and become associates during the year under review as 
under:

 a) Orion Abasaan Private Limited by reducing shareholding from 72.50% to 48.33% on 28th day of March, 
2015

 b) Kaushalya Nirman Private Limited by reducing shareholding from 68.66% to 46% on 31st ay Day of 
March, 2015

Note 25.11 : Fixed Deposits:

All the fixed deposits have been made against the Bank Guarantee and under lien with the corresponding bank.

Note 25.12 : Interest on credit cards:

The company has paid interest to the tune of ` 1,67,381/- on delayed payment of credit cards of the directors.

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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26 : During the year  borrowing cost is not capitalized.

27: Related ParƟes*, Related Party TransacƟons and Balances receivable/payable as at the end of the year

       Related Party Disclosures as required by AS 18 issued by ICAI

I. ParƟes Where Control Exists
 Subsidiaries
 1 Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd.
 2 Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.
 3 Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd.
 Step Down Subsidiaries
 4 Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.
 5 Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.
II. Joint Ventures
 Jointly Controlled EnƟƟes
 1 KIDCO - NACC
III. Associates 
 1 Kaushalya Nirman (P) Limited
 2 Orion Abasaan (P) Limited
IV. Key Management Personnel :
 1 Mr. Prashant Mehra, Managing Director
 2 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra, Chairman
 3 Mr. Mahesh Mehra, Whole-Ɵme Director
 4 Mr. Parag Keshar BhaƩacharjee, Independent Director
 5 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal, Independent Director
 6 Mrs. MinoƟ Nath, Women Independent Director
V. Other Related ParƟes with whom the company had transacƟons during the year
 RelaƟves of Key Management Personnel :
 1 Mr KarƟk Mehra
 2 Mr Karan Mehra
 3 Mrs. Neeru Mehra
 4 Ramesh Kumar Mehra HUF
VI.  TransacƟons with Related ParƟes                                                                                                          (Amount in `)

Sl.
No.

Type of  TransacƟons 2014-15 2013-14
 Subsidiaries/ 
 Associates/JV 

 Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 RelaƟves  
 of KMP 

 Subsidiaries
 JV 

 Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 RelaƟves  
 of KMP 

(a) Valued of Services Received      2,770,500        960,000 2,538,000          960,000 
Directors RemuneraƟon
 - Prashant Mehra      1,590,000 1,380,000 
 - Mahesh Mehra  1,140,000   1,140,000 
Siƫng Fees
 - Ramesh Mehra           40,500           18,000 
Salary
 - KarƟk Mehra        480,000          480,000 
 - Karan Mehra        480,000          480,000 
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Sl.
No.

Type of  TransacƟons 2014-15 2013-14
 Subsidiaries/ 
 Associates/JV 

 Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 RelaƟves  
 of KMP 

 Subsidiaries
 JV 

 Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 RelaƟves  
 of KMP 

(b) Rent Paid        600,000                  -            600,000 
Rent
- Neeru Mehra                 -         -        600,000                 -            600,000 

(c) Money Recd. Agst Warrants - - - - 265,000          455,000 
265,000          455,000 

(RelaƟves)
    41,185,000 

(Others)
(d) Advances Given 12,643,477               -                -   97,986,011  

- Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. 2,600                        -   
- Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd. 3,250                        -   
- Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. 2,600   64,100 
- Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 1,350 1,600,400 
- Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd. 11,344,950 31,856,900 
- Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. 571,650 62,943,245 
- Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd. 600,600 1,378,750 

(e) Advances received back during 
the year

47,897,295 89,026,464 

- Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. 40,600                        -   
- Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd. 900,000  12,631,000 
- Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. 2,600 3,395,100 
- Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 9,550,000 9,807,287 
- Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd. 32,826,544 57,968,077 
- Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. 3,978,116 5,225,000 
- Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd. 599,435 

(f) Advance Repaid
- KIDCO NACC JV 116,477 142,616

(g) Balance Receivable as at 
31.03.2015

482,462,888 517,833,183 

- Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd.                         -                  38,000 
- Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd.     118,232,236     119,128,986 
- Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 49,327,780         58,876,430 
- Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.     204,441,228     225,922,822 
- Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd.    108,985,241     112,391,707 
- Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.         1,476,403           1,475,238 

(h) Balance Payable as at 31.03.2015 9,403,503           9,519,980         186,842          119,555 
- Prashant Mehra                        -           168,842 
- Ramesh Mehra                        -             18,000 
- Neeru Mehra            45,000 
- KarƟk Mehra            36,505 
- Karan Mehra            38,050 
- KIDCO NACC JV         9,403,503           9,519,980 

*Note : Related parƟes have been idenƟfied by the management.

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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Note 28: Earning Per Shares 
Year Ended 31.03.2015 (Amount in `)

Total OperaƟonsDisconƟnuing OperaƟonsConƟnuing OperaƟons

AŌer Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary 
and ExcepƟonal Items

AŌer Extraordinary 
and ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary 
and ExcepƟonal Items

AŌer Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

DilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasic
101010101010101010101010Face Value of 

Shares
(72,785,689)(72,785,689)(72,785,689)(72,785,689)0000(72,785,689)(72,785,689)(72,785,689)(72,785,689)Profit 

aƩributable 
to Eq. 
Shareholders

34,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,630Weighted Average 
No. of Shares

(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)----(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)EPS (`)

Year Ended 31.03.2014

Total OperaƟonsDisconƟnuing OperaƟonsConƟnuing OperaƟons

 AŌer Extraordinary and
ExcepƟonal Items

 Before Extraordinary and
ExcepƟonal Items

 AŌer Extraordinary and
ExcepƟonal Items

 Before Extraordinary
and ExcepƟonal Items

 AŌer Extraordinary and
ExcepƟonal Items

 Before Extraordinary and
ExcepƟonal Items

DilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasic
101010101010101010101010Face Value of 

Shares
(139,889,234)(139,889,234)(139,889,234)(139,889,234)0000(139,889,234)(139,889,234)(139,889,234)(139,889,234)Profit 

aƩributable to 
Eq. Shareholders

35,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,630Weighted 
Average No. of 
Shares

(3.91)(4.04) (3.91)(4.04) ----(3.91)(4.04) (3.91)(4.04) EPS (`)

Note 29: Deferred Tax Assets/(Liability)                                                                                                       (Amount in `)

 31.03.2015  31.03.2014

 Timing Difference  Timing Difference 

On Account of DepreciaƟon     

- Net Block as per I T Act 20,465,013  23,758,665  

- Net Block as per Cos. Act 39,809,680  (19,344,668) 48,608,302  (24,849,637)

On Account of Employee Benefits           841,411  841,411

   (18,503,257)   (24,008,226)

EffecƟve Rate of Tax  30.90%  30.90%

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liability)     (5,717,507)     (7,418,542)

Less : Deferred Tax Liability b/f     (7,418,542)     (7,686,889)

Deferred Tax Provision  (1,701,035)  (268,347)

Deferred tax assets on unabsorbed depreciaƟon and carry forward of losses has not been recognized since the 
management is of the opinion that there is no virtual certainty that there will be sufficient future taxable income 
available against which such deferred tax assets can be realized.

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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Note 30: Interests in Joint Ventures                                                                                                               (Amount in `)
Name of the JV and 

country of origin 
% of 

Share 
holding

Amount of interest based on the accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2015
Assets LiabiliƟes Income Expenditure ConƟngent 

LiabiliƟes
Capital 

Commitments
New Asian ConstrucƟon 
Co., India 90%

10,490,402 11,494,869 - 124,822 Nil Nil

(Prev. Year) (10,595,231) (11,474,877) - (270,681) Nil Nil
Note 31 : Details of Provisions
ParƟculars For the year ended 

31.03.2015
For the year ended 

31.03.2014
Provision for 
Current Tax

Deferred Tax 
Liability

Provision for 
Current Tax

Deferred tax 
Liability

Balance at the beginning of the year 63,614,019 7,418,542 63,614,019 7,686,889
Provision made during the year Nil    (1,701,035) Nil (268,347)
Paid/Adjusted during the year Nil Nil Nil Nil
Balance at the end of the year 63,614,019 5,717,507 63,614,019 7,418,542

Note 32: Other informaƟon:
a. Projects in hand:
 The company is having three major running projects, construcƟon of integrated school and hostel complex  

for WesƟng House Saxby Farmer Ltd., contract value of ` 7.25 Cr., Mega Housing project for EWS, LIG & 
MIG through PPP in Sardarsahar, Rajasthan from Rajasthan Avas Vikas & Infrastructure Ltd. of ` 51.66 Cr 
& ConstrucƟon of Swarigarh SHP from UƩrakhand Jal Vidyut Nigam (awarded to KIDCO-NACC ConsorƟum) 
contract value ` 14.83 Cr. In these projects, revenue to the tune of ` 7.60 Crs. has already been recognized 
upto the year ending 31.03.2015. 

b. Work order received from Power Department, Sikkim of ` 4,55,20,000/- in the year 2004-05. The company 
has completed the work to the tune of ` 2,92,43,450/- but it has not been cerƟfied by the said department 
and subsequently no payment has been released by them against the aforesaid work done. The reason for 
not receiving the funds as stated by the management is due to non availability of fund under the APDRP 
scheme (the scheme of the project) in Sikkim.

c. The Company had filed a claim with their client NPCC Ltd. the client in turn raised the claim to their principal 
NTPC and entered into arbitraƟon via P.M.A. The arbitraƟon has awarded a claim of ` 8,55,23,452/- against 
a demand of ` 77,66,336/- and against this award the principal has appealed before the Secretary of the 
P.M.A. As per term the claim received by NPCC shall be passed on to the company aŌer deducƟon of their 
margins as per MOU.

d. It is also observed that the company has few debtors under dispute and in case where any order is received 
against the said claims, the company may prefer further appeal to the higher authority. 

e. The bankers of the Company are considering a second restructuring which is under review by lead banker 
The State Bank of India. The SBI has also reversed part of earlier charged interest of ` 45.42 lacs in account. 
This has also resulted/reflected in lower finance cost in last quarter 31.03.2015. However, Bank shall have 
the right to recompense the reliefs/sacrifices/waivers extended upto this restructuring package. 

Note 33 : Previous Year Figures
Previous year's figures have been regrouped / reclassified wherever necessary to correspond with the current 
year's classificaƟon / disclosure.

In terms of our report aƩached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole-Ɵme Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary

Notes forming part of the financial statements (Contd.)
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Independent Auditor's Report 
To the Members of 
KAUSHALYA INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED 
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
1.   We have audited the accompanying 

Consolidated financial statements of 
KAUSHALYA INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION LIMITED (“the Company”), which 
comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 
31st March, 2015, the Consolidated  Statement 
of Profit and Loss, the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounƟng policies and other 
explanatory informaƟon (hereinaŌer referred to 
as “consolidated financial statements”)

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
2.   The Holding Company’s Board of Directors 

is responsible for the preparaƟon of these 
consolidated financial statements in terms of 
the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 
(“the Act”) that give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial posiƟon, consolidated 
financial performance and consolidated cash 
flows of the Holding company and  its subsidiaries 
including its Associates and jointly controlled 
enƟƟes in accordance with the accounƟng 
principles generally accepted in India, including 
the AccounƟng Standards specified under SecƟon 
133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014. The respecƟve Board of 
Directors of the companies included in the Holding 
company and of its subsidiaries, associates and 
jointly controlled enƟƟes are responsible for 
maintenance of adequate accounƟng records 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
for safeguarding of the assets of the Holding 
company and its subsidiaries and for prevenƟng 
and detecƟng frauds and other irregulariƟes; 
the selecƟon and applicaƟon of appropriate 
accounƟng policies; making judgments and 
esƟmates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementaƟon and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls, that were 
operaƟng effecƟvely for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounƟng records, 
relevant to the preparaƟon and presentaƟon of 
the financial statements that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, which have been 
used for the purpose of preparaƟon of the 
consolidated financial statements by the Directors 
of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

Auditor’s Responsibility
3.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit.

4.  While conducƟng the audit, we have taken into 
account the provisions of the Act, the accounƟng 
and audiƟng standards and maƩers which are 
required to be included in the audit report under 
the provisions of the Act and the Rules made 
thereunder.

5.  We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Standards on AudiƟng specified under SecƟon 
143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatements.

6. An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
the disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal financial control relevant to the Holding 
Company’s preparaƟon of the consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on whether 
the Holding Company has in place an adequate 
internal financial controls system over financial 
reporƟng and the operaƟng effecƟveness of 
such controls. An audit also includes evaluaƟng 
the appropriateness of the accounƟng policies 
used and the reasonableness of the accounƟng 
esƟmates made by the Holding Company’s 
Board of Directors, as well as evaluaƟng the 
overall presentaƟon of the consolidated financial 
statements.

7.  We believe that the audit evidence obtained by 
us and the audit evidence obtained by the other 
auditors in terms of their reports referred in sub-
paragraph (a) of the Other MaƩers paragraph 
below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion on the Consolidated 
financial statements.

Opinion
8.  In our opinion, and to the best of our informaƟon 

and according to the explanaƟons given to us, 
the aforesaid consolidated financial statements 
give the informaƟon required by the Act in the 
manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounƟng principles 
generally accepted in India, of the consolidated 
state of affairs of the Group, its associates and 
jointly controlled enƟƟes as at 31st March, 2015, 
and their consolidated loss and their consolidated 
cash flows for the year ended on that date.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Contd.)

Other MaƩers
We did not audit the financial statements of five 
subsidiaries and one jointly controlled enƟƟes, whose 
financial statements reflect total assets of ` 47.83 
crores as at 31st March, 2015, total revenues of ` 0.05  
crores and net cash inflow amounƟng to ` 0.69 crores 
for the year ended on that date, as considered in the 
consolidated financial statements. The consolidated 
financial statements also include the Holding company 
and its subsidiaries’ share of net profit of ` 2,674 for 
the year ended 31st March, 2015, as considered in the 
consolidated financial statements, in respect of two 
associate, whose financial statements have not been 
audited by us. These financial statements have been 
audited by other auditors whose reports have been 
furnished to us by the Management and our opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as 
it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in 
respect of these subsidiaries, jointly controlled enƟƟes 
and associates, and our report in terms of sub-secƟons 
(3) and (11) of SecƟon 143 of the Act, in so far as it 
relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, jointly controlled 
enƟƟes and associates, is based solely on the reports 
of the other auditors.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, 
and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the 
above maƩers with respect to our reliance on the work 
done and the reports of the other auditors and the 
financial statements/financial informaƟon cerƟfied by 
the Management.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
9. As required by SecƟon 143 (3) of the Act, we 

report, to the extent applicable, that:
 a) We have sought and obtained all the 

informaƟon and explanaƟons which to the 
best of our knowledge and belief, were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit of the 
aforesaid consolidated financial statements;

 b) In our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law relaƟng to preparaƟon of 
the consolidated financial statements have 
been kept so far as it appears from our 
examinaƟon of those books and the reports 
of the other auditors;

 c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, 
and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

dealt with by this Report are in agreement 
with the relevant books of account 
maintained for the purpose of preparaƟon of 
the consolidated financial statements;

 d) In our opinion, the aforesaid Consolidated 
financial statements comply with the 
AccounƟng Standards specified under 
SecƟon 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014;

 e) On the basis of wriƩen representaƟons 
received from the directors of the Holding 
Company as on 31st March, 2015 taken 
on record by the Board of Directors of the 
Holding Company and the reports of the 
statutory auditors of its subsidiary companies 
and associate companies incorporated in 
India, none of the directors of the Holding 
companies, its subsidiary companies and 
associate companies incorporated in India 
is disqualified as on 31st March, 2015 from 
being appointed as a director in terms of 
SecƟon 164 (2) of the Act.

 f) With respect to the other maƩers to 
be included in the Auditor’s Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our informaƟon 
and according to the explanaƟons given to 
us:

  i) The consolidated financial statements 
disclose the impact of pending liƟgaƟons 
on the consolidated financial posiƟon of 
the Holding company, its subsidiaries, its 
associates and jointly controlled enƟƟes 
– Refer Note 27.1 (2) & 27.9(a) to the 
financial statements;

  ii) The Holding company, its subsidiaries, 
associates and jointly controlled enƟƟes 
did not have any long-term contracts 
including derivaƟve contracts for which 
there were any material forseeable 
losses;

  iii) There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to 
the Investor EducaƟon and ProtecƟon 
Fund by the Hoding Company, its 
subsidiary companies and its associate 
companies incorporated in India.

 For Sumanta & Co. 
Firm RegistraƟon No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants
 Pradeep Kumar Agarwal
Place : Kolkata Partner 
Date : The 30th day of May, 2015 ICAI Membership No. 056521
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Name of the 
Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 
Lacs)

Period to which the  
amount relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

Income Tax Act Income tax 0.91 Asst. Year 2005-06 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 28.47 Asst. Year 2007-08 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 30.27 Asst. Year 2009-10 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 37.61 Asst. Year 2010-11 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act Income tax 1.91 Asst. Year 2011-12 I.T. Appellate Tribunal

Referred to in paragraph [9] of the Independent 
Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of 
Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon 
Limited on the standalone financial statements for 
the year ended 31st March 2015
 (i) (a) The company is maintaining proper records 

in soŌ copy format showing full parƟculars, 
including quanƟtaƟve details and situaƟons 
of fixed assets except for the period before 
Financial year 2004-05.

 (b) The fixed assets are physically verified by 
the management according to a phased 
programme designed to cover all the items 
over a period of three years, which in our 
opinion, is reasonable having regard to the 
size of the company and nature of its assets. 
Pursuant to the programme, a porƟon of 
the fixed assets has been physically verified 
by the management during the year and no 
material discrepancies between the book 
records and the physical inventory have been 
noƟced on such verificaƟon. In our opinion, 
the frequency of verificaƟon is reasonable. 

(ii) (a) The inventory has been physically verified 
during the year by the management. In our 
opinion, the frequency of such verificaƟon is 
reasonable.

 (b) In our opinion, the procedures of physical 
verificaƟon of inventory followed by the 
Management are reasonable and adequate 
in relaƟon to the size of the company and its 
nature of its business.

 (c) On the basis of our examinaƟon of the 
inventory records, in our opinion, the 
company is maintaining proper records of 
inventory. The discrepancies noƟced on 
physical verificaƟon of inventory as compared 
to book records were not material.

(iii) (a) As informed to us, the company have not 
granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to 
companies, firms or other parƟes covered in 
the register maintained under secƟon 189 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and accordingly 
the provisions of Clause 3(iii)[(b) and (c)]
of the said Order are not applicable to the 
company.

Annexure to Independent Auditors’ Report
(iv) In our opinion, and according to the informaƟon 

and explanaƟons given to us, there is an adequate 
internal control system commensurate with the 
size of the company and the nature of its business 
for the purchase of inventory and fixed assets and 
for the sale of goods and services. Further, on the 
basis of our examinaƟon of the books and records 
of the company and according to the informaƟon 
and explanaƟon given to us, we have neither 
come across, nor have been informed of, any 
conƟnuing failure to correct major weaknesses in 
the aforesaid internal control system.

(v) The Company have not accepted any deposits 
from the public within the meaning of SecƟons 73 
to 76 of the Act and the rules framed there under. 

(vi) The Central Government has not prescribed cost 
records u/s 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 
for any of the acƟviƟes of the company and 
accordingly the provisions of Clause 3 (vi) of the 
order is not applicable to the company.

(vii) (a) Accordingly to the informaƟon and 
explanaƟons given to us and the records 
of the company examined by us, in our 
opinion, the company,on various instances 
has delayed the deposit of the undisputed 
statutory dues including Provident Fund, 
Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, 
Sales-tax, Service Tax, Value Added Tax, cess 
and any other statutory dues applicable to it.

  According to informaƟon and explanaƟons 
given to us, undisputed amounts payable 
in respect of Service Tax ` 1,44,07,638/-, 
Tax deducted at Source ` 25,000/- and ESI 
` 4,419/- were in arrears as at 31st March, 
2015 for a period of more than six months 
from the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the informaƟon and 
explanaƟons given to us and records of the 
Company examined by us, there are no dues 
of  income- tax, sales Tax, service tax, value 
added Tax, cess and other material dues 
which have not been deposited on account 
of dispute. The parƟculars of dues of service 
tax & income tax as at 31st March 2015  
which have not been deposited on account 
of a dispute, are as follows: 

 (Amount in `)
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Name of the 
Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 
Lacs)

Period to which the  
amount relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

Income Tax Act Income tax 51.43 Asst. Year 2012-13 Commissioner of Income 
Tax (Appeals)

Income Tax Act Interest on TDS
 & Late Fees

2.46 Asst. Year 2015-16 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Short DeducƟon of
 TDS & Late Fees

3.02 Asst. Year 2014-15 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest & Short DeducƟon 
of TDS & Late Fees

3.30 Asst. Year 2013-14 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest on TDS 15.75 Asst. Year 2012-13 TDS Circle-II

Income Tax Act Interest, Short Payment 
&  DeducƟon of TDS

Prior Assessment 
Years

TDS Circle-II

Name of the 
Statute

Nature of Dues Amount (in 
Lacs)

Period to which the  
amount relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

The Central 
Excise Act,1944

Service Tax 421.84 From 1st april, 
2010- 31st 
December 2012 
under VCES

Service Tax 
Commisionerate, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 87.42 Financial Year 
2006-07

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 89.53 Financial Year 
2007-08

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 817.10 Financial Year 
2008-09

Revision Board, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 6.60 Financial Year 
2009-10

Sr. Joint Commissioner 
Appeal, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 0.35 Financial Year 
2010-11

Sr. Joint Commissioner 
Appeal, Kolkata

The WB.VAT 
Act, 2003

Vat 65.35 Financial Year 
2011-12

Sr. Joint Commissioner 
Appeal, Kolkata

(Amount in `)

 (c) According to the informaƟon and 
explanaƟons given to us the company has 
transferred ` 1,63,680/- to the investor 
educaƟon and protecƟon fund in accordance 
with the relevant provisions of Companies 
Act,1956 and rules made thereunder, with 
the appropriate authoriƟes. 

(viii) The company has accumulated losses as at 31st 
March, 2015 which is less than fiŌy percent of the 
net worth of the Company and it has incurred cash 
loss of ` 6,56,14,996/- in the current year and of 
` 13,65,80,111/- in the immediately preceding 
financial year.

(ix) According to the records of the company examined 
by us and the informaƟon and explanaƟons given 
to us, the company has defaulted in payment 
of bank interest of  ` 45,42,695/- and the same 
has been reversed by the bank in the month 
of March. The bankers of the Company are 
considering a second restructuring which is under 
review by lead banker (The State Bank of India). 
The Company has not issued any debentures at 
balance sheet date.

(x) In our opinion, and according to the informaƟon 
and explanaƟons given to us, the company has 
not given any guarantee for loans taken by others 
from banks or financial insƟtuƟon.



page

85

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

 For Sumanta & Co. 
Firm RegistraƟon No. 322554E

Chartered Accountants
 Pradeep Kumar Agarwal
Place : Kolkata Partner 
Date : The 30th day of May, 2015 ICAI Membership No. 056521

Annexure to Independent Auditors’ Report (Contd.)

(xi) The company has not taken any term loans and accordingly the provisions of Clause 3(xi) of the order are not 
applicable to the company.

(xii) During the course of our examinaƟon of the books and records of the company, carried out in accordance 
with the generally accepted audiƟng pracƟces in India, and according to the informaƟon and explanaƟons 
given to us, we have neither come across any instance of fraud on or by the aforesaid company, noƟced or 
reported during the year, nor have we been informed of such case by the management.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet  as at 31st March, 2015

(Amount in `)
PARTICULARS Note As at 

31st March, 2015
As at 

31st March, 2014
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(1) Shareholder's Funds
(a) Share Capital 3  34,63,06,300  34,63,06,300 
(b) Reserve & Surplus 4  50,02,90,862  57,77,92,947 
(c) Money Received against Share Warrants  -    -   

 84,65,97,162  92,40,99,247 
(2) Non-Current LiabiliƟes
(a) Long Term Borrowings 5  10,00,000  10,00,000 
(b) Deferred Tax LiabiliƟes (Net) 31  57,17,507  74,18,543 
(c) Other Long Term LiabiliƟes 6  10,00,40,350  11,19,19,980 
(d) Long Term Provisions 7  8,46,411  8,41,411 

 10,76,04,268  12,11,79,934 
(3) Current LiabiliƟes
(a) Short Term Borrowings 8  61,47,09,655  55,35,84,075 
(b) Trade Payables 9  13,11,02,188  19,49,42,282 
(c) Other Current LiabiliƟes 10  12,44,84,918  9,08,67,104 
(d) Short Term Provisions 11  6,40,69,349  6,40,85,359 

 93,43,66,110  90,34,78,820 
(4) Minority Interest  2,14,10,422  96,55,138 

TOTAL  1,90,99,77,961  1,95,84,13,139 
ASSETS
(1) Non-Current Assets
(a) Fixed Assets

(i) Tangible Assets 12  43,72,00,531  56,34,43,432 
(b) Non-Current Investments 13  15,37,18,339  15,05,39,265 
(c) Long-Term Loans and Advances 14  36,79,77,364  27,50,57,091 
(d) Other Non Current Assets 15  17,98,462  6,034 

 96,06,94,696  98,90,45,822 
(2) Current Assets
(a) Inventories 16  99,44,765  1,07,45,745 
(b) Trade Receivables 17  77,96,39,664  76,36,80,548 
(c) Cash & Cash Equivalents 18  2,50,95,127  2,76,40,408 
(d) Short Term Loans and Advances 19  13,45,22,018  16,67,76,250 
(e) Other Current Assets 20  81,692  5,24,365 

 94,92,83,266  96,93,67,316 
TOTAL  1,90,99,77,961  1,95,84,13,139 
See accompanying notes forming part of the 
financial statements
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In terms of our report aƩached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March, 2015 

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS Note
No.

For the year ended 
31st March, 2015

For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

1 Revenue from operaƟons (gross) 21  6,08,48,398  15,80,98,342 
Less: Service Tax  40,17,000  59,30,597 
Revenue from operaƟons (net)  5,68,31,398  15,21,67,745 

2 Other income 22  91,66,069  42,87,302 
3 Total revenue (1+2)  6,59,97,466  15,64,55,047 
4 Expenses

Cost of Material Consumed 23.a  1,80,64,580  8,05,47,082 
Changes in Inventories of finished goods, work-
in-progress and stock-in-trade

23.b  -    -   

Employee benefits expense 24  73,41,445  71,01,711 
Finance costs 25  6,58,86,729  6,35,95,320 
DepreciaƟon and amorƟsaƟon expense 12  91,11,496  37,20,007 
Other expenses 26  4,01,67,732  14,14,19,752 
Total expenses  14,05,71,983  29,63,83,871 

5 Profit / (Loss) before tax  (3 - 4)  (7,45,74,516)  (13,99,28,824)
6 Tax expense:

Current tax expense for current year  -    -   
Current tax expense relaƟng to prior years  -    -   
Deferred tax 31  (17,01,036)  (2,68,347)

 (17,01,036)  (2,68,347)
7 Profit / (Loss) for the year (5 - 6)  (7,28,73,480)  (13,96,60,477)
8 Less: Minority Interest  6,818  66,044 

Add: Share of Profit in Associate  2,674  -   
9 Profit / (Loss) for the year (7 - 8)  (7,28,77,625)  (13,97,26,520)
9.1 Earnings per share (of Rs. 10/- each): 30

(a) Basic  (2.10)  (4.03)
(b) Diluted  (2.10)  (3.90)
See accompanying notes forming part of the 
financial statements
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In terms of our report aƩached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March, 2015

(Amount in `)

PARTICULARS For the year ended 
31st March, 2015

For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

A. Cash flow from operaƟng acƟviƟes
Net Profit / (Loss) before extraordinary items and tax  (7,45,74,516)  (13,99,28,824)
Adjustments for:
DepreciaƟon and amorƟsaƟon  91,11,496  37,20,007 
AmorƟzaƟon of Preliminary expenses  (17,92,428)  6,034 
Finance costs  6,58,86,729  6,35,95,320 
Interest income  (15,60,646)  7,16,45,152  (21,52,408)  6,51,68,953 
OperaƟng profit / (loss) before working capital 
changes

 (29,29,365)  (7,47,59,871)

Changes in working capital:
Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in operaƟng 
assets:
Inventories  8,00,980  30,73,686 
Trade receivables  (1,59,59,116)  18,65,65,003 
Short-term loans and advances  3,98,33,916  1,61,37,160 
Long-term loans and advances  (1,37,06,760)  23,36,680 
Other current assets  4,42,673  1,14,11,693  22,27,891  21,03,40,420 
Adjustments for increase / (decrease) in operaƟng 
liabiliƟes:
Other long term liabiliƟes  (33,00,000)  16,18,000 
 Long Term Borrowing  -    (36,000)
Long term provisions  5,000  5,000 
Trade payables  (6,38,40,095)  (19,12,80,506)
Other current liabiliƟes  3,48,17,814  2,67,24,413 
Short-term provisions  -    (3,23,17,281)  -    (16,29,69,093)
Cash flow from extraordinary items  -    -   
Cash generated from operaƟons  (2,38,34,952)  (2,73,88,544)
Net income tax (paid) / refunds  (75,95,693)  (2,84,507)
Net cash flow from / (used in) operaƟng acƟviƟes (A)  (3,14,30,645)  (2,76,73,052)

B. Cash flow from invesƟng acƟviƟes
Capital expenditure on fixed assets  (8,09,406)  (24,96,962)
Capital  advance  5,23,80,000  (2,60,53,614)
Proceeds from sale of Fixed Assets  -    -   
Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash 
equivalents
  - Placed  -    -   
  - Matured  50,76,047  (42,13,247)
Purchase of long-term investments
  - Others  (31,79,074)  (89,000)
Loans & Advances given 
  - Associates & Enterprise under significant infuence  (13,27,93,513)  1,60,40,000 
  - Joint Ventures  (85,79,630)  (1,42,616)
Interest received
  - Others  15,60,646  21,52,408 
Adjustment for change in Subsidiaries to Associates 11,70,63,839  -   
Net cash flow from / (used in) invesƟng acƟviƟes (B)  3,07,18,910  (1,48,03,031)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March, 2015 (Contd.)

(Amount in `)
PARTICULARS For the year ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

C. Cash flow from financing acƟviƟes
Proceeds from issue of share warrants  -    (12,34,95,000)
Share ApplicaƟon Money received/(refunded)  -    (1,07,00,000)
IPO Share ApplicaƟon Money transferred  1,63,680  -   
Proceeds from conversion of share warrants into shares  -    16,77,63,170 
Share issued to Minority Shareholders & Capital Reserve  80,03,651  80,29,901 
Net increase / (decrease) in working capital borrowings  6,11,25,580  5,88,27,247 
Finance cost  (6,58,86,729)  (6,35,95,320)
Cash flow from extraordinary items  -    -   
Net cash flow from / (used in) financing acƟviƟes (C)  34,06,182  3,68,29,998 
Net increase / (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents 
(A+B+C)

 26,94,446  (56,46,084)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  88,94,089  1,45,40,174 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  1,15,88,535  88,94,089 
ReconciliaƟon of Cash and cash equivalents with the 
Balance Sheet:
Cash and cash equivalents as per Balance Sheet (Refer 
Note 16)

 2,50,95,125  2,76,40,406 

Less: Bank balances not considered as Cash and cash 
equivalents as defined in AS 3 Cash Flow Statements 
Deposit pledged with bank as security against 
borrowings 

 1,35,06,590  1,85,82,637 

IPO refund account  -    1,35,06,590  1,63,680  1,87,46,317 
Net Cash and cash equivalents (as defined in AS 3 Cash 
Flow Statements) included in Note 16

 1,15,88,535  88,94,089 

Add: Current investments considered as part of Cash 
and cash equivalents (as defined in AS 3 Cash Flow 
Statements)

 -    -   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year *  1,15,88,535  88,94,089 
* Comprises:
(a) Cash on hand  60,99,087  81,55,148 
(b) Balances with banks
(i) In current accounts  54,89,448  7,38,941 
(ii) In deposit accounts with original maturity of less 
than 3 months

 -    -   

Total  1,15,88,535  88,94,089 
Notes: 
(i) The Cash Flow Statement reflects the combined cash flows pertaining to conƟnuing and discounƟng operaƟons.
(ii) These earmarked account balances with banks can be uƟlised only for the specific idenƟfied purposes.

See accompanying notes forming part of the financial statements

In terms of our report aƩached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary
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Note 1: CORPORATE INFORMATION 
KaushalyaInfrastructure Development CorporaƟon 
Limited (the company) is a public limited company 
domiciled in India and incorporated under the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. Its shares are 
listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange and NaƟonal 
Stock Exchange. The company is primarily engaged 
in execuƟng construcƟon contracts relaƟng to 
infrastructure and real estate developments.
Moreover, it carries on the business in hotel segment, 
hotel industry and is also engaged in acquiring and 
purchasing of land. The company’s services are 
limited to domesƟc markets only. The consolidated 
statements have been prepared aŌer consolidaƟng 
the subsidiaries, step down subsidiaries, Associates 
and Joint Venture undertakings.
Note 2: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
2.1 Principles of ConsolidaƟon
 The Consolidated Financial Statements relate 

to Kaushalya Infrastructure Development 
CorporaƟon Limited (“the company”) and 
its subsidiary companies, associates & joint 
ventures. The consolidated financial statements 
have been accounted for in accordance with 
AccounƟng Standard 21- Consolidated Financial 
Statements, AccounƟng Standard 23-AccounƟng 
for Investments in Associates in Consolidated 
Financial Statements and AccounƟng Standard 
27- Financial ReporƟng of Interests in Joint 
Ventures respecƟvely of the Companies 
AccounƟng Standards (Rules), 2014. The 
Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared 
on the following basis :-

 i. Subsidiary companies are consolidated on 
a line-by-line basis by adding together the 
book values of the like items of assets, 
liabiliƟes, income and expenses aŌer fully 
eliminaƟng intra-group balances and intra 
group transacƟons and also unrealized 
profit or loss, except where cost cannot be 
recovered. The results of operaƟons of a 
subsidiary are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date on 
which the parent subsidiary relaƟonship 
came into existence.

 ii. Interests in the assets, liabiliƟes, income 
and expenses of the Joint Ventures 
are consolidated using proporƟonate 
consolidaƟon method. Intra group 
balances, transacƟons and unrealized 
profit/loss are eliminated to the extent of 
the Company’s proporƟonate share, except 
where cost cannot be recovered.

 iii. The difference between the cost to the 
investment in Subsidiaries and Joint 
Ventures and the proporƟonate share in 
the equity of the investee company as at 
the date of acquisiƟon of stake is recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements as 
Goodwill or Capital Reserve, as the case 
may be. Goodwill arising on consolidaƟon 
is tested for impairment annually. 

 iv. MinoriƟes’ interest in net Profits/Loss 
of consolidated subsidiaries for the 
year is idenƟfied and adjusted against 
the income in order to arrive at the net 
income aƩributable to the shareholders 
of the Company. Their share of net 
assets is idenƟfied and presented in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet separately. 
Where accumulated losses aƩributable to 
the minoriƟes are in excess of their equity, 
in the absence of the contractual obligaƟon 
on the minoriƟes, the same is accounted 
for by the holding company.

 v. Investments in Associates are accounted 
for using the equity method, under which 
the investment is iniƟally recorded at 
cost, idenƟfying any goodwill/ capital 
reserve arising at the Ɵme of acquisiƟon. 
The carrying amount of the investment is 
adjusted thereaŌer for the post acquisiƟon 
change in the share of net assets of the 
Associate, aŌer eliminaƟng  unrealised 
profit or losses resulƟng from transacƟons 
between the company and its associates 
to the extent of its share, through its 
Consolidated Profit and Loss Statement, to 
the extent such change is aƩributable to 
the associates’ Profit and Loss Statement 
and through its reserves for the balance 
based on available informaƟon. Where 
the associate prepares and presents 
consolidated financial statements, such 
consolidated financial statements of the 
associate are used for the purpose of equity 
accounƟng. In other cases, standalone 
financial statements of associates are used 
for the purpose of consolidaƟon.

 vi. As far as possible, the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared using uniform 
accounƟng policies for like transacƟons and 
other events in similar circumstances and 
are presented, to the extent possible, in the 
same manner as the Company’s standalone 
financial statements. Differences in 
accounƟng policies are disclosed separately.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements
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 vii. The financial statements of the enƟƟes 
used for the purpose of consolidaƟon are 
drawn up to same reporƟng date as that 
of the Company i.e. year ended March 31, 
2015.

 viii. As per AccounƟng Standard 21- Consoli-
dated Financial Statements noƟfied by 
Companies (AccounƟng Standards) Rules, 
2014, only the notes involving items 
which are material need to be disclosed. 

Materiality for this purpose is assessed 
in relaƟon to the informaƟon contained 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
Further, addiƟonal statutory informaƟon 
disclosed in separate financial statements 
of the subsidiary and/or the parent having 
no bearing on the true and fair view of 
the consolidated financial statements is 
not disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements.

The subsidiary companies, associates and joint ventures considered in the consolidated Financial Statements in 
each of the years are listed below:-

Name of the company Country of 
IncorporaƟon

RelaƟonship Percentage of Ownership Interest 
directly and indirectly

31st March, 
2015

31st March, 
2014

Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. India Subsidiary 51% 51%

Bengal KDC Housing 
Development Ltd.

India Subsidiary 51% 51%

Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. India Subsidiary 95.50% 95.50%

Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.
(Subsidiary of Kaushalya Energy 
(P) Ltd.)

India Step down
Subsidiary

55% of 99% 55% of 99%

Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd. India Subsidiary 53.90%` 73.49%`

Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. India Associates 46.00% 68.66%

Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. India Associates 48.33% 72.50%

KIDCO NACC – ConsorƟum Unicorporated JV EnƟty 90% 90%
2.2 Basis of accounƟng and preparaƟon of financial statements:
 The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Generally Accepted 

AccounƟng Principles in India (Indian GAAP) to comply with the AccounƟng Standards as prescribed under 
SecƟon 133 of the Companies Act, 2013(‘the Act’) read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014, the provisions of the Act(to the extent noƟfied) and guidelines issued by the SecuriƟes and Exchange 
Board of India (SEBI).  The financial statements have been prepared on accrual basis under historical cost 
convenƟon. The accounƟng policies adopted in the preparaƟon of the financial statements are consistent 
with those followed in the previous year.

2.3 Use of esƟmates
 The preparaƟon of the financial statements in conformity with Indian GAAP requires the management to 

make esƟmates and assumpƟons considered in the reported amounts of assets and liabiliƟes (including 
conƟngent liabiliƟes) and the reported income and expenses during the year.  The management believes 
that the esƟmates used in preparaƟon of the financial statements areprudent and reasonable.  Future 
results could differ due to these esƟmates and the differences between the actual results and the esƟmates 
are recognized in the periods in which the results are known / materialize.

2.4 Inventories 
 The stock of raw materials, stores and spares, other construcƟon materials and fuel are valued at cost under 

FIFO method or net realizable value whichever is lower.
 Work-in-progress is valued at cost.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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2.5 Cash and cash equivalents (for purposes of Cash 
Flow Statement)

 Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 
deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-
term balances (with an original maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisiƟon), 
highly liquid investments that are readily 
converƟble into known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes 
in value. 

2.6 Cash flow statement
 Cash flows are reported using the indirect 

method, whereby profit / (loss) before 
extraordinary items and tax is adjusted for the 
effects of transacƟons of non-cash nature and 
any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash 
receipts or payments. The cash flows from 
operaƟng, invesƟng and financing acƟviƟes 
of the Company are segregated based on the 
available informaƟon.

2.7 DepreciaƟon
 i) Tangible Fixed Assets
  a)  DepreciaƟon is provided from the date 

the assets are ready to be put to use, on 
straight line method as per the useful 
life of the assets as prescribed under 
Part C of Schedule II of the Companies 
Act, 2013 except for the Plant & 
Machineryand Cycles purchased before 
FY 2004-05 where the management 
has esƟmated that there were no 
useful life of the aforemenƟoned assets 
and thusdiffers from the useful life 
prescribed under the Act.

   For the aforemenƟoned assets, the 
company has charged amount of ` 
40,43,060/- as depreciaƟon in statement 
of profit & loss instead of deducƟng it 
from retained earnings for fair &beƩer 
presentaƟon of financial statements.

2.8 Revenue recogniƟon
 Income from services 
 Revenues from contracts priced on a Ɵme and 

material basis are recognized when services 
are rendered and related costs are incurred. 
Revenues from turnkey contracts, which are 
generally Ɵme bound fixed price contracts, are 
recognized over the life of the contract using the 
proporƟonate compleƟon method, with contract 
costs determining the degree of compleƟon. 
Foreseeable losses on such contracts are 
recognized when probable.

 Revenues from maintenance contracts are 

recognized pro-rata over the period of the 
contract.

 Contract Income
 a. The company follows the policy of 

recognizing the revenue as soon as the work 
is completed, irrespecƟve of the cerƟficaƟon. 
However, whenever the work gets cerƟfied, 
the company takes the cerƟfied porƟon of 
the previously uncerƟfied revenue in the 
turnover and deducts the same amount from 
the uncerƟfied porƟon of the revenue of the 
respecƟve financial year.

 b. It is to be noted that  out of the total revenue 
of ` 6,08,33,560/- in the financial year 2014-
15, an amount of ` 5,94,17,000/- is pending 
for cerƟficaƟon.

 Income from Hotel
 Income from hotel is recognized on accrual basis. 

Profit before depreciaƟon from hotel business 
is recognized as income in statement of profit 
and loss. DepreciaƟon and Taxes related to Hotel 
Business is shown under respecƟve heads of 
statement of profit and loss.

2.9 Other income  
 Interest: Interest income is generally recognized 

on Ɵme proporƟon basis taking into account the 
amount outstanding and the rate applicable.  

 Maintenance & Hire Charges: Income from 
Maintenance and Hire Charges is recognized on 
accrual basis.

2.10 Tangible Fixed Assets
 Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciaƟon.The cost of fixed assets comprises 
its purchase price, directly aƩributable expen-
diture on making the asset ready for itsintended 
use, other incidental expenses and interest 
onborrowings aƩributable to acquisiƟon or 
construcƟon ofqualifying fixed assets, up to 
the date the asset is ready for its intended use. 
Subsequent expenditure on fixed assets aŌer its 
purchase/compleƟon is capitalised only if such 
expenditure results in an increase in the future 
benefits from such assets beyond its previously 
assessed standard of performance.

2.11 Investments
 a. Long-term investments (excluding investment 

properƟes), are carried individually at cost 
less provision for diminuƟon, other than 
temporary, in the value of such investments. 
Current investments are carried individually, 
at the lower of cost and fair value. Cost of 
investments includes acquisiƟon charges 
such as brokerage, fees and duƟes.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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  Investment in Lands are carried individually 
at cost less accumulated depreciaƟon and 
impairment, if any. 

2.12 Employee Benefits
 Employee benefits include provident fund, ESI 

and gratuity. ContribuƟon to Provident fund, ESI, 
Medical reimbursement etc. is charged to the 
Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.

 The provision for gratuity has been made, with 
out any actuarial valuaƟon, and also not paid to 
any gratuity fund.

2.13 Borrowing Costs
 Borrowing cost aƩributable to the acquisiƟon 

of qualifying assets is added to the cost up 
to the date when such assets are ready for 
their intended use. Other borrowing costs are 
recognized as expenses in the period in which 
these are incurred.

2.14 Segment reporƟng
 The Company has idenƟfied two reportable 

segments viz. ConstrucƟon & Hotel. Segments 
have been idenƟfied and reported taking into 
account nature of products and services, the 

differing risks and returns and the internal 
business reporƟng systems. In so far as 
geographical segment is concerned, the company 
is carrying out its business only in domesƟc 
markets. Therefore, there are no separately 
idenƟfiable geographical segments.

 The accounƟng policies adopted for segment 
reporƟng are in line with the accounƟng policy of 
the Company with following addiƟonal policies 
for segment reporƟng.

 a) Revenue and Expenses have been idenƟfied 
to a segment on the basis of relaƟonship to 
operaƟng acƟviƟes of the segment. Revenue 
and Expenses which relate to enterprise as 
a whole and are not allocable to a segment 
on reasonable basis have been disclosed as 
“Unallocable”.

 b) Segment Assets and Segment LiabiliƟes 
represent Assets and LiabiliƟes in respecƟve 
segments. Investments, tax related assets 
and other assets and liabiliƟes that cannot 
be allocated to a segment on reasonable 
basis have been disclosed as “Unallocable”.

      

SEGMENTAL REPORTING AS PER AS 17 ISSUED BY THE ICAI                                                               (Amount in `) 

ParƟculars
2014-15  2013-14

 ConstrucƟon  Hotel  Total  ConstrucƟon  Hotel  Total 
Segment Revenue 6,53,72,902 14,04,691 6,67,77,593 15,53,36,527 11,37,206 15,64,73,733
Unallocable 
Revenue

6,09,727 7,56,009

Total Revenue 6,53,72,902 14,04,691 6,73,87,320 15,53,36,527 11,37,206 15,72,29,742
Segment 
Expenditures

13,98,90,694 18,82,515 14,17,73,209 29,59,89,588 9,74,447 29,69,64,035

Total Expenditures 13,98,90,694 18,82,515 14,17,73,209 29,59,89,588 9,74,447 29,69,64,035
Segment Results
Segment Profit 
Before Tax

(7,45,17,792) (4,77,824) (7,43,85,890) (14,06,53,061) 1,62,759 (13,97,34,293)

Unallocable 
Expenditures

            -            -   1,88,626            -           -   1,94,531

Profit Before Tax (7,45,74,516) (13,99,28,824)
Less : Current Tax                       -                         -   
Less : Deferred Tax (17,01,036) (2,68,347)
PAT (before 
adjustment for 
Minority Interest & 
Associates)

(7,28,73,480) (13,96,60,477)

Less : Share 
of Profit t/f to 
Minority Interest

6,818 66,044

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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ParƟculars
2014-15  2013-14

 ConstrucƟon  Hotel  Total  ConstrucƟon  Hotel  Total 
Add : Share 
of Profit from 
Associates

2,674                       -   

(7,28,77,625) (13,97,26,520)
Segment Assets 1,75,46,81,787 1,20,05,942 1,76,66,87,729 1,80,65,83,561 1,25,08,739 1,81,90,92,300
Unallocable Assets 14,32,90,233 13,93,20,839
Total Assets 1,75,46,81,787 1,20,05,942 1,90,99,77,962 1,80,65,83,561 1,25,08,739 1,95,84,13,139
Segment LiabiliƟes 1,83,30,56,260 1,20,05,942 1,84,50,62,202 1,88,08,13,950 1,25,08,739 1,89,33,22,689
Unallocable 
LiabiliƟes

6,49,15,760 6,50,90,450

Total LiabiliƟes 1,83,30,56,260 1,20,05,942 1,90,99,77,962 1,88,08,13,950 1,25,08,739 1,95,84,13,139

2.15 Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing 
the profit / (loss) aŌer tax (including the post 
tax effect of extraordinary items, if any) by the 
weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings 
per share is computed by dividing  the profit / 
(loss) aŌer tax (including the post tax effect 
of extraordinary items, if any) as adjusted for 
dividend, interest and other charges to expense 
or income relaƟng to the diluƟve potenƟal equity 
shares, by the weighted average number of equity 
shares considered for deriving basic earnings 
per share and the weighted average number of 
equity shares which could have been issued on 
the conversion of all diluƟve potenƟal equity 
shares. PotenƟal equity shares are deemed to be 
diluƟve only if their conversion to equity shares 
would decrease the net profit per share from 
conƟnuing ordinary operaƟons. PotenƟal diluƟve 
equity shares are deemed to be converted as at 
the beginning of the period, unless they have 
been issued at a later date. The diluƟve potenƟal 
equity shares are adjusted for the proceeds 
receivable had the shares been actually issued 
at fair value (i.e. average market value of the 
outstanding shares). DiluƟve potenƟal equity 
shares are determined independently for 
each period presented. The number of equity 
shares and potenƟally diluƟve equity shares are 
adjusted for share splits / reverse share splits and 
bonus shares, as appropriate. 

2.16 Taxes on income

 "Current tax is the amount of tax payable on 
the taxable income for the year as determined 
in accordance with the provisions of the Income 
Tax Act, 1961.

 Deferred tax is recognized on Ɵming differences, 
being the differences between the taxable income 
and the accounƟng income that originate in one 
period and are capable of reversal in one or more 
subsequent periods.  Deferred tax is measured 
using the tax rates and the tax laws enacted 
or substanƟally enacted as at the reporƟng 
date.  Deferred tax liabiliƟes are recognized for 
all Ɵming differences. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for Ɵming differences of items other 
than unabsorbed depreciaƟon and carry forward 
losses only to theextent that reasonable certainty 
exists that sufficient future taxable income will 
be available against which these can be realized. 
However, if there are unabsorbed depreciaƟon 
andcarry forward of losses, deferred tax assets 
are recognized only if there is virtual certainty 
that there will be sufficienƞuture taxable income 
available to realise the assets.

2.17 Impairment of assets

 The carrying values of assets / cash generaƟng 
units at each Balance Sheet date are reviewed 
for impairment. If any indicaƟon of impairment 
exists, the recoverable amount of such assets 
is esƟmated and impairment is recognised, if 
the carrying amount of these assets exceeds 
their recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the greater of the net selling price and 
their value in use. Value in use is arrived at by 
discounƟng the future cash flows to their present 
value based on an appropriate discount factor. 
When there is indicaƟon that an impairment 
loss recognised for an asset in earlier accounƟng 
periods no longer exists or may have decreased, 
such reversal of impairment loss is recognised in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss, except in case 
of revalued assets.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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2.18 Provisions and conƟngencies

 A provision is recognised when the Company has 
a present obligaƟon as a result of past events 
and it is probable that an ouƞlow of resources 
will be required to seƩle the obligaƟon in respect 
of which a reliable esƟmate can be made. 
Provisions (excluding reƟrement benefits) are 
not discounted to their present value and are 
determined based on the best esƟmate required 
to seƩle the obligaƟon at the Balance Sheet 
date. These are reviewed at each Balance Sheet 
date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
esƟmates. ConƟngent liabiliƟes are disclosed in 
the Notes.ConƟngent assets are not recognised 
in the financial statements.

2.19 Service Tax Input Credits

 Service tax input credit is accounted for in the 
books in the period in which the underlying 
service received.

2.20 OperaƟng Cycle

 Based on the nature of products / acƟviƟes of 
the Company and the normal Ɵme between 
acquisiƟon of assets and theirrealisaƟon in cash 
or cash equivalents, the Company has determined 
its operaƟng cycle as 36 months for real estate & 
infrastructure projects and 12 months for others 
for the purpose of classificaƟon of its assets and 
liabiliƟes as current and non-current.

2.21 Advances to Subsidiaries& Associates:

 The amount of ` 482,462,888/- in aggregate 
is standing as advance to its subsidiaries& 
associates at the balance sheet date out of 
which advances to the tune of ` 480,986,485/- is 
outstanding, which was advanced for purchase 
of land by the subsidiaries & associates made 
under agreement. The Company had entered 
into agreements with Kaushalya Township 
(P) Ltd., Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd., and Orion 
Abasaan (P) Ltd. that whenever they will sell 
land or developed land or project on the land the 
Company’s interest shall be safeguarded as per 
the terms of the agreement.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 3 : SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
ParƟculars  Number of 

shares
`  Number of 

shares
 `

(a)  Authorised

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with voƟng rights  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000 

 3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000  3,50,00,000  35,00,00,000 

(b)  Issued

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with voƟng rights  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

 3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 
(c)  Subscribed and fully paid up

Equity shares of ` 10/- each with voƟng rights  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

Total  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300  3,46,30,630  34,63,06,300 

Refer Notes (i) to (iii) below

Notes :

(i) ReconciliaƟon of the number of shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporƟng period:

ParƟculars  Opening 
Balance

Fresh Issue  Other 
Changes

 Closing 
Balance

Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid-up
Equity shares with vo ng rights
Year ended 31 March, 2015
- Number of shares  3,46,30,630  -  -  3,46,30,630 
- Amount (`)  34,63,06,300  -  -  34,63,06,300 
Year ended 31 March, 2014
- Number of shares  1,96,05,630  1,50,25,000  -  3,46,30,630 
- Amount (`)  19,60,56,300  15,02,50,000  -  34,63,06,300 

(ii) Details of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares :   

As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

ParƟculars Number of 
shares held

% holding in 
that class of 

shares 

Number of 
shares held

% holding in 
that class of 

shares 

Class of shares / Name of shareholder 

Equity shares with voƟng rights

MahanƟ Engineers Pvt. Ltd.  50,82,600  14.68  50,82,600  14.68 

Sunkissed Merchandise Pvt. Ltd.  50,22,900  14.50  50,22,900  14.50 

Keleenworth MarkeƟng Pvt. Ltd.  43,36,350  12.52  43,36,350  12.52 

Total  1,44,41,850  41.70  1,44,41,850  41.70 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 4 : RESERVES & SURPLUS 

ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
(a)  SecuriƟes premium account

Opening balance 47,93,84,836 46,43,59,836
Add : Premium on shares issued during the year  - 1,50,25,000
Less : UƟlised during the year for:  -  - 
Closing balance 47,93,84,836 47,93,84,836

(b)  RevaluaƟon Reserve 
Opening balance  2,39,87,021  2,39,87,021 
Add: AddiƟon on revaluaƟons during the year  -  - 
Less: UƟlised for set off against depreciaƟon  -  - 
Closing balance  2,39,87,021  2,39,87,021 

(c)  General Reserve 
Opening balance  2,45,00,000  2,45,00,000 
Add: Transferred from surplus in Statement of Profit and 
Loss

 -  - 

Less: UƟlised / transferred during the year for:  -  - 
Closing balance  2,45,00,000  2,45,00,000 

(d) Share in Reserves of Joint Venture  (8,79,646)
(e)Capital Reserve

Balance as per Last Year  2,393,959  (94,211)
Add/(Less) : Adjustment on conversion of subsidiary 
to  associates

 (3,744,816)  2,488,170 

Total  (1,350,857)  2,393,959 
(f) Surplus / (Deficit) in Statement of Profit and Loss 

Opening balance  47,527,131  187,253,651 
Add: Profit / (Loss) for the year  (72,877,625)  (139,726,520)
Closing balance  (25,350,494)  47,527,131 
Total  500,290,861  577,792,947 

Note 6 : OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES 

ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Advances from Related ParƟes

Joint Venture & Associates

- Joint Venture & Associates  9,40,350  95,19,980 

- From RelaƟves of KMPs  -    24,00,000 

Advance against Land  9,91,00,000  10,00,00,000 

Total  10,00,40,350  11,19,19,980 

Note 5 : Long Term Borrowings

ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Unsecured loan

JagriƟ Investment Pvt. Ltd  10,00,000  10,00,000 

Total  10,00,000  10,00,000 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 7 : LONG TERM PROVISIONS  
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Provision for Employee Benefits - Gratuity  8,46,411  8,41,411 
 8,46,411  8,41,411 

Note 8 : SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

Loans repayable on demand
(a)   Cash Credit From banks 

Secured
(i)    State Bank of India*  29,64,03,282  25,69,03,947 

 State Bank of India CC  19,19,80,883  15,25,40,295 
 State Bank of India FITL  3,60,75,399  3,53,78,122 
 State Bank of India WCTL  6,83,47,000  6,89,85,530 
(Secured by way of hypothecaƟon of stock of raw material, 
work-in-progress, book debts and personal guarantee of 
directors and their relaƟves, collateral security of property 
of the company and group companies.)

(ii) Indian Overseas Bank  31,83,06,373  29,66,80,128 
 Indian Overseas Bank CC  18,64,76,427  17,03,42,544 
 Indian Overseas Bank FITL  4,52,33,612  4,26,02,584 
 Indian Overseas Bank WCTL  8,65,96,334  8,37,35,000 
(Secured by way of hypothecaƟon of stock of raw material, 
work-in-progress, book debts and personal guarantee of 
directors and their relaƟves, collateral security of property 
of the company and group companies.)

 61,47,09,655  55,35,84,075 

* Also refer Note 34(e)

Note 9 : TRADE PAYABLES
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Acceptances  -    -   
Other than Acceptances  13,11,02,188  19,49,42,282 
Total  13,11,02,188  19,49,42,282 

Note 10 : OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES  
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Statutory RemiƩances  2,00,99,543  1,15,42,993 
Advances from customers/ contractors  10,32,45,273  7,68,20,329 

Share ApplicaƟon Money Due for refund  -    1,63,680 

Payable for Fixed Assets  11,40,102  23,40,102 
 12,44,84,918  9,08,67,104 

Note 11 : SHORT TERM PROVISIONS 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Provision for Income-tax  6,36,34,013  6,36,50,023 
Provision for FBT  4,35,336  4,35,336 

 6,40,69,349  6,40,85,359 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Note 12 : FIXED ASSETS
ParƟculars Gross Block DepreciaƟon Net Block

As at 
01.04.2014

AddiƟons DeducƟons Total Upto
31.03.2014

For the
Year

Sales/
Adjustments

Total As at
31.03.2015

As at
31.03.2014

TANGIBLE ASSETS
(a) Land

Freehold  39,56,00,864  7,36,299  -    39,63,37,163  -    -    -    -    39,63,37,163  39,56,00,864 
Subsidiaries  39,56,00,864  7,36,299  -    39,63,37,163  -    -    -    -    39,63,37,163  39,56,00,864 
- BKDC  11,59,94,373  -    -    11,59,94,373  -    -    -    -    11,59,94,373  11,59,94,373 
- KTPL  27,96,06,491  7,36,299  -    28,03,42,790  -    -    -    -    28,03,42,790  27,96,06,491 

(b) Buildings 
Owned  99,93,919  -    -    99,93,919  18,36,168  1,54,053  -    19,90,221  80,03,698  81,57,751 
Construc on  1,07,298  -    -    1,07,298  1,07,298  -    -    1,07,298  -    -   
- Site Building  1,07,298  -    -    1,07,298  1,07,298  -    -    1,07,298  -    -   
Hotel  98,86,621  -    -    98,86,621  17,28,870  1,54,053  -    18,82,923  80,03,698  81,57,751 
- Building  98,86,621  -    -    98,86,621  17,28,870  1,54,053  -    18,82,923  80,03,698  81,57,751 

(c) Plant and Equipment
Owned  6,54,67,460  -    -    6,54,67,460  2,60,80,304  80,80,310  -    3,41,60,614  3,13,06,846  3,93,87,156 
Construc on  6,46,71,342  -    -    6,46,71,342  2,56,56,067  77,41,701  -    3,33,97,768  3,12,73,574  3,90,15,275 
- Plant & Machinery  6,16,04,246  -    -    6,16,04,246  2,25,88,971  77,41,701  -    3,03,30,672  3,12,73,574  3,90,15,275 
- JCB Excavator  30,67,096  -    -    30,67,096  30,67,096  -    -    30,67,096  -    -   
Hotel  7,96,118  -    -    7,96,118  4,24,237  3,38,609  -    7,62,846  33,272  3,71,881 
- Plant & Machinery  7,96,118  -    -    7,96,118  4,24,237  3,38,609  -    7,62,846  33,272  3,71,881 

(d) Furniture and Fixtures
Owned  66,35,153  19,879  -    66,55,032  44,38,264  8,15,517  -    52,53,781  14,01,251  21,96,889 
Construc on  19,85,707  19,879  -    20,05,586  10,82,273  5,75,750  -    16,58,023  3,47,563  9,03,434 
Hotel  27,57,046  -    -    27,57,046  27,57,046  -    -    27,57,046  -    -   
Subsiadiaries  18,92,400  -    -    18,92,400  5,98,945  2,39,767  -    8,38,712  10,53,688  12,93,455 

(e) Vehicles
Owned  76,27,741  -    -    76,27,741  74,67,780  46,684  -    75,14,464  1,13,277  1,59,961 
Construc on  76,16,183  -    -    76,16,183  74,56,222  46,684  -    75,02,906  1,13,277  1,59,961 
- Motor Car  34,02,899  -    -    34,02,899  32,62,084  44,511  -    33,06,595  96,304  1,40,815 
- Vehicles  41,77,289  -    -    41,77,289  41,77,289  -    -    41,77,289  -    -   
- Cycles  35,995  -    -    35,995  16,849  2,173  -    19,022  16,973  19,146 
Hotel  11,558  -    -    11,558  11,558  -    -    11,558  -    -   
- Vehicles  11,558  -    -    11,558  11,558  -    -    11,558  -    -   

(f) Office equipment
Owned  9,81,084  53,228  -    10,34,312  9,81,084  14,932  -    9,96,016  38,296  -   
Construc on  9,44,534  53,228  -    9,97,762  9,44,534  14,932  -    9,59,466  38,296  -   
- Computer  9,44,534  53,228  -    9,97,762  9,44,534  14,932  -    9,59,466  38,296  -   
Hotel  36,550  -    -    36,550  36,550  -    -    36,550  -    -   
-Computer  36,550  -    -    36,550  36,550  -    -    36,550  -    -   

Total (`)  48,63,06,221  8,09,406  -    48,71,15,627  4,08,03,600  91,11,496  -    4,99,15,096  43,72,00,531  44,55,02,621 
Previous Year (`)  60,17,50,070 24,96,962  -    60,42,47,032  3,70,83,593  37,20,007  -    4,08,03,600  56,34,43,432  56,46,66,477 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)
Note 13 : NON CURRENT INVESTMENTS 

ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014

A.  Trade Investments  FV  Nos. `  Nos.  `
(a) Investment in Unquoted, fully paid-up Equity Shares of :

(i) Associates

Kaushalya Nirman Pvt. Ltd.  10  46,000  19,40,000 

Add: Share in profits for the year  2,065 

 19,42,065 

Orion Abasaan Pvt. Ltd.  10  29,000  10,90,000 

Add: Share in profits for the year  609 

 10,90,609 

 6,16,857  1,85,02,850  6,16,857  1,85,02,850 

(ii) Others
Balaji Turnkey Projects SoluƟon Pvt. Ltd.  10  2,28,600  5,14,35,000  2,28,600  5,14,35,000 
Enlightened Projects Ltd.  10  1,95,500  2,93,25,000  1,95,500  2,93,25,000 
Orkay Engineering Ltd.  10  8,53,000  4,26,50,000  8,53,000  4,26,50,000 
Flare Realty Engineering Pvt. Ltd.  10  2,600  26,000  2,600  26,000 
Flare Realty Engineering Pvt. Ltd.
(Held by Bengal KDC Housing Dev. Ltd.)

 10  2,600  26,000  2,600  26,000 

Flare Realty Engineering Pvt. Ltd.
(Held by Kaushalya Township Pvt. Ltd.)

 10  3,700  37,000  3,700  37,000 

Pushpadanta Vyapaar Pvt. Ltd. 
(Held by Kaushalya Township Pvt. Ltd.)

 10  10,000  1,00,400  -    -   

 13,71,000  12,66,32,074  12,86,000  12,34,99,000 
(b) Investment in Land  2,66,07,000  2,65,61,000 

 2,66,07,000  2,65,61,000 
B. Other than Trade Investments

Gold Coins [50 Gms. Each]  10  4,79,265  10  4,79,265 
 10  4,79,265  10  4,79,265 

Total  15,37,18,339  15,05,39,265 

Note 14 : LONG TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Unsecured and considered good
Capital Advances  4,13,75,576  9,49,55,576 
Security Deposits & Earnest Money Deposits  14,62,98,195  13,35,55,072 
Advance to Body Corporate  94,44,572  84,80,935 
Advances to related parƟes
- Enterprises under significant Influence  1,25,46,000  3,80,65,508 
- Associates Companies  15,83,13,021  -   

 36,79,77,364  27,50,57,091 
Note (i) Long Term Loans and Advances includes due from
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Other officers of the Company  10,89,85,241  11,23,91,707 

 10,89,85,241  11,23,91,707 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)



page

101

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

(Amount in `)
Note 15 : OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
UnamorƟsed Expenses
- Preliminary Expenses  17,98,462  6,034 

 17,98,462  6,034 

Note 16 : INVENTORIES 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Raw Materials  58,26,143  66,08,800 
Work in Progress
- ConstrucƟon Work in Progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 
- Stores & Spares  14,537  32,860 

 99,44,765  1,07,45,745 

Note 17 : TRADE RECEIVABLES 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Unsecured, considered good
Overdue for a period exceeding six months  73,75,06,104  67,01,25,891 
Other Trade receivables  4,21,33,560  9,35,54,657 

 77,96,39,664  76,36,80,548 

Note 18 : CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
(a) Cash on hand (as cerƟfied by the management)  60,99,087  81,55,148 
(b) Balances with banks
(i) In current accounts  54,89,448  7,38,941 
(iii) In earmarked accounts (Refer Note (i) below)
Balances in Deposit Accounts held as margin money or security 
against borrowings, guarantees and other commitments (Refer 
Note (i) below)

 1,35,06,590  1,85,82,637 

Share applicaƟon money received for allotment of securiƟes 
and due for refund 

 -  1,63,680 

 2,50,95,125  2,76,40,406 
Of the above, the balances that meet the definiƟon of Cash and 
cash equivalents as per AS 3 Cash Flow Statements is 

 1,15,88,535  88,94,089 

Notes:   
(i) Includes deposits amounƟng to ` 1,744,007/- (As at 31 March, 2014 ` 17,941,708/-) which have an original 

maturity of more than 12 months.  
(ii) Includes interest of ` 7,25,511/-  

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Note 19 : SHORT TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Unsecured, considered good
Advances to Suppliers & Subcontractors  1,03,16,172  2,65,73,391 
Advances to Employees  4,61,381  4,37,019 
Advance against Expenses  1,58,278  2,52,39,722 
Advance to Body Corporate  16,00,000  -   
Prepaid Expenses (Unsecured, considered good)  3,66,149  4,85,764 
Balances with government authoriƟes 
- Income Tax Payments  12,16,20,038  11,40,40,354 

 13,45,22,018  16,67,76,250 

Note 19A: PROFIT FROM HOTEL BUSINESS
ParƟculars For the year Ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS
Food Sale  3,48,991  2,62,187 
Room Rent  6,35,745  4,72,194 
Service Income  -    125 
CulƟvaƟon Income  2,49,955  4,02,700 
Agricultural Income  1,70,000 
Total (A)  14,04,691  11,37,206 
EXPENDITURE
Raw Food Purchased  2,09,462  1,49,079 
Fuel (Cooking)  34,134  33,112 
Repairs & Maintenance - Buildings  2,43,783  54,632 
Transport Expenses  3,280  810 
Stores  30,683  12,823 
Employee Benefits

Salary  1,07,400  26,100 
Site Allowance  18,600  5,400 

AdministraƟve & Other Expenses
Bank Charges  1,812  550 
Books & Periodicals  1,880  1,683 
Commission Charges  750  -   
Electricity Charges  1,73,437  88,300 
CulƟvaƟon Expenses  1,27,115  2,03,450 
General Expenses  40,179  18,396 
Gardening Expenses  97,332  27,734 
Interest on Delay Payment of Vat  1,193  -   
Medical Expenses  150  250 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)



page

103

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

Note 20 : OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Accruals 
Interest accrued on deposits  81,692  5,24,364 

 81,692  5,24,364 
Note 21 : REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS 
ParƟculars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

Sale of Services (Gross) 
Contract Receipts  6,08,33,560  15,77,35,831 

Other OperaƟng Revenues
Profit from Hotel (Refer Note 19A)  14,838  3,62,511 

 6,08,48,398  15,80,98,342 
Less: Service Tax  40,17,000  59,30,597 

 5,68,31,398  15,21,67,745 

Note 22 : OTHER INCOME 
ParƟculars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

Interest Income
- Interest from Bank on Deposits  15,60,646  21,52,408 
- Income from Maintenance Work  26,50,000  -   
Sundry Credit balance W/off  22,51,496  -   
Hire Charges  20,87,000  13,78,885 
Prior Period Income  7,200 
Miscellaneous Income  6,09,727  7,56,009 
(Net of expenses directly aƩributable ` Nil Prev. Year ` Nil)

 91,66,069  42,87,302 

(Amount in `)

ParƟculars For the year Ended 
31st March, 2015

For the year Ended 
31st March, 2014

Labour Charges incl. Allowances  1,94,300  76,050 
Laundry Expenses  11,186  5,056 
Legal & Professional Charges  -    9,000 
Postage/Fax/Courier  910  120 
PrinƟng & StaƟonery  2,215  -   
Rates & Taxes  18,150  3,200 
Security Expenses  51,000  49,000 
SubscripƟon  7,552  7,204 
Telephone Expenses  30  -   
Travelling & Conveyance  13,320  2,746 

Total (B)  13,89,853  7,74,695 
Profit/(Loss) before DepreciaƟon (A-B)  14,838  3,62,511 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Note 23 : a : COST OF MATERIAL CONSUMED 
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Opening stock  66,41,660  97,15,346 
Add: Purchases  1,72,63,600  7,74,73,396 

 2,39,05,260  8,71,88,742 
Less: Closing stock  58,40,680  66,41,660 
Cost of material consumed  1,80,64,580  8,05,47,082 

Note 23 : b:  CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, WORKͳINͳPROGRESS AND STOCK IN TRADE
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Inventories at the beginning of the year:
Work-in-progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

 41,04,085  41,04,085 
Less: Inventories at the end of the year:
Work-in-progress  41,04,085  41,04,085 

 41,04,085  41,04,085 
Net (increase) / decrease - -

Note 24 : EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES  
ParƟculars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

Salary, Allowances & Bonus  40,78,964  41,43,371 
Directors' RemuneraƟon  27,30,000  25,20,000 
ContribuƟon to PF, ESI & Other Funds  46,872  50,288 
Staff Welfare  4,80,609  3,83,052 
Employee ReƟrement Benefits  5,000  5,000 

 73,41,445  71,01,711 

Note 25 : FINANCE COSTS
ParƟculars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

(a)  Interest expense on:
(i) Borrowings  6,23,66,790  5,75,34,042 
(ii) Delayed/Deferred payment of taxes  1,86,296  2,53,745 

(b)  Other borrowing costs  33,33,643  58,07,533 
 6,58,86,729  6,35,95,320 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Note 26 : OTHER EXPENSES
ParƟculars As at 31 March, 2015 As at 31 March, 2014
Contract OperaƟng Expenses
ConsumpƟon of Stores & Spare Parts  20,86,582  19,57,144 
Unrecoverable Works Contract  64,23,305  6,57,13,930 
Hire Charges  73,650  34,26,065 
Labour Charges & Allowances  1,67,32,028  3,54,81,567 
Power & Fuel  4,93,367  3,33,212 
Repairs & Maintenance- Machinery  11,85,275  7,13,377 
Freight Charges  45,450  65,320 
Service Tax  -    65,83,749 
Works Contract Tax  5,20,041  86,86,814 
Survey Charges  -    29,650 

 2,75,59,698  12,29,90,828 
AdministraƟve Expenses
Rent  12,86,565  12,70,850 
Rates & Taxes  5,54,743  5,41,966 
Insurance  33,254  77,535 
Consultancy & Professional Charges  13,22,151  15,36,418 
Directors' Siƫng Fee  1,57,500  83,000 
Electricity Charges  2,71,203  2,44,871 
Post, Telegraph, Telephone & Internet  5,27,715  4,68,550 
Travelling & Conveyance  7,26,297  8,35,015 
PrinƟng & StaƟonery  3,57,156  3,22,922 
Payment to Auditors
 - As Statutory Audit Fees  1,12,360  1,23,596 
 - As Tax Audit Fees  28,090  28,090 
 - For CerƟficaƟon  -    9,552 
Prior Period Expenses  62,324  -   
Miscellaneous Expenses  2,88,344  2,51,204 
Preliminary Expenses W/off  6,034  6,034 

 57,33,736  57,99,603 
Selling & DistribuƟon Expenses
AdverƟsement  1,42,915  1,35,550 
SubscripƟon  11,790  13,521 

 1,54,705  1,49,071 
Other Expenses
Sundry Debit/ (Credit) Balance W/Off  67,19,593  1,24,80,250 

 67,19,593  1,24,80,250 
Total  4,01,67,732  14,14,19,752 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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Note 27 : AddiƟonal InformaƟon of the Financial Statements
27.1 : ConƟngent LiabiliƟes and Commitments to the extent not provided for                                      (Amount in `)
Sl. No. ParƟculars As on 31.03.2015 As on 31.03.2014
1. a. Performance guarantees issued by the banks to various Government 

AuthoriƟes, for which the Company has provided counter guarantee against 
which fixed deposit receipts have been pledged by the Company.

50,297,983 47,623,983

b. Performance Guarantee issued on behalf of other company against which 
fixed deposit receipts have been pledged by the Company

8,674,000 8,674,000

c. Bank Interest Reversed     4,542,695 Nil 
2. Claims not acknowledged as debts

Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2004-05)          Nil 3,771,602
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2005-06) 90,875 72,381
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2006-07)             Nil 923,573
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2007-08) 2,846,864 4,098,684
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2009-10) 3,026,950 Nil
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2010-11) 3,761,030 3,761,030
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2011-12) 190,580 4,165,834
Income Tax Demand (Assessment Year 2012-13) 5,142,880 259,290

27.2 : Disclosures required under SecƟon 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006
The Company is in the process of idenƟfying the suppliers, who would be covered under the Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006. As confirmed by the management, the company has not yet 
received any informaƟon about such registraƟon from the vendors and such informaƟon will be provided as and 
when confirmaƟon is received from them. However, as regards the same, no documentary evidence has been 
found during the course of audit.
27.3 : Disclosure as per clause 32 of the lisƟng agreement
(Loans and advances in the nature of loans given to subsidiaries, associates and others and investment in 
shares of the Company by such parƟes)
The loans and advances in the nature of advances given by the company to its Subsidiaries and  Associates, 
amounts to ` 482,462,888/-, in aggregate as on 31st March 2015. The details of the same have been provided 
below:

(a)   Loans and advances in the nature of advances given to subsidiaries, associates and others    (Amount in `)

 Sl.
No.

 
Name of the Subsidiary

 Balance 
as at 

 31.03.2015 

 Maximum 
 Balance 
 2014-15 

 Balance 
as at 

 31.03.2014 

 Maximum 
 Balance 
 2013-14 

1 Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd. Nil 40,600           38,000           38,000 

2 Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.   118,232,236   119,131,586   119,128,986   131,759,986 

3 Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd. Nil            2,600 Nil 3,395,100 

4 Kaushalya Nirman (P) Ltd. 49,327,780 58,876,430 58,876,430   67,083,317 

5 Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.      1,476,403 1,476,403      1,475,238 1,475,238

6 Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.   204,441,222 225,922,822   225,922,822 261,727,246

7 Orion Abasaan (P) Ltd. 108,985,241 112,391,707 112,391,707 113,091,707

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)



page

107

Kaushalya Infrastructure Development CorporaƟon Limited Annual Report 2014 - 2015

27.4 : Expenditure in Foreign Currency (Gross before TDS) (on accrual basis)

ParƟculars For the 
year Ended 

31st March, 2015

For the 
year Ended 

31st March, 2014
Traveling and Conveyance Nil Nil
Loss in repayment of Term Loan Nil Nil

27.5 : Details of consumpƟon of imported and indigenous items
ParƟculars For the year ended 

31st March, 2015
For the year ended 
31st March, 2014

Amount  (`) % Amount  (`) %
Indigenous
Raw Material 18,064,580 100 80,547,082 100
Components Nil Nil Nil Nil
Spare Parts 2,086,522 100 1,957,144 100
Imported
Raw Material Nil Nil Nil Nil
Components Nil Nil Nil Nil
Spare Parts Nil Nil Nil Nil

27.6 : Earning in foreign exchange (net of TDS): Nil

27.7 : Amount remiƩed in foreign currency during the year on account of dividend: Nil

27.8 : Current assets

 In the opinion of the Board, the current assets have value on realizaƟon in the ordinary course of business 
at least equal to the amount at which they are stated in the Balance Sheet. However, the following are the 
areas of concern:

a Outstanding Sundry debtors.

 Out of total Sundry Debtors of ` 779,639,664/-, an amount of ` 737,506,104/- is outstanding since long, and 
out of which several debtors are under dispute.

b. Sundry Debit/(Credit) Balance W/Off :

 The major detail of the Sundry Credit Balance WriƩen Off is as follows:

 i. Sundry Creditors `  20,66,122/-

 ii. Security Deposit ` 1,373/-

 iii. Statutory Dues `  376/-

 iv. Cash & cash equivalents `  10,224/-

 v. Liability for Expenses `   1,08,401/-

 vi. Advance to suppliers & contractors ` 65,000/-

(b)   Investment in shares of the Company by such subsidiaries, associates and others                     (Amount in `)

Name of the subsidiary As at 
31 March, 2015

As at 
31 March, 2014

Nil Nil

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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The major detail of the Sundry Debit Balance WriƩen Off is as follows :

i. Advance to suppliers & contractors ` 53,24,213/-

ii. Advance for Expenses `  10,000/-

iii. Security Deposit `  12,91,955/-

iv. Cash & cash equivalents ` 58,425/-

v. Advance for projects ` 35,000/-

c. Short-term Advances:

 The Company had advanced a net amount of ` 34,474,964/- to Flare Realty Engineers Private Limited, for 
meeƟng its working capital requirements. However, the work for execuƟon of part of the work at Sardasahar, 
Rajasthan of Nagar Palika project was awarded to the Company. ThereaŌer, Flare Realty Engineers Private 
Limited asked for security deposit against the said work and requested to transfer the working capital 
advance to Security Deposit. The Company has accepted the condiƟon and agreed to transfer the working 
capital advance to Security Deposit. 

Note 27.9 : Statutory Compliances

The following areas are of concern :

a. Service Tax Payable: Following informaƟon is worth noƟng in this regard-

 i. The company opted for the VCES, 2013 for the service tax payable corresponding to the period 
from April, 2009 to December, 2012. The total liability of the service tax for the said period stood to 
` 1,59,43,004/-, payable in two equal installments on or before 31st Dec, 2013 and 30th June, 2014 
respecƟvely. The company has paid ` 79,72,657/- i.e 50% of declared liability Ɵll date. In, the mean 
Ɵme, the Company has received a show cause cum demand noƟce from Service Tax Commissionerate, 
Kolkata for ` 4,21,84,307/-  for the said period. However, the hearing of the maƩer is sƟll pending.

 ii. Apart from the afore-menƟoned amount due under VCES, 2013, the balance amount of Service Tax 
which is due to be paid is ` 1,04,51,981/-

 iii. An amount of ` 14,01,229/- has been shown as Service Tax accrued but not due for payment. This 
amount comprises of the tax accrued on or before 1st July, 2011, which is to be paid on receipt 
basis,but not paid Ɵll date as no payment has been recovered from the debtors against the same since 
F.Y. 2010-11.

Note 27.10 : DiluƟon of holding:

A) During the current financial year, the shareholding of the company has diluted in one of its subsidiary : 
Kaushalya Township Private Limited in which shareholding reduced from 73.49% to 48.69%. However, 
Kaushalya Township Private Limited conƟnue to be the step-down subsidiary of the company as the company 
holds more than 50% of the shareholding through its other subsidiary.

B) Details of companies which have cease as subsidiary and become associates during the year under review as 
under:

 a) Orion Abasaan Private Limited by reducing shareholding from 72.50% to 48.33% on 28th day of March, 
2015

 b) Kaushalya Nirman Private Limited by reducing shareholding from 68.66% to 46% on 31st ay Day of 
March, 2015

Note 27.11 : Fixed Deposits:

All the fixed deposits have been made against the Bank Guarantee and under lien with the corresponding bank.

Note 27.12 : Interest on credit cards:

The company has paid interest to the tune of ` 1,67,381/- on delayed payment of credit cards of the directors.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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28 : During the year  borrowing cost is not capitalized.

29: Related ParƟes*, Related Party TransacƟons and Balances receivable/payable as at the end of the year

       Related Party Disclosures as required by AS 18 issued by ICAI

I. ParƟes Where Control Exists
 Subsidiaries
 1 Bengal Kaushalya Nirman Ltd.
 2 Bengal KDC Housing Development Ltd.
 3 Kaushalya Energy (P) Ltd.
 Step Down Subsidiaries
 4 Kaushalya Township (P) Ltd.
 5 Azur Solar KDC (P) Ltd.
II. Joint Ventures
 Jointly Controlled EnƟƟes
 1 Kidco Nacc
III. Associates 
 1 Kaushalya Nirman (P) Limited
 2 Orion Abasaan (P) Limited
IV. Key Management Personnel :
 1 Mr. Prashant Mehra, Managing Director
 2 Mr. Ramesh Kumar Mehra, Chairman
 3 Mr. Mahesh Mehra, Whole-Ɵme Director
 4 Mr. Parag Keshar BhaƩacharjee, Independent Director
 5 Mr. Rajesh Kumar Agarwal, Independent Director
 6 Mrs. MinoƟ Nath, Women Independent Director
V. Other Related ParƟes with whom the company had transacƟons during the year
 a) RelaƟves of Key Management Personnel :
  1 Mr. KarƟk Mehra
  2 Mr. Karan Mehra
  3 Mrs. Neeru Mehra
 b) Company in which RelaƟves of Key Management Personnel is Director
  1 PushpadantaVyapar (P) Ltd.
  2 Sunkissed Merchandise (P) Ltd.
  3 Magnum Infracon (P) Ltd.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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VI.  TransacƟons with Related ParƟes                                                                                                          (Amount in `)

Sl.
No.

Type of  TransacƟons 2014-15 2013-14
Other ParƟes  Key Mgt 

 Personnel 
 RelaƟves  
 of KMP 

Other ParƟes  Key Mgt 
 Personnel 

 RelaƟves  
 of KMP 

(a) Valued of Services Received      2,770,500        960,000 2,538,000          960,000 
Directors RemuneraƟon
 - Prashant Mehra      1,590,000 1,380,000 
 - Mahesh Mehra  1,140,000   1,140,000 
Siƫng Fees
 - Ramesh Mehra           40,500           18,000 
Salary
 - KarƟk Mehra        480,000          480,000 
 - Karan Mehra        480,000          480,000 

(b) Rent Paid -        600,000                  -            600,000 
Rent
- Neeru Mehra                 -         -        600,000                 -            600,000 

(c) Money Recd. Agst Warrants - - - - 265,000          455,000 
265,000          455,000 

(RelaƟves)
    41,185,000 

(Others)
(d) Advances Given/Repaid 4,200,000               -                -   15,930,000  

- PushpadantaVyapar (P) Ltd.         200,000                        -   
- Magnum Infracon (P) Ltd.        2,500,000 15,930,000 
- Sunkissed Merchandised (P) Ltd. 1,500,000 -

(e) Advances Taken/Received Back 22,820,000    31,970,000 
- PushpadantaVyapar (P) Ltd. 13,950,000        11,940,000 
- Magnum Infracon (P) Ltd. 7,370,000        20,030,000 
- Sunkissed Merchandised (P) Ltd. 1,500,000 

(f) Balance Receivable as at 
31.03.2015

       12,546,000 31,166,000 

- PushpadantaVyapar (P) Ltd.        12,546,000 26,296,000 
- Magnum Infracon (P) Ltd.                      -   4,870,000 

(g) Balance Payable as at 31.03.2015 - - - -         186,842          119,555 
- Prashant Mehra         168,842 
- Ramesh Mehra           18,000 
- Neeru Mehra            45,000 
- KarƟk Mehra            36,505 
- Karan Mehra            38,050 

*Note : Related parƟes have been idenƟfied by the management.
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Note 30: Earning Per Shares 
Year Ended 31.03.2015 (Amount in `)

Total OperaƟonsDisconƟnuing OperaƟonsConƟnuing OperaƟons

AŌer Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary 
and ExcepƟonal Items

AŌer Extraordinary 
and ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary 
and ExcepƟonal Items

AŌer Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

DilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasic
101010101010101010101010Face Value of 

Shares
(72,873,480)(72,873,480)(72,873,480)(72,873,480)0000(72,873,480)(72,873,480)(72,873,480)(72,873,480)Profit 

aƩributable 
to Eq. 
Shareholders

34,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,63034,630,630Weighted Average 
No. of Shares

(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)----(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)(2.10)EPS (`)

Year Ended 31.03.2014

Total OperaƟonsDisconƟnuing OperaƟonsConƟnuing OperaƟons

AŌer Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

AŌer Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary 
and ExcepƟonal Items

AŌer Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

Before Extraordinary and 
ExcepƟonal Items

DilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasicDilutedBasic
101010101010101010101010Face Value of 

Shares
(139,660,477)(139,660,477)(139,660,477)(139,660,477)0000(139,660,477)(139,660,477)(139,660,477)(139,660,477)Profit 

aƩributable to 
Eq. Shareholders

35,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,63035,806,38834,630,630Weighted 
Average No. of 
Shares

(3.90)(4.03) (3.90)(4.03) ----(3.90)(4.03) (3.90)(4.03) EPS (`)

Note 31: Deferred Tax Assets/(Liability)                                                                                                       (Amount in `)

 31.03.2015  31.03.2014

 Timing Difference  Timing Difference 

On Account of DepreciaƟon     

- Net Block as per I T Act 416,802,176  419,359,529  

- Net Block as per Cos. Act 436,146,843  (19,344,668) 444,209,166 (24,849,637)

On Account of Employee Benefits           841,411           836,411 

   (18,503,257)   (24,008,226)

EffecƟve Rate of Tax  30.90%  30.90%

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liability)     (5,717,507)     (7,418,542)

Less : Deferred Tax Liability b/f     (7,418,542)     (7,686,889)

Deferred Tax Provision  (1,701,035)  (268,347)

Deferred tax assets on unabsorbed depreciaƟon and carry forward of losses has not been recognized since the 
management is of the opinion that there is no virtual certainty that there will be sufficient future taxable income 
available against which such deferred tax assets can be realized.
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Note 32: Interests in Joint Ventures                                                                                                               (Amount in `)
Name of the JV and 

country of origin 
% of 

Share 
holding

Amount of interest based on the accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2015
Assets LiabiliƟes Income Expenditure ConƟngent 

LiabiliƟes
Capital 

Commitments
New Asian ConstrucƟon 
Co., India 90%

10,490,402 11,494,869 - 124,822 Nil Nil

(Prev. Year) (10,595,231) (11,474,877) - (270,681) Nil Nil
Note 33 : Details of Provisions
ParƟculars For the year ended 

31.03.2015
For the year ended 

31.03.2014
Provision for 
Current Tax

Deferred Tax 
Liability

Provision for 
Current Tax

Deferred tax 
Liability

Balance at the beginning of the year 63,634,013 7,418,542 63,634,013 7,686,889
Provision made during the year Nil (1,701,035) Nil (268,347)
Paid/Adjusted during the year Nil Nil Nil Nil
Balance at the end of the year 63,634,013 5,717,507 63,634,013 7,418,542

Note 34 : Other informaƟon:
a. Projects in hand:
 The company is having three major running projects, construcƟon of integrated school and hostel complex  

for WesƟng House Saxby Farmer Ltd., contract value of ` 7.25 Cr., Mega Housing project for EWS, LIG & 
MIG through PPP in Sardarsahar, Rajasthan from Rajasthan Avas Vikas & Infrastructure Ltd. of ` 51.66 Cr 
& ConstrucƟon of Swarigarh SHP from UƩrakhandJalVidyut Nigam (awarded to KIDCO-NACC ConsorƟum) 
contract value ` 14.83 Cr.In these projects, revenue to the tune of ` 7.60Crs. has already been recognized 
upto the year ending 31.03.2015.

b. Work order received from Power Department, Sikkim of ` 4,55,20,000/- in the year 2004-05. The company 
has completed the work to the tune of ` 2,92,43,450/- but it has not been cerƟfied by the said department 
and subsequentlyno payment has been released by them against the aforesaid work done. The reason for 
not receiving the funds as stated by the management is due to non-availability of fund under the APDRP 
scheme (the scheme of the project)in Sikkim.

c. The Company had filed a claim with their client NPCC Ltd. the client in turn raised the claim to their principal 
NTPC and entered into arbitraƟon via P.M.A. The arbitraƟon has awarded a claim of ` 8,55,23,452/- against 
a demand of ` 77,66,336/- and against this award the principal has appealed before the Secretary of the 
P.M.A. As per term the claim received by NPCC shall be passed on to the company aŌer deducƟon of their 
margins as per MOU.

d. It is also observed that the company hasfewdebtors under dispute and in case where any order is received 
against the said claims, the company may prefer further appeal to the higher authority. 

e. The bankers of the Company are considering a second restructuring which is under review by lead banker 
The State Bank of India.The SBI has also reversed part of earlier charged interest of ` 45.42 lacs in account. 
This has also resulted/reflected in lower finance cost in last quarter 31.03.2015.However, Bank shall have 
the right to recompense the reliefs/sacrifices/waivers extended upto this restructuring package.

Note 35 : Previous Year Figures
Previous year's figures have been regrouped / reclassified wherever necessary to correspond with the current 
year's classificaƟon / disclosure.

In terms of our report aƩached.
For Sumanta & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm Regn. No. 322554E
Chartered Accountants
Pradeep Kumar Agarwal  Prashant Mehra Mahesh Mehra
Partner  Managing Director Whole- me Director
Membership No. 056521
Place : Kolkata  Tarak Nath Mishra Tarkeshwar Singh
Date : 30th May, 2015  CFO Company Secretary

Notes forming part of the Consolidated financial statements (Contd.)
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ATTENDANCE SLIP 
I/We hereby record my/our presence at 
the 23rd Annual General Meeting of the 
Company, to be held on Tuesday, 
September 29, 2015 at 11.00 AM at Agora, 
5th Floor Axis Mall, Unit-A (Block-B) Plot 
No. CF9, Major Arterial Rd, Action Area 
1C, Newtown, Kolkata- 700 156. 

Folio No/DP ID & Client ID :  
Share Holding :  
Serial No :  
Name :                                                                                                                                           
Name(s) of Joint Holder(s), if any :  
 
Address :  
 
 
 

 
 

……………………………………………………………………….                      ……………………………………………………  
 Proxy’s Name in Block Letters          Member’s/Proxy’s Signature 
Note: Please bring the Attendance Slip duly signed to the meeting and hand it over at the Entrance of the Meeting Hall. Duplicate slips will not be 
issued at the venue of the AGM. 
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[Pursuant to Section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 19(3) of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014] 
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Tuesday, September 29, 2015 at 11.00 AM at Agora, 5th Floor Axis Mall, Unit-A(Block-B) Plot No. CF9, Major Arterial Rd, Action Area 1C, Newtown, 
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For Against 
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The e-voting facility will be available during the following voting period: 

Commencement of Remote E-voting End of Remote E-voting 

9.00 a.m. (IST) on September 26, 2015 5.00 p.m. (IST) on September 28, 2015 

 
 

Affix 
Revenue 
Stamp of 
1/- here 


	kaushalya cover 2015.pdf
	kidco inside.pdf
	KIDCO standalone 2014.pdf
	KIDCO conso 2015.pdf

	kidco_ Attendance Slip & Proxy Form  2015.pdf


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
    /AgencyFB-Bold
    /AgencyFB-Reg
    /AkrutiGujAkshataNormal
    /AkrutiGujKetakiBold
    /AkrutiGujKetakiNormal
    /AkrutiGujShyamaBold
    /AkrutiGujShyamaNormal
    /AlbertusMedium-Italic
    /Algerian
    /Aparajita
    /Aparajita-Bold
    /Aparajita-BoldItalic
    /Aparajita-Italic
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /ArialRoundedMTBold
    /ArialUnicodeMS
    /Batang
    /BatangChe
    /Bauhaus93
    /BellGothicStd-Black
    /BellGothicStd-Bold
    /BellMT
    /BellMTBold
    /BerlinSansFB-Bold
    /BerlinSansFBDemi-Bold
    /BerlinSansFB-Reg
    /BernardMT-Condensed
    /BickhamScriptPro-Bold
    /BodoniBT-Bold
    /BodoniBT-BoldItalic
    /BodoniMTBlack
    /BodoniMTBlack-Italic
    /BookAntiqua
    /BookAntiqua-Bold
    /BookAntiqua-BoldItalic
    /BookAntiqua-Italic
    /BookmanOldStyle
    /BookmanOldStyle-Bold
    /BookmanOldStyle-BoldItalic
    /BookmanOldStyle-Italic
    /BradleyHandITC
    /BritannicBold
    /Broadway
    /BrushScriptMT
    /Calibri
    /Calibri-Bold
    /Calibri-BoldItalic
    /Calibri-Italic
    /CalisMTBol
    /CalistoMT
    /CalistoMT-BoldItalic
    /CalistoMT-Italic
    /Cambria
    /Cambria-Bold
    /Cambria-BoldItalic
    /Cambria-Italic
    /CambriaMath
    /Candara
    /Candara-Bold
    /Candara-BoldItalic
    /Candara-Italic
    /Castellar
    /Century
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CenturySchoolbook
    /CenturySchoolbook-Bold
    /CenturySchoolbook-BoldItalic
    /CenturySchoolbook-Italic
    /ChaparralPro-Bold
    /ChaparralPro-BoldIt
    /ChaparralPro-Italic
    /ChaparralPro-LightIt
    /ChaparralPro-Regular
    /ClarendonBT-Black
    /ClarendonBT-Light
    /ClarendonBT-Roman
    /Code128
    /ColonnaMT
    /ComicSansMS
    /ComicSansMS-Bold
    /Constantia
    /Constantia-Bold
    /Constantia-BoldItalic
    /Constantia-Italic
    /CooperBlack
    /Corbel
    /Corbel-Bold
    /Corbel-BoldItalic
    /Corbel-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /DaunPenh
    /DINPro-Bold
    /DINPro-Regular
    /DokChampa
    /Dotum
    /DotumChe
    /Ebrima
    /Ebrima-Bold
    /EdwardianScriptITC
    /Elephant-Italic
    /Elephant-Regular
    /EmbassyBT-Regular
    /EngraversGothicBT-Regular
    /EngraversMT
    /ErasITC-Bold
    /ErasITC-Demi
    /ErasITC-Light
    /ErasITC-Medium
    /EstrangeloEdessa
    /EuphemiaCAS
    /Exotic350BT-DemiBold
    /FelixTitlingMT
    /FootlightMTLight
    /FranklinGothic-MediumItalic
    /Free3of9
    /Free3of9Extended
    /Freehand521BT-RegularC
    /FreestyleScript-Regular
    /FuturaBT-Bold
    /FuturaBT-BoldItalic
    /FuturaBT-Book
    /FuturaBT-BookItalic
    /FuturaBT-Heavy
    /FuturaBT-Light
    /FuturaBT-LightItalic
    /FuturaBT-Medium
    /FuturaBT-MediumItalic
    /Gabriola
    /Garamond
    /Garamond-Bold
    /Garamond-Italic
    /Gautami
    /Gautami-Bold
    /Geometric212BT-BookCondensed
    /Geometric212BT-HeavyCondensed
    /Geometric415BT-BlackA
    /Geometric706BT-BlackCondensedB
    /GeometricSlab703BT-Bold
    /GeometricSlab703BT-BoldCond
    /GeometricSlab703BT-BoldItalic
    /GeometricSlab703BT-Medium
    /GeometricSlab703BT-MediumCond
    /GeometricSlab703BT-MediumItalic
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /GiddyupStd
    /Gigi-Regular
    /GillSansMT
    /GillSansMT-Bold
    /GillSansMT-BoldItalic
    /GillSansMT-Condensed
    /GillSansMT-ExtraCondensedBold
    /GillSansMT-Italic
    /GillSans-UltraBold
    /GillSans-UltraBoldCondensed
    /GloucesterMT-ExtraCondensed
    /GoudyOldStyleT-Bold
    /GoudyOldStyleT-Italic
    /GoudyOldStyleT-Regular
    /GoudyStout
    /Gulim
    /GulimChe
    /Gungsuh
    /GungsuhChe
    /Haettenschweiler
    /HarlowSolid
    /Harrington
    /Helvetica
    /HelveticaNeue-BlackCond
    /HelveticaNeue-BlackCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-BlackExt
    /HelveticaNeue-BlackExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldCond
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldExt
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldOutline
    /HelveticaNeue-CondensedObl
    /HelveticaNeue-ExtBlackCond
    /HelveticaNeue-ExtBlackCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-Extended
    /HelveticaNeue-ExtendedObl
    /HelveticaNeue-Heavy
    /HelveticaNeue-HeavyCond
    /HelveticaNeue-HeavyCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-HeavyExt
    /HelveticaNeue-HeavyExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-Italic
    /HelveticaNeue-LightCond
    /HelveticaNeue-LightCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-LightExt
    /HelveticaNeue-LightExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-Medium
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumCond
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumExt
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumItalic
    /HelveticaNeue-Roman
    /HelveticaNeue-ThinCond
    /HelveticaNeue-ThinCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-ThinExt
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLigCond
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLigCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLigExt
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLigExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLight
    /HighTowerText-Italic
    /HighTowerText-Reg
    /HoboStd
    /Humanist521BT-Bold
    /Humanist521BT-BoldItalic
    /Humanist521BT-Italic
    /Humanist521BT-Light
    /Humanist521BT-LightItalic
    /Humanist521BT-Roman
    /Humanist777BT-BlackB
    /Humanist777BT-BoldB
    /Humanist777BT-LightB
    /Humanist777BT-RomanB
    /Impact
    /ImprintMT-Shadow
    /IskoolaPota
    /IskoolaPota-Bold
    /ITFRupee
    /Jokerman-Regular
    /JuiceITC-Regular
    /Kalinga
    /Kalinga-Bold
    /Kartika
    /Kartika-Bold
    /KaufmannBT-Regular
    /KhmerUI
    /KhmerUI-Bold
    /Kokila
    /Kokila-Bold
    /Kokila-BoldItalic
    /Kokila-Italic
    /KozMinPro-Regular
    /KristenITC-Regular
    /KunstlerScript
    /LaoUI
    /LaoUI-Bold
    /Latha
    /Latha-Bold
    /LatinWide
    /LetterGothicStd
    /LetterGothicStd-Bold
    /LetterGothicStd-BoldSlanted
    /LetterGothicStd-Slanted
    /LithosPro-Black
    /LithosPro-Regular
    /LucidaBright
    /LucidaBright-Demi
    /LucidaBright-DemiItalic
    /LucidaBright-Italic
    /LucidaCalligraphy-Italic
    /LucidaConsole
    /LucidaFax
    /LucidaFax-Demi
    /LucidaFax-DemiItalic
    /LucidaFax-Italic
    /LucidaHandwriting-Italic
    /LucidaSans
    /LucidaSans-Demi
    /LucidaSans-DemiItalic
    /LucidaSans-Italic
    /LucidaSans-Typewriter
    /LucidaSans-TypewriterBold
    /LucidaSans-TypewriterBoldOblique
    /LucidaSans-TypewriterOblique
    /LucidaSansUnicode
    /Magneto-Bold
    /MaiandraGD-Regular
    /MalgunGothic
    /MalgunGothicBold
    /MalgunGothicRegular
    /Mangal
    /Mangal-Bold
    /Marlett
    /Meiryo
    /Meiryo-Bold
    /Meiryo-BoldItalic
    /Meiryo-Italic
    /MeiryoUI
    /MeiryoUI-Bold
    /MeiryoUI-BoldItalic
    /MeiryoUI-Italic
    /MesquiteStd
    /MicrosoftHimalaya
    /MicrosoftJhengHeiBold
    /MicrosoftJhengHeiRegular
    /MicrosoftNewTaiLue
    /MicrosoftNewTaiLue-Bold
    /MicrosoftPhagsPa
    /MicrosoftPhagsPa-Bold
    /MicrosoftSansSerif
    /MicrosoftTaiLe
    /MicrosoftTaiLe-Bold
    /MicrosoftYaHei
    /MicrosoftYaHei-Bold
    /Microsoft-Yi-Baiti
    /MingLiU
    /MingLiU-ExtB
    /Ming-Lt-HKSCS-ExtB
    /Ming-Lt-HKSCS-UNI-H
    /MinionPro-Bold
    /MinionPro-BoldCn
    /MinionPro-BoldCnIt
    /MinionPro-BoldIt
    /MinionPro-It
    /MinionPro-Medium
    /MinionPro-MediumIt
    /MinionPro-Regular
    /MinionPro-Semibold
    /MinionPro-SemiboldIt
    /Mistral
    /Modern-Regular
    /MongolianBaiti
    /MonotypeCorsiva
    /MS-Gothic
    /MS-Mincho
    /MS-PGothic
    /MS-PMincho
    /MSReferenceSansSerif
    /MSReferenceSpecialty
    /MS-UIGothic
    /MVBoli
    /MyriadArabic-Bold
    /MyriadArabic-BoldIt
    /MyriadArabic-It
    /MyriadHebrew-Bold
    /MyriadHebrew-BoldIt
    /MyriadHebrew-It
    /MyriadPro-Bold
    /MyriadPro-BoldCond
    /MyriadPro-BoldCondIt
    /MyriadPro-BoldIt
    /MyriadPro-Cond
    /MyriadPro-CondIt
    /MyriadPro-It
    /MyriadPro-Regular
    /MyriadPro-Semibold
    /MyriadPro-SemiboldIt
    /New
    /News701BT-BoldA
    /News701BT-ItalicA
    /News706BT-BoldC
    /NewsGothicBT-Bold
    /NewsGothicBT-BoldItalic
    /NewsGothicBT-Italic
    /NewsGothicBT-Light
    /NewsGothicBT-Roman
    /NewsGothicBT-RomanCondensed
    /NiagaraEngraved-Reg
    /NiagaraSolid-Reg
    /NSimSun
    /NuevaStd-Bold
    /NuevaStd-BoldCond
    /NuevaStd-BoldCondItalic
    /NuevaStd-Cond
    /NuevaStd-CondItalic
    /NuevaStd-Italic
    /Nyala-Regular
    /OCRAbyBT-Regular
    /OCRAExtended
    /OCRAStd
    /OCRB10PitchBT-Regular
    /OldEnglishTextMT
    /Onyx
    /PalatinoLinotype-Bold
    /PalatinoLinotype-BoldItalic
    /PalatinoLinotype-Italic
    /PalatinoLinotype-Roman
    /Papyrus-Regular
    /Perpetua
    /Perpetua-Bold
    /Perpetua-BoldItalic
    /Perpetua-Italic
    /PerpetuaTitlingMT-Bold
    /PerpetuaTitlingMT-Light
    /PlantagenetCherokee
    /Playbill
    /PMingLiU
    /PMingLiU-ExtB
    /PoorRichard-Regular
    /Pristina-Regular
    /Raavi
    /RageItalic
    /Ravie
    /Rockwell
    /Rockwell-Bold
    /Rockwell-BoldItalic
    /Rockwell-Condensed
    /Rockwell-CondensedBold
    /Rockwell-ExtraBold
    /Rockwell-Italic
    /SchadowBT-Bold
    /SchadowBT-Roman
    /ScriptMTBold
    /SegoePrint
    /SegoeScript
    /SegoeScript-Bold
    /SegoeUI
    /SegoeUI-Bold
    /SegoeUI-BoldItalic
    /SegoeUI-Italic
    /SegoeUI-Light
    /SegoeUI-SemiBold
    /SegoeUISymbol
    /ShonarBangla
    /ShonarBangla-Bold
    /ShowcardGothic-Reg
    /Shruti
    /Shruti-Bold
    /SimSun
    /SimSun-ExtB
    /SnapITC-Regular
    /Square721BT-BoldCondensed
    /Square721BT-RomanCondensed
    /StencilStd
    /Swiss721BT-Black
    /Swiss721BT-BlackCondensed
    /Swiss721BT-Bold
    /Swiss721BT-BoldCondensed
    /Swiss721BT-BoldCondensedItalic
    /Swiss721BT-BoldItalic
    /Swiss721BT-Heavy
    /Swiss721BT-Italic
    /Swiss721BT-ItalicCondensed
    /Swiss721BT-Light
    /Swiss721BT-LightExtended
    /Swiss721BT-LightItalic
    /Swiss721BT-Roman
    /Swiss721BT-RomanCondensed
    /Sylfaen
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TempusSansITC
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /TrajanPro-Bold
    /TrajanPro-Regular
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Tunga
    /Tunga-Bold
    /TypoUprightBT-Regular
    /UmbrellaPSMT
    /UniversCondensed
    /Univers-Condensed-Bold
    /UniversCondensed-Italic
    /UniversityRomanBT-Regular
    /Utsaah
    /Utsaah-Bold
    /Utsaah-BoldItalic
    /Utsaah-Italic
    /VAGRoundedBT-Regular
    /ValhallaNormal
    /Vani
    /Vani-Bold
    /VanishInTheHeat
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
    /Vibrocentric-Bold
    /Vijaya
    /Vijaya-Bold
    /VinerHandITC
    /VivaldiD
    /Vrinda
    /Vrinda-Bold
    /vtksanimal2
    /WaltographUI-Bold
    /Webdings
    /Wingdings2
    /Wingdings3
    /Wingdings-Regular
    /Yesteryear-Regular
    /YouMurdererBB
    /ZapfChanceryITCbyBT-Bold
    /ZapfChancery-MediumItalic
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
    /AgencyFB-Bold
    /AgencyFB-Reg
    /AkrutiGujAkshataNormal
    /AkrutiGujKetakiBold
    /AkrutiGujKetakiNormal
    /AkrutiGujShyamaBold
    /AkrutiGujShyamaNormal
    /AlbertusMedium-Italic
    /Algerian
    /Aparajita
    /Aparajita-Bold
    /Aparajita-BoldItalic
    /Aparajita-Italic
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /ArialRoundedMTBold
    /ArialUnicodeMS
    /Batang
    /BatangChe
    /Bauhaus93
    /BellGothicStd-Black
    /BellGothicStd-Bold
    /BellMT
    /BellMTBold
    /BerlinSansFB-Bold
    /BerlinSansFBDemi-Bold
    /BerlinSansFB-Reg
    /BernardMT-Condensed
    /BickhamScriptPro-Bold
    /BodoniBT-Bold
    /BodoniBT-BoldItalic
    /BodoniMTBlack
    /BodoniMTBlack-Italic
    /BookAntiqua
    /BookAntiqua-Bold
    /BookAntiqua-BoldItalic
    /BookAntiqua-Italic
    /BookmanOldStyle
    /BookmanOldStyle-Bold
    /BookmanOldStyle-BoldItalic
    /BookmanOldStyle-Italic
    /BradleyHandITC
    /BritannicBold
    /Broadway
    /BrushScriptMT
    /Calibri
    /Calibri-Bold
    /Calibri-BoldItalic
    /Calibri-Italic
    /CalisMTBol
    /CalistoMT
    /CalistoMT-BoldItalic
    /CalistoMT-Italic
    /Cambria
    /Cambria-Bold
    /Cambria-BoldItalic
    /Cambria-Italic
    /CambriaMath
    /Candara
    /Candara-Bold
    /Candara-BoldItalic
    /Candara-Italic
    /Castellar
    /Century
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CenturySchoolbook
    /CenturySchoolbook-Bold
    /CenturySchoolbook-BoldItalic
    /CenturySchoolbook-Italic
    /ChaparralPro-Bold
    /ChaparralPro-BoldIt
    /ChaparralPro-Italic
    /ChaparralPro-LightIt
    /ChaparralPro-Regular
    /ClarendonBT-Black
    /ClarendonBT-Light
    /ClarendonBT-Roman
    /Code128
    /ColonnaMT
    /ComicSansMS
    /ComicSansMS-Bold
    /Constantia
    /Constantia-Bold
    /Constantia-BoldItalic
    /Constantia-Italic
    /CooperBlack
    /Corbel
    /Corbel-Bold
    /Corbel-BoldItalic
    /Corbel-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /DaunPenh
    /DINPro-Bold
    /DINPro-Regular
    /DokChampa
    /Dotum
    /DotumChe
    /Ebrima
    /Ebrima-Bold
    /EdwardianScriptITC
    /Elephant-Italic
    /Elephant-Regular
    /EmbassyBT-Regular
    /EngraversGothicBT-Regular
    /EngraversMT
    /ErasITC-Bold
    /ErasITC-Demi
    /ErasITC-Light
    /ErasITC-Medium
    /EstrangeloEdessa
    /EuphemiaCAS
    /Exotic350BT-DemiBold
    /FelixTitlingMT
    /FootlightMTLight
    /FranklinGothic-MediumItalic
    /Free3of9
    /Free3of9Extended
    /Freehand521BT-RegularC
    /FreestyleScript-Regular
    /FuturaBT-Bold
    /FuturaBT-BoldItalic
    /FuturaBT-Book
    /FuturaBT-BookItalic
    /FuturaBT-Heavy
    /FuturaBT-Light
    /FuturaBT-LightItalic
    /FuturaBT-Medium
    /FuturaBT-MediumItalic
    /Gabriola
    /Garamond
    /Garamond-Bold
    /Garamond-Italic
    /Gautami
    /Gautami-Bold
    /Geometric212BT-BookCondensed
    /Geometric212BT-HeavyCondensed
    /Geometric415BT-BlackA
    /Geometric706BT-BlackCondensedB
    /GeometricSlab703BT-Bold
    /GeometricSlab703BT-BoldCond
    /GeometricSlab703BT-BoldItalic
    /GeometricSlab703BT-Medium
    /GeometricSlab703BT-MediumCond
    /GeometricSlab703BT-MediumItalic
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /GiddyupStd
    /Gigi-Regular
    /GillSansMT
    /GillSansMT-Bold
    /GillSansMT-BoldItalic
    /GillSansMT-Condensed
    /GillSansMT-ExtraCondensedBold
    /GillSansMT-Italic
    /GillSans-UltraBold
    /GillSans-UltraBoldCondensed
    /GloucesterMT-ExtraCondensed
    /GoudyOldStyleT-Bold
    /GoudyOldStyleT-Italic
    /GoudyOldStyleT-Regular
    /GoudyStout
    /Gulim
    /GulimChe
    /Gungsuh
    /GungsuhChe
    /Haettenschweiler
    /HarlowSolid
    /Harrington
    /Helvetica
    /HelveticaNeue-BlackCond
    /HelveticaNeue-BlackCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-BlackExt
    /HelveticaNeue-BlackExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldCond
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldExt
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-BoldOutline
    /HelveticaNeue-CondensedObl
    /HelveticaNeue-ExtBlackCond
    /HelveticaNeue-ExtBlackCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-Extended
    /HelveticaNeue-ExtendedObl
    /HelveticaNeue-Heavy
    /HelveticaNeue-HeavyCond
    /HelveticaNeue-HeavyCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-HeavyExt
    /HelveticaNeue-HeavyExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-Italic
    /HelveticaNeue-LightCond
    /HelveticaNeue-LightCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-LightExt
    /HelveticaNeue-LightExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-Medium
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumCond
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumExt
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-MediumItalic
    /HelveticaNeue-Roman
    /HelveticaNeue-ThinCond
    /HelveticaNeue-ThinCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-ThinExt
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLigCond
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLigCondObl
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLigExt
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLigExtObl
    /HelveticaNeue-UltraLight
    /HighTowerText-Italic
    /HighTowerText-Reg
    /HoboStd
    /Humanist521BT-Bold
    /Humanist521BT-BoldItalic
    /Humanist521BT-Italic
    /Humanist521BT-Light
    /Humanist521BT-LightItalic
    /Humanist521BT-Roman
    /Humanist777BT-BlackB
    /Humanist777BT-BoldB
    /Humanist777BT-LightB
    /Humanist777BT-RomanB
    /Impact
    /ImprintMT-Shadow
    /IskoolaPota
    /IskoolaPota-Bold
    /ITFRupee
    /Jokerman-Regular
    /JuiceITC-Regular
    /Kalinga
    /Kalinga-Bold
    /Kartika
    /Kartika-Bold
    /KaufmannBT-Regular
    /KhmerUI
    /KhmerUI-Bold
    /Kokila
    /Kokila-Bold
    /Kokila-BoldItalic
    /Kokila-Italic
    /KozMinPro-Regular
    /KristenITC-Regular
    /KunstlerScript
    /LaoUI
    /LaoUI-Bold
    /Latha
    /Latha-Bold
    /LatinWide
    /LetterGothicStd
    /LetterGothicStd-Bold
    /LetterGothicStd-BoldSlanted
    /LetterGothicStd-Slanted
    /LithosPro-Black
    /LithosPro-Regular
    /LucidaBright
    /LucidaBright-Demi
    /LucidaBright-DemiItalic
    /LucidaBright-Italic
    /LucidaCalligraphy-Italic
    /LucidaConsole
    /LucidaFax
    /LucidaFax-Demi
    /LucidaFax-DemiItalic
    /LucidaFax-Italic
    /LucidaHandwriting-Italic
    /LucidaSans
    /LucidaSans-Demi
    /LucidaSans-DemiItalic
    /LucidaSans-Italic
    /LucidaSans-Typewriter
    /LucidaSans-TypewriterBold
    /LucidaSans-TypewriterBoldOblique
    /LucidaSans-TypewriterOblique
    /LucidaSansUnicode
    /Magneto-Bold
    /MaiandraGD-Regular
    /MalgunGothic
    /MalgunGothicBold
    /MalgunGothicRegular
    /Mangal
    /Mangal-Bold
    /Marlett
    /Meiryo
    /Meiryo-Bold
    /Meiryo-BoldItalic
    /Meiryo-Italic
    /MeiryoUI
    /MeiryoUI-Bold
    /MeiryoUI-BoldItalic
    /MeiryoUI-Italic
    /MesquiteStd
    /MicrosoftHimalaya
    /MicrosoftJhengHeiBold
    /MicrosoftJhengHeiRegular
    /MicrosoftNewTaiLue
    /MicrosoftNewTaiLue-Bold
    /MicrosoftPhagsPa
    /MicrosoftPhagsPa-Bold
    /MicrosoftSansSerif
    /MicrosoftTaiLe
    /MicrosoftTaiLe-Bold
    /MicrosoftYaHei
    /MicrosoftYaHei-Bold
    /Microsoft-Yi-Baiti
    /MingLiU
    /MingLiU-ExtB
    /Ming-Lt-HKSCS-ExtB
    /Ming-Lt-HKSCS-UNI-H
    /MinionPro-Bold
    /MinionPro-BoldCn
    /MinionPro-BoldCnIt
    /MinionPro-BoldIt
    /MinionPro-It
    /MinionPro-Medium
    /MinionPro-MediumIt
    /MinionPro-Regular
    /MinionPro-Semibold
    /MinionPro-SemiboldIt
    /Mistral
    /Modern-Regular
    /MongolianBaiti
    /MonotypeCorsiva
    /MS-Gothic
    /MS-Mincho
    /MS-PGothic
    /MS-PMincho
    /MSReferenceSansSerif
    /MSReferenceSpecialty
    /MS-UIGothic
    /MVBoli
    /MyriadArabic-Bold
    /MyriadArabic-BoldIt
    /MyriadArabic-It
    /MyriadHebrew-Bold
    /MyriadHebrew-BoldIt
    /MyriadHebrew-It
    /MyriadPro-Bold
    /MyriadPro-BoldCond
    /MyriadPro-BoldCondIt
    /MyriadPro-BoldIt
    /MyriadPro-Cond
    /MyriadPro-CondIt
    /MyriadPro-It
    /MyriadPro-Regular
    /MyriadPro-Semibold
    /MyriadPro-SemiboldIt
    /New
    /News701BT-BoldA
    /News701BT-ItalicA
    /News706BT-BoldC
    /NewsGothicBT-Bold
    /NewsGothicBT-BoldItalic
    /NewsGothicBT-Italic
    /NewsGothicBT-Light
    /NewsGothicBT-Roman
    /NewsGothicBT-RomanCondensed
    /NiagaraEngraved-Reg
    /NiagaraSolid-Reg
    /NSimSun
    /NuevaStd-Bold
    /NuevaStd-BoldCond
    /NuevaStd-BoldCondItalic
    /NuevaStd-Cond
    /NuevaStd-CondItalic
    /NuevaStd-Italic
    /Nyala-Regular
    /OCRAbyBT-Regular
    /OCRAExtended
    /OCRAStd
    /OCRB10PitchBT-Regular
    /OldEnglishTextMT
    /Onyx
    /PalatinoLinotype-Bold
    /PalatinoLinotype-BoldItalic
    /PalatinoLinotype-Italic
    /PalatinoLinotype-Roman
    /Papyrus-Regular
    /Perpetua
    /Perpetua-Bold
    /Perpetua-BoldItalic
    /Perpetua-Italic
    /PerpetuaTitlingMT-Bold
    /PerpetuaTitlingMT-Light
    /PlantagenetCherokee
    /Playbill
    /PMingLiU
    /PMingLiU-ExtB
    /PoorRichard-Regular
    /Pristina-Regular
    /Raavi
    /RageItalic
    /Ravie
    /Rockwell
    /Rockwell-Bold
    /Rockwell-BoldItalic
    /Rockwell-Condensed
    /Rockwell-CondensedBold
    /Rockwell-ExtraBold
    /Rockwell-Italic
    /SchadowBT-Bold
    /SchadowBT-Roman
    /ScriptMTBold
    /SegoePrint
    /SegoeScript
    /SegoeScript-Bold
    /SegoeUI
    /SegoeUI-Bold
    /SegoeUI-BoldItalic
    /SegoeUI-Italic
    /SegoeUI-Light
    /SegoeUI-SemiBold
    /SegoeUISymbol
    /ShonarBangla
    /ShonarBangla-Bold
    /ShowcardGothic-Reg
    /Shruti
    /Shruti-Bold
    /SimSun
    /SimSun-ExtB
    /SnapITC-Regular
    /Square721BT-BoldCondensed
    /Square721BT-RomanCondensed
    /StencilStd
    /Swiss721BT-Black
    /Swiss721BT-BlackCondensed
    /Swiss721BT-Bold
    /Swiss721BT-BoldCondensed
    /Swiss721BT-BoldCondensedItalic
    /Swiss721BT-BoldItalic
    /Swiss721BT-Heavy
    /Swiss721BT-Italic
    /Swiss721BT-ItalicCondensed
    /Swiss721BT-Light
    /Swiss721BT-LightExtended
    /Swiss721BT-LightItalic
    /Swiss721BT-Roman
    /Swiss721BT-RomanCondensed
    /Sylfaen
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TempusSansITC
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /TrajanPro-Bold
    /TrajanPro-Regular
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Tunga
    /Tunga-Bold
    /TypoUprightBT-Regular
    /UmbrellaPSMT
    /UniversCondensed
    /Univers-Condensed-Bold
    /UniversCondensed-Italic
    /UniversityRomanBT-Regular
    /Utsaah
    /Utsaah-Bold
    /Utsaah-BoldItalic
    /Utsaah-Italic
    /VAGRoundedBT-Regular
    /ValhallaNormal
    /Vani
    /Vani-Bold
    /VanishInTheHeat
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
    /Vibrocentric-Bold
    /Vijaya
    /Vijaya-Bold
    /VinerHandITC
    /VivaldiD
    /Vrinda
    /Vrinda-Bold
    /vtksanimal2
    /WaltographUI-Bold
    /Webdings
    /Wingdings2
    /Wingdings3
    /Wingdings-Regular
    /Yesteryear-Regular
    /YouMurdererBB
    /ZapfChanceryITCbyBT-Bold
    /ZapfChancery-MediumItalic
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


